SARJA - SER. D OSA - TOM. 1107 MEDICA - ODONTOLOGICA

# YOUNG REGISTERED NURSES' INTENT TO LEAVE THE PROFESSION IN FINLAND – A MIXED-METHOD STUDY

by

Mervi Flinkman

TURUN YLIOPISTO UNIVERSITY OF TURKU Turku 2014 From the Department of Nursing Science, Faculty of Medicine, Doctoral Programme in Nursing Science, University of Turku, Turku, Finland

#### Supervised by,

Professor Sanna Salanterä, RN, PhD, FEANS Department of Nursing Science, University of Turku and Turku University Hospital Finland

Professor Helena Leino-Kilpi, RN, PhD, FEANS Department of Nursing Science, University of Turku and Turku University Hospital Finland

#### Reviewed by,

Docent Irma Kiikkala, RN, PhD Department of Nursing Science, University of Easter Finland, Finland

Docent Merja Miettinen, RN, PhD University of Tampere Kuopio University Hospital Kuopio, Finland

#### Opponent,

Professor Walter Sermeus, RN, PhD, FEANS Centre for Health Services and Nursing Research, Department of Public Health and Primary Care, Katholieke Universiteit, Leuven, Belgium

The originality of this dissertation has been checked in accordance with the University of Turku quality assurance system using the Turnitin OriginalityCheck service.

ISBN 978-951-29-5693-7 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-5694-4 (PDF) ISSN 0355-9483 Painosalama Oy – Turku, Finland 2014

'It takes a remarkable person to be a nurse. This is a profession where joy and sadness come in equal measure. This is where inspiration is met by frustration and where courage must outweigh fear. This is challenging. This is rewarding. This is nursing.' (Royal College of Nurses, 2012)

#### Mervi Flinkman

## YOUNG REGISTERED NURSES' INTENT TO LEAVE THE PROFESSION IN FINLAND - A MIXED-METHOD STUDY

Department of Nursing Science, Faculty of Medicine, University of Turku, Finland Annales Universitatis Turkuensis, Painosalama Oy, Turku 2014

## ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study was to examine and expand understanding concerning young Finnish registered nurses (RN) with an intention to leave the profession and the related variables, specifically when that intention has emerged before the age of 30. The overall goal of the study was to develop a conceptual model in relation to young RNs' intention to leave the profession. Suggestions for policymakers, nurse leaders and nurse managers are presented for how to retain more young RNs in the nursing workforce. Suggestions for future nursing research are also provided.

Phase I consists of two sequential integrative literature reviews of 75 empirical articles concerning nurses' intention to leave the profession. In phase II, data had been collected as part of the Nurses' Early Exit (NEXT) study, using the BQ-12 structured postal questionnaire. A total of 147 young RNs participated in the study. The data were analysed with statistical methods. In phase III, firstly, an in-depth interpretive case study was conducted in order to understand how young RNs explain and make sense of their intention to leave the profession. The data in this study consisted of longitudinal career stories by three young RNs. The data was analysed by using narrative holistic-content and thematic methods. Secondly, a total of 15 young RNs were interviewed in order to explore in-depth their experiences concerning organizational turnover and their intent to leave the profession. The data was analysed.

Based on earlier research, empirical research on the young RNs intention to leave the profession is scarce. Nurses' intention to leave the profession has mainly been studied with quantitative descriptive studies, conducted with survey questionnaires. Furthermore, the quality of previous studies varies considerably. Moreover, nurses' intention to leave the profession seems to be driven by a number of variables. According to the survey study, 26% of young RNs had often considered giving up nursing completely and starting a different kind of job during the course of the previous year. Many different variables were associated with an intention to leave the profession (e.g. personal burnout, job dissatisfaction). According to the in-depth inquiries, poor nursing practice environments and a nursing career as a 'second-best' or serendipitous career choice were themes associated with young RNs' intention to leave the profession.

In summary, young RNs intention to leave the profession is a complex phenomenon with multiple associated variables. These findings suggest that policymakers, nurse leaders and nurse managers should enable improvements in nursing practice environments in order to retain more young RNs. These improvements can include, for example, adequate staffing levels, balanced nursing workloads, measures to reduce work-related stress as well as possibilities for advancement and development. Young RNs' requirements to provide high-quality and ethical nursing care must be recognized in society and health-care organizations. Moreover, sufficient mentoring and orientation programmes should be provided for all graduate RNs. Future research is needed into whether the motive for choosing a nursing career affects the length of the tenure in the profession. Both quantitative and in-depth research is needed for the comprehensive development of nursing-turnover research.

**Keywords:** health manpower; health occupations; intention to leave; Finland; mixed methods design; profession; nurses; registered nurse; personnel turnover

#### Mervi Flinkman

#### NUORTEN SAIRAANHOITAJIEN AIKOMUS LÄHTEÄ AMMATISTAAN SUOMESSA – MONIMENETELMÄLLINEN TUTKIMUS

Hoitotieteen laitos, lääketieteellinen tiedekunta, Turun yliopisto, Suomi Annales Universitatis Turkuensis, Painosalama Oy, Turku 2014

## TIIVISTELMÄ

Tutkimuksen tarkoituksena oli selvittää nuorten sairaanhoitajien aikomusta lähteä ammatistaan ja siihen yhteydessä olevia tekijöitä erityisesti silloin, kun lähtöaikomukset olivat alkaneet ennen 30 vuoden ikää. Tutkimuksessa kehitettiin käsitteellinen malli kuvaamaan nuorten sairaanhoitajien ammatista lähtöaikomuksia ja siihen yhteydessä olevia tekijöitä. Lisäksi tulosten perusteella annettiin suosituksia poliitikoille, hoitotyön johtajille ja esimiehille, jotta useampi nuori sairaanhoitaja voitaisiin saada jäämään ammattiinsa. Suosituksia annettiin myös jatkotutkimukselle.

Ensimmäisessä vaiheessa toteutettiin kaksi integroitua kirjallisuuskatsausta. Katsaukset sisälsivät yhteensä 75 empiiristä artikkelia ja ne käsittelivät hoitajien ammatista lähtöaikomuksia. Tutkimuksen toisessa vaiheessa analysoitiin kyselytutkimuksen aineistoa, joka oli kerätty eurooppalaisessa Nurses Early Exit (NEXT) tutkimuksessa. Yhteensä 147 suomalaisen nuoren sairaanhoitajan aineisto oli kerätty BQ 12 lomakkeella. Tämä aineisto analysoitiin tilastollisin menetelmin. Kolmannessa vaiheessa toteutettiin kaksi haastattelututkimusta. Ensin toteutettiin laadullinen tapaustutkimus, jotta voitiin lisätä ymmärrystä kokemuksista ja merkityksistä ammatista lähtöaikomuksiin liittyen. Tämän tutkimuksen aiheisto koostui kolmen sairaanhoitajan uratarinoista. Aineisto analysoitiin narratiivisella holistisella sisällönanalyysillä sekä teemallisella menetelmällä. Toisessa laadullisista tutkimuksista haastatteluin 15 sairaanhoitajaa organisaatiosta lähtemiseen ja ammatista lähtöaikomuksiin liittyen. Tämän teemahaastattelun aineisto analysoitiin sisällönanalyysillä.

Aikaisempi tutkimus on osoittanut että empiirinen tutkimus koskien nuorten sairaanhoitajien ammatista lähtöaikomuksia on erittäin vähäistä. Hoitajien ammatista lähtöaikomuksia on tutkittu pääsääntöisesti määrällisin menetelmin ja kyselytutkimuksin. Lisäksi tutkimusten laatu vaihtelee. Aikaisempien tutkimusten mukaan monet eri tekijät ovat yhteydessä ammatista lähtöaikomuksiin. Kyselytutkimuksen mukaan noin joka neljäs (26%) sairaanhoitajista oli ajatellut ammatistaan lähtemistä vähintään muutaman kerran kuukaudessa kyselyä edeltäneen vuoden aikana. Tässä tutkimuksessa esimerkiksi uupumus ja työtyytymättömyys olivat yhteydessä ammatista lähtöaikomuksiin. Haastatteluissa nuoret kuvasivat huonon hoitotyön toimintaympäristön ja ammatinvalinnan toissijaisena tai sattumanvaraisena valintana olevan yhteydessä ammatista lähtöaikomuksiin.

Yhteenvetona voidaan todeta ammatista lähtöaikomusten olevan monimutkainen ilmiö, johon on yhteydessä monia eri tekijöitä. Poliittisten päätöksentekijöiden, hoitotyön johtajien ja esimiesten tulisi kehittää hoitotyön toimintaympäristöä. Riittävä henkilöstömitoitus, tasapainoinen työkuormitus, työstressin vähentäminen sekä mahdollisuudet kehittyä ja edetä uralla ovat hyvän hoitotyön toimintaympäristön ominaispiirteitä ja ne voivat edesauttaa nuorten sairaanhoitajien pysymistä ammatissaan. Nuorten sairaanhoitajien halu toteuttaa korkealaatuista ja eettisesti kestävää hoitotyötä on huomioitava niin yhteiskunnassa kuin terveydenhuollon organisaatioissa. Lisäksi kaikille vastavalmistuneille tulisi tarjota riittävästi perehdytystä ja mentorointia. Jatkotutkimusta tarvitaan, jotta voidaan selvittää, onko ammatinvalinnan motiiveilla vaikutusta ammatissa pysymiseen. Sekä määrällistä että laadullista tutkimusta tarvitaan, jotta sairaanhoitajien lähtöaikomusten tutkimus kehittyy monipuolisesti jatkossa.

Avainsanat: aikomus lähteä ammatista; ammatti; hoitajat; monimenetelmällinen tutkimus; sairaanhoitaja; terveydenhuollon ammatit; terveydenhuollon työvoima; vaihtuvuus

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

		RACT	
		STELMÄ	
T/	ABL	E OF CONTENTS	6
L	ST (	OF TABLES	8
L	ST (	OF FIGURES	10
LI	ST (	OF APPENDICES	10
		OF ABBREVIATIONS	
		OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	
1.	INT	<b>FRODUCTION</b>	13
2.	DE	FINITION OF THE CONCEPTS USED IN THE STUDY	17
	2.1	Young registered nurse	17
	2.2	Intent to leave the profession	20
	2.3	Nurse turnover	22
3.	ТН	EORETICAL FRAMEWORK	26
	3.1	The nursing workforce internationally and the global shortage of RNs	26
		Nursing workforce in Finland and the shortage of RNs	
	3.3	The significance of RNs' intention to leave the profession	32
		Theoretical underpinnings of employee turnover research	
		Theoretical underpinnings of nurse turnover research	
		Nurse workforce viewed from a generational perspective	
		Literature concerning graduate registered nurses	
	3.8	Intention to leave the profession within professions other than RNs	42
4.		FERATURE REVIEW CONCERNING NURSES' INTENTION	
		LEAVE THE PROFESSION	
		Literature search	
		Description of the included research	46
	4.3	Proportion of young RNs and graduate RNs with an intention to leave the	
		profession.	
		Proportion of RNs (all ages) intending to leave the profession	
	4.5	Variables associated with young RNs and graduate RNs intention to leave the profession	
	4.6	Variables associated with registered nurses' (of all ages) intention to leave	
		the profession	51
	4.7	Summary of the theoretical basis of the study	
		4.7.1 What is already known?	
		4.7.2 What are the gaps in the existing knowledge?	56

Table	of	Contents

5.	THE PURPOSE OF THE STUDY	57
6.	RESEARCH METHODOLOGIES AND DATA COLLECTION	58
	6.1 Methodological approaches	58
	6.2 Phases of the study	
	6.3 Study designs, data collection and samples of the part-studies	60
	6.4 Data analysis	
	6.5 Ethical considerations	67
7.	RESULTS	69
	<ul><li>7.1 What proportion of young RNs have an intention to leave the profession?</li><li>7.2 What are the variables associated with a young RNs' intention to leave</li></ul>	69
	the profession?	70
	7.3 What are the experiences and perceptions of young RNs with an intention	
	to leave the profession in the early years of their career?	
	7.4 Summary of the results	
	7.5 Conceptual model of young RNs' intention to leave the profession	78
8.	DISCUSSION	80
	8.1 Strengths and limitations of the study	80
	8.2 Validity and reliability of the study	81
	8.3 Discussion of the main results	86
	8.3.1 Young RNs' intent to leave the profession as a long-lasting and	0(
	complex process	
	<ul><li>8.3.2 Retention of young RNs in the nursing workforce</li><li>8.4 Suggestions for health-care policy-makers and nurse leaders</li></ul>	
	8.5 Suggestions for nurse managers	
	8.6 Suggestions for further research	
9.	CONCLUTIONS	94
	CONCLUTIONS CKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
A		96

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Terms related to intention to leave the profession	.20
Table 2.	Varying conceptual definitions of turnover.	.23
Table 3	The main concepts of the study and the definitions used	.25
Table 4.	Estimated shortage of nursing workforce in different countries.	.27
Table 5.	Research programmes in relation to the health-care workforce 2002–2016.	.28
Table 6	Rates of RNs working in another field or out of the nursing workforce	.29
Table 7.	Descriptions of the X and Y Generations' characteristics and values based on the literature.	. 40
Table 8.	Intention to leave the profession within professions other than RNs	.43
Table 9	Filters/limiters used when conducting updated database searches (October 2013)	.46
Table 10.	Young and graduate RNs intention to leave the profession (updated integrative review).	.48
Table 11.	Percentage of nurses with the intention to leave the nursing profession in included studies (2008–2013).	.49
Table 12	Variables associated with young RNs and graduate RNs intention to leave the profession	.51
Table 13.	Individual-related variables in relation to intention to leave the profession.	.52
Table 14.	Employment-related variables in relation to intention to leave the profession.	.53
Table 15.	Nurse practice environment related variables in relation to intention to leave the profession	. 53
Table 16.	Nurse outcome related variables in relation to intention to leave the profession.	.54
Table 17.	Response distribution to the question: "How often during the course of the last 12 months have you thought about"	.69
Table 18.	Satisfaction with pay among young RNs.	.71

Table 19.	Main themes, sub-themes and categories related to turnover and intent to leave the profession.	
Table 20.	Thematic interviews; reasons for choosing career, reasons for having an intention to leave the profession and future plans	.74
Table 21.	How do young RNs perceive the future of the nursing profession in the next 10 years?	.76

## **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 1.	Phases of the study.	59
Figure 2.	Summary of the results	77
Figure 3.	Conceptual model of young RNs' intention to leave the profession	79

## LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1.	Empirical studies ( $n = 24$ ) concerning RNs' professional turnover 118
Appendix 2	Empirical studies (n = 44) concerning nurses' intention to leave the profession (updating Paper I)122
Appendix 3	Measures concerning intention to leave the profession (updating Paper I)

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AACN = American Association of Colleges of Nursing ANA = American Nurses Association BLS = Bureau of Labor Statistics, United States Department of Labor BQ 12 questionnaire = 12 month follow up questionnaire (NEXT study) CfWI = Centre for Workforce Intelligence, United Kingdom CIHI = Canadian Institute for Health Information CINAHL = Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature EC = European Commission ECTS = European Credit Transfer and Accumulation System FP5 = Fifth Framework Research Programme of the European Commission FP7 = Seventh Framework Research Programme of the European Commission HEALTH PROMeTHEUS = Health Professional Mobility in the European Union Study HRSA = United States Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration HYVÄ = Welfare Service Development Programme 2011–2015, the Ministry of Employment and the Economy, Finland ICN = International Council of Nurses ITL = Intent to leaveKASTE = The National Development Programme for Social Welfare and Health Care, The Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, Finland LANE = The Longitudinal Analysis of Nursing Education study, Sweden Mesh-TERM = Medical Subject Heading-Term MDGs = Millennium Development Goals, United Nations MoHProf = Mobility of Health Professionals Study NGN = A newly graduate nurse NLRN = A newly licensed registered nurse NP = Nurse practitioner NSSRN = National Sample Survey of Registered Nurses, United States OECD = Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development RN = Registered Nurse RN4CAST = Registered Nurse Forecasting Study RCN = Royal College of Nursing, United Kingdom SD = Standard Deviation SPSS = Statistical Package for the Social Sciences STTK = The Finnish Confederation of Salaried Employees TEHY = The Union of Health and Social Care Professionals, Finland VALVIRA = the National Supervisory Authority for Welfare and Health, Finland

## LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals I-IV:

- I Flinkman M., Leino-Kilpi H. & Salanterä S. 2010. Nurses' intention to leave the profession: integrative review. Journal of Advanced Nursing 66(7), 1422–1434.
- II Flinkman M., Laine M., Leino-Kilpi H., Hasselhorn H-M. & Salanterä S. 2008. Explaining young registered Finnish nurses' intention to leave the profession: A questionnaire survey. International Journal of Nursing Studies 45(5), 727–739.
- III Flinkman M., Isopahkala-Bouret U. & Salanterä S. 2013. Young registered nurses' intention to leave the profession and professional turnover in early career: a qualitative case study. ISRN Nursing, vol. 2013, Article ID 916061. doi:10.1155/2013/916061
- **IV** Flinkman M. & Salanterä S. Early career experiences and perceptions a qualitative exploration of young registered nurses' turnover and intent to leave the nursing profession in Finland. Resubmitted.

The publications are printed with the kind permission of the copyright holders. The summary also contains unpublished material.

## 1. INTRODUCTION

In a time when the aging population needs more nursing care (Sherman et al. 2013) and older registered nurses (RNs) are retiring from the profession (Graham & Duffield 2010, HRSA 2010, Juraschek et al. 2012, HRSA 2013), considerable pressure has been placed on young RNs to fill the workforce gap (European Commission 2012). Retention of young RNs is a common concern for nurse leaders and policymakers in a time when many countries have reported future shortages of qualified nurses (Buchan & Calman 2004, Johnson et al. 2006, Oulton 2006, Aiken & Cheung 2008, Allan & Aldebron 2008, Buchan & Aiken 2008, Buerhaus 2008, Duvall & Andrews 2010, Sermeus & Bruyneel 2010, AACN 2012, Currie & Carr Hill 2012, Health Workforce Australia 2012, CfWI 2013, Ministry of Employment and the Economy 2014, Van den Heede & Aiken 2013).

The number of young RNs (under the age of 30) has undeniably increased and they now constitute 10–15% of the nursing workforce (Australian Bureau of Statistics 2013, HRSA 2013, Nursing Council of New Zealand 2013). For example, in the United States it has been projected that the nursing workforce will grow rapidly until 2030 (Buerhaus et al. 2013). This unexpected increase in the number of nurses is due to the fact that between 2002 and 2009, the number of young RNs (aged 23–26) increased dramatically, by 62% (Auerbach et al. 2011).

According to the recent Nurse Forecasting in Europe study (RN4CAST, n = 23,159), approximately one in ten nurses (9%) in Europe have reported an intent to leave their profession (Heinen et al. 2013). In many studies, younger RNs have reported a stronger intention to leave the profession than older nurses (Krausz et al. 1995, Kuokkanen et al. 2003, Barron & West 2005, Nogueras 2006, Estryn-Behar et al. 2008, Widerszal-Bazyl et al. 2010, Cortese 2012, Salminen 2012, Wang et al. 2012b, Gurková et al. 2013, Mohamed & Mohamed 2013). According to the Nurses' Early Exit (NEXT) Study, in many European countries, this intention to leave the profession was highest in the age groups between 25 and 35 years of age (Hasselhorn et al. 2005b). Young employees also tend to be more mobile in their career than older employees (Lehto & Sutela 2008, Aho & Mäkiaho 2012, North et al. 2013a). In international studies, between 1–26% of new graduates left the profession during the first five years of their nursing career (Kovner & Djukic 2009, Rudman et al. 2010, Brewer et al. 2012, North et al. 2013a).

An RN's intention to leave their profession has been found to predict their actual decision to leave (Krausz et al., 1995, Lane et al., 1998, Hasselhorn et al., 2005b, Laine et al. 2009). Therefore, it is alarming that many young RNs have an intention to leave their profession early in their career (Rudman & Gustavsson 2012, Clendon & Walker 2012, Salminen 2012). Moreover, the intention of young RNs for frequent professional turnover can have negative consequences on how health-care systems and organizations function. Frequent intentions to leave might be indicative that RNs are not committed

to their profession (Parry 2008). The young RNs who frequently consider leaving their profession might not be motivated to develop their professional skills or their working organizations in the long term (Tham 2006, Vuorensyrjä 2008). Moreover, high levels of professional turnover intent among RNs may also discourage potential students from joining the profession (Jourdain & Chenevert 2010).

In a time when many countries have predicted a future nurse shortage (Buchan & Aiken 2008, WHO 2009, Barnett et al. 2010, Sermeus & Bruyneel 2010, Yun et al. 2010, Jurachek et al. 2012, Koponen et al. 2012), health-care systems, policymakers, nurse leaders and nurse managers require evidence-based research to guide policy decisions concerning the nursing workforce (Barlow & Zangaro 2010). Therefore, there is also a growing need for investigations concerning young RNs' intention to leave the profession and the reasons behind this intention. It has been recommended that turnover intention among RNs should be investigated from a generational perspective, because "factors that influence nurses to consider leaving their jobs appear to differ according to generation" (Hayes et al. 2012 p. 892). Based on evidence-based knowledge, it could be possible to develop new solutions on the society- and health-system level for the retention of the youngest generation in the nursing workforce.

An adequate supply of highly-educated and skilled RNs is necessary to provide safe, high-quality, patient-centred, accessible and affordable care (Aiken et al. 2001, Aiken et al. 2002, Needleman et al. 2002, Aiken et al. 2003, Lang et al. 2004, Lankshear et al. 2005, Tourangeau et al. 2006, Kane et al. 2007, Aiken et al. 2008, Aiken et al. 2011a, Duffield et al. 2011, Needleman et al. 2011, Salin et al. 2011, Berry & Curry 2012, Zhu et al. 2012, You et al. 2013, Aiken et al. 2014). RNs have a critical role in health-care delivery by determining the quality of patient care (Van Bogaert 2010, Aiken et al. 2012, Van den Heede et al. 2013), patient safety (Zhu et al. 2012, Aiken et al. 2014) and the costs of health-care services (Li & Jones 2013). According to the RN4CAST study, an increase in a nurse's workload by one patient increased inpatient hospital mortality by 7% in nine European countries (Aiken et al. 2014).

Moreover, a sufficient number of nurses are needed to ensure nurses' satisfaction and wellbeing at work (Adams & Bond 2000, Lang et al. 2004, Salin et al. 2011). Nurses have reported greater job satisfaction and lower burnout in hospitals with better nurse-to-patient ratios (Aiken et al. 2002, Kanai-Pak et al. 2008, Rafferty et al. 2007, Cimiotti et al. 2012). Adequate staffing levels help to attract young persons to seek out nursing education (Pitkäaho et al. 2011), and could have a positive impact on nurse workforce retention (Tervo-Heikkinen et al. 2008). Conversely, inadequate nurse staffing is associated with a higher number of RNs with the intention to leave their current unit, organization and even the profession (Hinno et al. 2012). However, more research concerning staff-related outcomes is needed as current evidence is still limited and the quality of existing studies varies (Butler et al. 2011). For example, high quality processes of care (Sochalski et al. 2008) and nursing unit environments (Kane et al. 2007) can also have an effect on patients' outcomes.

There is growing political interest concerning the retention of an adequate nursing workforce (WHO 2011, European Commission 2012, Heinen et al. 2013). WHO (2011) have released 'Strategic Directions for Strengthening Nursing and Midwifery Services 2011–2015'. According to this policy document, nursing and midwifery services hold a central role for achieving the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). Accordingly, the European Commission (EC) has taken many policy initiatives to emphasize the importance of the health workforce, including the release of a Green Paper on the European Workforce for Health (Commission of the European Communities 2008) and the Action Plan for the EU Health Workforce (European Commission 2012). The focus in these policy initiatives is on attracting and recruiting young people into health professions as well as retaining qualified, experienced staff in the global labour market (European Commission 2012).

Similarly, in Finland the attractiveness of workplaces, the success of recruiting staff and retention of the nursing workforce are the key challenges that are facing health-care organizations (Meretoja & Koponen 2008, Meretoja et al. 2008, Määttä et al. 2009, Koponen et al. 2012). Wellbeing and the adequacy of the health-care workforce has been an integral part of policy programmes in our country. In the programme of Prime Minister Katainen's government, well-being at work and the achievement of a longer working career are part of the key objectives (Prime Minister's Office 2011). Moreover, according to the National Development Programme for Social Welfare and Health Care (KASTE 2012–2015), the availability and stability of a motivated and satisfied workforce plays a key role in providing well-functioning and high-quality health care (Ministry of Social Affairs and Health 2012). The nursing action plan for the years 2009–2011 – 'Increasing the effectiveness and attraction of nursing care by means of management' - was developed to increase the effectiveness and attractiveness of nursing care by means of management (Ministry of Social Affairs and Health 2009). Accordingly, in the 'Welfare Service Development Programme 2011-2015 (HYVÄ-programme)', implemented by the Ministry of Employment and the Economy, the adequacy of the health and social-care workforce is one of the main priorities (Ministry of Employment and the Economy 2013).

Young RNs are now entering the nursing workforce. This young generation needs to be successfully integrated and retained in the nursing workforce in order to ensure an adequate supply of nurses in the future (Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2010). RNs who belong to generation Y (born 1980–2000) are described as ambitious, competent with technology, and who value a balance between their personal and professional lives (Duchscher & Cowin 2004). Generation Y nurses also appreciate flexible work schedules and shifts, professional development and adequate supervision (Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2010). They are described to be the most educated and technologically knowledgeable generation (Lower 2008) and want to be consulted and acknowledged for their contributions to their workplace (Ahonen et al. 2010, Clendon & Walker 2012, Noponen 2013). However, more research is needed on the motivations, expectations and needs of these generation

Y nurses (Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2010, Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2011) in order to develop effective strategies to reduce nursing turnover in this youngest generation of the nursing workforce (Currie & Carr Hill 2012).

This is first dissertation of its type to explore young RNs' intention to leave the profession in Finland. The aim of this explorative, three-phase study was to enhance the knowledge of why some young RNs, under the age of 30, have an intention to leave the profession and what the reasons for this are. Furthermore, the aim was to adopt in-depth approaches to provide interpretations of nurses' lived experiences of having an intention to leave the profession early in their careers. This compilation dissertation consists of a summary and four original papers submitted to scientific peer-reviewed nursing journals. This summary provides the theoretical background, updated integrative literature review, research questions, results, discussion and conclusions of the study. The overall goal of the study was to develop a conceptual model concerning young RNs' intention to leave the profession. Furthermore, recommendations for health-care policymakers, nurse leaders and nurse managers concerning the retention of young RNs in the nursing workforce are presented.

# 2. DEFINITION OF THE CONCEPTS USED IN THE STUDY

This summary starts with the definitions of the main concepts used in the study. The definitions of these main concepts are defined by referring to dictionary definitions, current legislation, empirical research and existing literature. Related concepts are also defined.

The main concepts used in this study are as follows:

- 1. Young registered nurse (RN)
- 2. Intent to leave the profession
- 3. Nurse turnover

### 2.1 Young registered nurse

In this dissertation, the main aim was to investigate young RNs' intention to leave the profession. Licenced practical nurses were excluded from the samples in this study. According to Juraschek et al. (2012, p. 242); "RNs have a significantly expanded scope of practice, education and clinical training compared to that of licensed practical nurses".

A registered nurse is defined in the Finnish language as 'sairaanhoitaja' and a nurse is defined as 'hoitaja' (MOT Englanti; englanti-suomi 2013). The term 'registered nurse' (RN) is used when referring to a "fully trained nurse with an official state certificate of competence" (Oxford Dictionary of English 2010). There are also other definitions of an RN, for example: "a professional person who is licensed to practice as a nurse, after formal education and practical training in nursing care and passing a licensure examination" (Dictionary of Public Health 2012). In Finland, however, there are no such licensures examinations that RNs need to accomplish after their formal education (Ministry of Education 2006).

The terms 'registered nurse' and 'nurse' are both used in the research and literature when referring to nurses and the nursing workforce (Currie & Carr Hill 2013). According to Buchan and Aiken (2008), there is no single universal definition of the term 'nurse'. Moreover, Currie and Carr Hill (2013, p. 67) concludes in their literature review the complexity of the term 'nurse' as follows; "the International Council for Nurses (ICN), the World Health Organization and the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) all have different ways of defining a nurse."

In the dictionary, a 'nurse' is defined as "a person who has been trained to provide personal care of the sick, especially those who are confined to bed in a hospital" (Dictionary of Public Health 2012). According to this dictionary definition, nurses do not need an official state certificate or license to practice as a nurse. However, alternative definitions also exist, and term 'nurses' have also been defined as: "professionals qualified by education

at an accredited school of nursing and licensed by state law to practice nursing" (Pubmed 2013a). According to this definition, nurses need a license from the state in order to practice nursing.

The use of the related terms 'registered nurse' and 'nurse' varies in the existing research. In the NEXT Study, the researchers chose the term 'nurse' to be used in the study. In this longitudinal study, all caring staff was included in the data collection from ten European countries (except temporary staff such as conscientious objectors or voluntary unpaid workers) (Hasselhorn et al. 2003b, p. 21). In the published scientific reports of the NEXT study (Hasselhorn et al. 2003b, Hasselhorn et al. 2005a), the term 'nurse' is used throughout. In many of the studies that are reporting findings based on the NEXT data, part-samples of registered nurses are reported (e.g. Hasselhorn et al. 2008, Laine et al. 2009, Simon et al. 2010, van der Heijden et al. 2009, van der Heijden et al. 2010, Li et al. 2011); in these articles, the term registered nurse (RN) is used. In the RN4CAST study, the term 'nurse' is used. In this study, the sample from 12 European countries consisted of professional nurses, "fully qualified by the standards of their own country" (Aiken et al. 2012, p. 2).

Registered nurses in Finland hold a Bachelor of Health Care Degree, are licensed by the National Supervisory Authority for Welfare and Health (Valvira) and are registered with the Central Register of Health Care Professionals (National Supervisory Authority for Welfare and Health 2013). Their nursing education is based on EU directives (Directive 2013/55/EU, Directive 2001/19/EC) and consists of 210 European Credit Transfer and Accumulation System (ECTS) study points (Lahtinen et al. 2013). Nursing education in Finland is arranged within polytechnics (also called Universities of Applied Sciences). Nursing education lasts approximately 3.5 years (Lahtinen et al. 2013) with an emphasis on clinical nursing. (Ministry of Education 2006.) This education also includes 90 ECTS of practical training. A full academic pathway to a Bachelor's degree, Master's degree and a Doctoral degree is available in Finland. (Lahtinen et al. 2013.)

The RN profession in Finland is currently regulated by the Act on Health Care Professionals (559/1994) and the Decree on Health Care Professionals (564/1994). RNs are licensed for their entire active careers, as there is no system of periodic relicensing in use (Vuorenkoski et al. 2008). RNs work both autonomously and in collaboration with other health care providers (CIHI 2013); they provide and coordinate patient care (Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor 2012) and act as members and coordinators of interprofessional teams (WHO 2011). RNs are equipped, through their training and expertise, to take responsibility for many aspects of patient care (Dictionary of Public Health 2012) and they contribute to the health-care system through their work in practice, education, administration, research and policy (CNA 2007).

**'Young'** in this study refers to an RN who is under 30 years old. 'Young' is a term with many possible definitions; indeed, the Oxford English Dictionary (2012) had a total of 2,111 definitions of the term 'young' in August 2013. Previous research has used

different criteria for the ages of the nurses who are considered young. Nurses under 25 years (Mrayyan 2009, Shimizu et al. 2005, Rudman & Gustavsson 2011), under 30 years (Erickson & Grove 2007, Kanai-Pak et al. 2008, Clendon & Walker 2012), or under 35 years (Tschannen et al. 2010, Salminen 2012) have all been defined as young. In the annual Youth Barometer, conducted in Finland, young people are defined as between 15 and 29 years (Myllyniemi 2012). Workers under 30 years of age are also considered young in Finland (Airila et al. 2007, Vaahtio 2003), and the Youth Act (72/2006) in our country defines 'young' to be "a youth under 29 years of age". Moreover, the European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (2006) defines young workers as follows (p. 18): "Usually the years between 12 and 24 are considered to be 'young'. But sometimes the second and third decades of human life are considered as youth, and adult life is deemed to start at the age of 30 years".

A related term for 'young registered nurse' is a 'graduate nurse'. Other related terms used in the research and literature are: 'new nurses' (Brewer et al. 2012a) 'novice nurses' (Suzuki et al. 2006), 'newly licenced nurses' (Weathers & Raleigh 2013), 'newly licensed registered nurses' (Brewer et al. 2012b) and 'beginning nurses' (Daehlen 2008). The use of these terms seems to be unsystematic and varied. The CINAHL Thesaurus (2013) defines graduates as those "who have been out of school for less than one year". Tei-Tominaga and Miki (2010, p. 306) define newly graduated nurses (NGNs) as: "registered nurses who had been in their current job for less than twelve months and had no prior nursing work experience since graduating from a nursing education institution". Moreover, Salt et al. (2008, p. 288) defined a newly graduate nurse (NGN) as: "a nurse who completed a minimum basic nursing programme and who had not previously practiced nursing". Another definition of newly licensed registered nurses (NLRNs) is presented by Brewer et al. (2012b, p. 522) as: "RNs who are within 2 years of graduation".

In this study, however, the term 'graduate' was not chosen as a main concept. The aim was to investigate the intention to leave the profession of RNs within a specific age group: under 30 years of age. Studies investigating graduate nurses have often included mature-age graduates in their samples (example Enberg et al. 2007, DiMattio et al. 2010, Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2011, Rudman et al. 2010, Rudman & Gustafsson 2011, Rudman & Gustafsson 2012, North et al. 2013a, Rudman et al. 2013). It could be also mentioned that in Canada, for example, regulated nurses are often aged over 30 when they graduate (CIHI 2011) and in the United States, the average age of graduated nurse with a Bachelor's degree is 28 years (HRSA 2010). In Finland, the statistical information of the age of newly graduated RNs was not found. However, a study by Lakanmaa et al. (2013), which investigated graduating nursing students (n = 139) in Finland, reported that the mean age of the participants was 28 years (range 21–52 years).

Young RNs belong to the youngest generation in the nursing workforce. '*Generation*' refers to groups of people of a similar age who are involved in a particular activity or profession at a given time, considered collectively (Oxford English Dictionary 2012). 'Generation' is defined in the Finnish language as '*sukupolvi*' or '*ikäluokka*' (MOT

Englanti; englanti-suomi). According to Kupperschmidt (2000, p. 66): "a generation is defined as an identifiable group that shares birth years, age location, and significant life events at critical developmental stages". The grouping of persons into generations is motivated by the idea that generations share common experiences (e.g. war, economic depression, developments in technology) that create similarities (e.g., values, attitudes) among those in the cohort (Costanza et al. 2012, Parry & Urwin 2011). Thus, the values of people could be seen to be more significantly influenced by generational experiences than by age or maturation (Smola & Sutton 2002).

#### 2.2 Intent to leave the profession

The term **'intent to leave the profession'** in this study refers to a cognitive consideration process in which a registered nurse has a voluntary intention to leave the profession in order to work in another profession or in another occupation. Earlier definitions of the term 'intent to leave the profession' were not found from the literature or the research, only the operationalized item(s) used to measure leaving intention was located. However, some terms related to 'intent to leave the profession' were found from the research and the literature. There related terms are presented in Table 1.

Term	Definition	Author(s)
Intentions to leave nursing	"an intention to move voluntarily from the health care in which a nurse was working primarily (public or private) to a field outside health care"	Kankaanranta & Rissanen 2008, p. 334
Career change	"movement across occupational boundaries"	Hess et al. 2012, p. 280
	"to movement to a new occupation that is not part of a typical career progression"	Rhodes & Doering 1983, p. 631
Voluntary job mobility	"employees changing jobs voluntarily"	Reineholm et al. 2012, p. 1
Nurse who have been leaving profession	"a nurse who voluntarily discontinues nursing profession after working a certain time after graduation the school of nursing"	Gök & Kocaman 2011, p. 67
Nurse intent to stay	"the nurses' decision to remain in their nursing profession before retirement"	Wang et al. 2012a, p. 548

Table 1. Terms related to intention to leave the profession.

There are also different definitions for the term '*intent*'. 'Intention' has been defined as: "what a person has in mind to do or bring about" by PubMed (2013b); "the act or fact of intending or purposing" by the Oxford English Dictionary (2012); and "a course of action that one intends to follow" by the Medical Dictionary (2013). According to Lum et al. (1998, p. 307), "intentions are statements about specific behaviors of interest". For example Stone et al. (2007), Steward et al. (2011) and Cortese (2012) have been

used abbreviation ITL (intent to leave) in their studies concerning nurse turnover. Intent is defined in the Finnish language as *'aikomus'*, *'aie'*, or *'tarkoitus'* (MOT Englanti; englanti-suomi 2013).

In previous research, two different types of leaving intention among employees have been described: (1) employer-change intention, and (2) career-change intention (Hess et al. 2012). Moreover, three different types of leaving intention among RNs have been distinguished: intent to leave the ward/unit, intent to leave the hospital/organization and intent to leave the profession (Krautz et al. 1995, Morrell 2005, Cortese 2012, Hinno et al. 2012).

Employees' intention to leave the job or organization has been found to be a determinant of actual behaviour (Mobley 1978, Presthold 1987, Parasuraman 1989, Griffeth et al. 2000, Holtom et al. 2008). According to social psychology research, intention-behaviour correlations are usually substantial (Ajzen 2005). According to the 'Theory of Reasoned Action', a person's self-reported behavioural intention to perform a specific behaviour is the best predictor of actual behaviour (Ajzen & Fishbeing 1980, p. 41). Moreover, a person's intention to perform behaviour is determined by their attitude toward the behaviour and by their subjective norm (Ajzen & Fishbeing 1980, p. 59).

**'Profession'** has been defined as: "An occupation in which a professed knowledge of some subject, field, or science is applied; a vocation or career, especially one that involves prolonged training and a formal qualification" (Oxford English Dictionary 2012). The Dictionary of Public Health (2012) defines a profession as: "An occupation that requires specialized education and/or training that is often available only in a college or university and is usually assessed by a sequence of examinations". In contrast, Gök and Kocaman (2011, p. 67) defined the term *'a non-nursing profession'* as "one that does not require a nursing education". 'Profession' is defined in the Finnish language as *'ammatti'* or *'ammattikunta'* (MOT Englanti; englanti-suomi 2013).

A profession is characterized by the mastery of a complex body of knowledge and skills (Cruess et al. 2004) as well as autonomy and self-regulation (Miller et al. 1993). Educational preparation and depth of knowledge distinguish professions, such as that of a registered nurse, from other occupational groups (Celik et al. 2011). Professions can be understood as social agreements, both in relation to the work and the division of the labour (Henriksson & Wrede 2004).

A term related to 'profession' is 'occupation'. An occupation is defined in the Finnish language as 'ammatti' or 'elinkeino' (MOT Englanti; englanti-suomi 2013). By Lee et al. (2000, p. 800) define an occupation as: "an identifiable and specific line of work that an individual engages in to earn a living at a given point of time (e.g., nurse, banker, clerk)". Another definition of the term occupation is: "The work that people do; the activity that fills most waking hours, and, for those who work for a financial or equivalent reward, a description of the nature of this activity" (Dictionary of Public Health 2012). Another term

related to 'profession' is *'career'*, which refers to: "The series of jobs that a person has throughout his or her working life" (Dictionary of Human Resource Management 2012).

## 2.3 Nurse turnover

Term **'nurse turnover'** in this study refers to the actual occurrence of a registered nurse voluntarily leaving their unit, organization or the nursing profession. Turnover has also been defined as a decision-making process for RNs, which happens on an individual level (Brewer et al. 2013). Turnover is defined in the Finnish language as *'vaihtuvuus'* (MOT Englanti; englanti-suomi, Matela 2011) or *'liikkuvuus'* (Ruoranen et al. 2007).

An RN's turnover can occur in three different levels (Simon et al. 2010, Cortese 2012, Hinno et al. 2012):

- I The RN is leaving the unit to work in another unit within the organization,
- II The RN is leaving the organization to work for another organization of the same type,
- III The RN is leaving the profession in order to work in another profession or occupation, or is leaving the RN workforce (for example, due to retirement).

Blau (2007) describes voluntary organizational turnover as a different type of interrole transition compared to occupational turnover: "in a voluntary organizational work transition employees leave their organization, while for voluntary occupational turnover an individual changes their occupation" (p. 136). Moreover, according to Kirschenbaum and Weisberg (2002, p. 110): "Employees' movements from their current job or position could be within the same organization or crossing boundaries to another organization, or even withdrawing totally from the labor market".

Both terms 'organizational turnover' and 'professional turnover' are used in this study. These terms can be defined, based on previous research, as follows:

- Organizational turnover: "RNs leave one organization and go to another organization or leave the RN workforce" (Brewer et al. 2013, p. 1)
- Professional turnover: "nurses who leave nursing to work in other professions or occupations" (Parry 2008, p. 158)

RNs can have turnover intent regarding their unit, organization or profession. However, turnover intention is conceptually different from actual turnover (Haybatollahi 2009). In contrast to actual turnover, turnover intentions are not definite. Thus, "turnover intention reflects the (subjective) probability that an individual will change his or her job within a certain time period" (Sousa-Poza & Henneberger 2004, p. 113).

There is great variability in the definitions and conceptualization of 'nurse turnover' across employee and nurse-turnover literature and research (Table 2). A clear definition of the term 'turnover' is lacking. According to the literature review conducted by Hayes

et al. (2006a, p. 238-239): "Some studies define turnover as any job move, while others consider nurse turnover as leaving the organization or even the nursing profession".

Concept	Definition	Author(s)
Turnover	"Turnover is movement of members across the boundary of an organization"	Price 2001, p. 600
	"turnover is an individual choice behavior"	Mobley 1979, p. 493
Nurse turnover	"the process whereby nursing staff voluntarily leave or transfer from their primary employment position"	O'Brien-Pallas et al. 2006, p. 172
	"the process by which nurses leave or transfer from their primary employment position in health services"	North et al. 2013b, 421
Staff or workforce turnover	"the rate at which an organization gains and loses employees; it may also be determined in terms of how long employees stay in their employment position"	Currie & Carr Hill 2012, p. 1181
Personnel turnover	"A change or shift in personnel due to reorganization, resignation, or discharge"	PubMed 2012c
Turnover intention	"the expressed inclination and deliberate willingness to quit one's job or one's profession"	Pomaki et al. 2010, p. 1340
	"employees' willingness or attempts to leave the current workplace voluntarily"	Takase, 2010, p. 4
	"a multi-stage process involving employees' voluntary departure from their current position"	Takase 2010, p. 9
	"a conscious and deliberate willfulness to leave the organization"	Tett & Meayr, 1993 p. 262
	"the (subjective) probability that an individual will change his or her job within a certain time period"	Sousa-Poza & Henneberger 2004, p. 113
Organizational turnover	"Organizational turnover refers to a transition where an employee leaves one workplace for another"	Rothrauff et al. 2011, p. 67
Occupational turnover	"Occupational turnover is defined as leaving a profession"	Salminen 2012, p. 2
External turnover	"Usually a numerical value attached to the number of people who leave an organization for various reasons"	Baumann 2010, p. 8
Internal turnover	"Refers to job changes within an organization"	Baumann 2010, p. 8

Table 2. Varying conceptual definitions of turnover.

The term turnover has been weakly operationalized in earlier studies, which limits the possibility to compare and synthesize the results of these studies (Hayes et al. 2006a). The operationalization of this term ranges from cognitional leaving intentions to actual leaving (Simon et al. 2010).

There are many related terms concerning 'turnover'. These terms are often used interchangeably and non-systematically in the literature and in research. Examples of these terms are: 'voluntary occupational turnover' (Blau 2007), 'nurse attrition' (Nooney et al. 2010), 'employee withdrawal' (Mobley et al. 1978) and 'intent to stay' (Price & Mueller 1981). Furthermore, 'withdrawal intention' (Krausz et al. 1995), 'quit intentions' (Griffeth et al. 2000) 'occupational turnover intention' (Rothrauff et al. 2011), 'intention for occupational turnover' (Salminen 2012) and 'turnover intention' (Takase 2010) are terms used in the literature to describe the intention of employees, or nurses in particular, to leave the organization or even the profession.

Turnover can also be defined as 'voluntary' or 'avoidable'. The reasons for voluntary or avoidable turnover include: better pay elsewhere, better working conditions elsewhere or a mid-career change (Abelson 1987). In voluntary turnover, nurses leave through personal choice (Li & Jones 2013) and organizations have many opportunities to influence this kind of turnover (Abelson 1987). The reasons for 'involuntary' or 'unavoidable' turnover, however, include retirement or severe illnesses; that is, nurses leave for reasons beyond their own control (Abelson 1987, Li & Jones 2013). Thus, organizations do not have many opportunities to influence this kind of turnover and 'dysfunctional' turnover (Dalton et al. 1981, Holtom et al. 2005). Turnover is considered to be dysfunctional when it involves the unavoidable separation of staff that the organization would prefer to retain. Accordingly, when turnover is functional, the organization has a negative evaluation of the employee who is leaving, and thus their departure is beneficial for the organization. (Dalton et al. 1981, Holtom et al. 2005, O'Brien-Pallas et al. 2006.)

In this study, the term '*nurse manager*', which is used synonymously with the term '*charge nurse*', is defined as "nurses who complete administrative tasks and supervise nursing staff in a hospital or nursing home unit" (CINAHL Headings 2014). A nurse manager can be defined in the Finnish language as '*osastonhoitaja*' (Narinen 2000, Roos 2014). '*Nurse leaders*' are defined in this study as "those who influence direction and policy in the nursing profession; not for leaders of specific health care facilities" (CINAHL Headings 2014). Nurse leaders can be defined in the Finnish language as '*hoitotyön johtaja*' (MOT Englanti; englanti-suomi 2013). In this study, '*nurse preceptors*' are defined as: "one or more experienced RNs who provided one-to-one guidance during the defined period of orientation" (Salt 2008, p. 290).

As seen in this chapter, there are many related term used unsystematically when investigating the RN workforce, turnover and intent to leave organizations as well as the profession. The main concepts and the definitions of those used in this study are summarized in Table 3.

Main concept	Definition
Young registered nurse	A fully trained nurse with an official state certificate of competence (Oxford Dictionary of English 2012) and who is less than 30 years old.
Intent to leave the profession	Cognitive consideration process where a registered nurse has a voluntary intention to leave the profession in order to work in another profession or in another occupation. (The definition developed for this study)
Nurse turnover	A transition when a registered nurse voluntarily leaves the unit, organization or the nursing profession. (The definition developed for this study)

Table 3. The main concepts of the study and the definitions used.

## 3. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

This theoretical framework review consists of six main areas. Firstly, the literature and research concerning the RN workforce and the current workforce shortage is reviewed, both internationally and within Finland. Secondly, the significance of RNs' intention to leave the profession is discussed. Thirdly, a literature review of employee and RN turnover research is presented. Fourthly, an overview of the RN workforce viewed from a generational perspective is provided. Fifthly, the literature concerning graduate RNs is briefly reviewed. Lastly, the literature concerning intention to leave the profession other than RNs' is discussed.

### 3.1 The nursing workforce internationally and the global shortage of RNs

Nursing is a profession dominated by women. Women constitute more than 90% of the RN workforce across different countries (HRSA 2010, Ailasmaa 2013, Australian Bureau of Statistics 2013). The average age of an RN is predominantly rising in developing countries and is now, on average, 45.5–47 years (Graham & Duffield 2010, HRSA 2010, CIHI 2011, Australian Bureau of Statistics 2013).

Internationally, there is a high number of RNs. RNs represent one of the largest professions in health care (Buchan & Black 2011) with a total of 19.3 million nursing and midwifery personnel in the world (WHO 2011). The nurse workforce size varies in different countries: there are 2.8 million RNs in the United States (HRSA 2013), 1.65 million nurses in China (Yun et al. 2010, Wang et al. 2012b), half a million RNs in England (CfWI 2013), a quarter of a million RNs in Canada (CNA 2009), 205,760 RNs in Australia (Australian Bureau of Statistics 2013) and 130,000 RNs in Sweden (Rudman et al. 2010). However, although the number of nurses is high internationally, the supply and demand of the nursing workforce is imbalanced in many countries (Simoens et al. 2005, Buchan & Aiken 2008, Baumann 2010).

During the cyclical history of nursing workforce shortages, the supply and demand of qualified nurses has been imbalanced many times (Goodin 2003, Oulton 2006, West et al. 2007). In the United Kingdom and the United States, the first nurse shortages were reported at the end of World War II (Oswald et al. 1951, Frijters et al. 2003). However, the present shortage of the nursing workforce has been described as being more severe than the previous recurring shortages (Oulton 2006). At the same time, globally there is: (1) a decreased supply of nurses (e.g. an aging nursing workforce, a shrinking applicant pool); (2) an increased demand (e.g. shorter hospital stays, an aging population, increased acuity of care); and (3) a shortage of other health professions and auxiliary staff (Buchan & Calman 2004, Rechel et al. 2006, Oulton 2006, Buchan & Aiken 2008, WHO 2009, Juraschek et al. 2011, Bureau of Labor Statistics 2012, HRSA 2013). Especially in the United States, nurse educator shortages and nursing faculty shortages limit student enrolments and decrease the

number of nursing graduates (Allan & Aldebron 2001, Potempa et al. 2009). Moreover, employers outside the health industry are also interested in highly qualified young RNs with skills and expertise that can be utilized in other industries (Duffield et al. 2006).

Although nursing workforce shortages have been partly moderated by the global economic recession (Aiken et al. 2012, Wray 2013), a nursing shortage is still a challenge faced by many developed countries, including Canada, Australia and Japan (see Table 4). In Europe, problems ensuring a sufficient number of well-qualified nurses and midwives have also been reported (Simoens et al. 2005, WHO 2009), although within Europe, this shortage is unevenly distributed geographically and by specialty area (Sermeus & Bruyneel, 2010). In some countries, the shortage of nurses has actually diminished. For example, the United States was experiencing a nursing shortage during 2002–2008 (Brewer & Kovner 2013), yet their nursing workforce is currently growing faster than expected. This growth is occurring because nursing is again becoming an attractive career choice and the number of young RNs (aged 23–26) in the workforce has risen dramatically since 2002 (by 62%) (Auerbach et al. 2011).

Country	Estimated shortage of nurses	Source
Australia	By 2025 projected shortfall of more than 109,000 nurses.	Health Workforce Australia (2012)
Canada	A shortage of 60,000 registered nurses by 2022.	CNA (2009)
China	There were 1.4 million vacancies for registered nurses (RN) that were not filled in year 2008.	Yun et al. (2010)
United Kingdom	Different workforce scenarios are presented. Estimated shortage of 47,545 registered nurses by 2016 in National Health Service (NHS).	CfWI (2013)
European Union	Shortage of 590,000 nurses by 2020 (total shortage 1 million healthcare workers).	Sermeus & Bruyneel, (2010)
Finland	A shortage of 20,000 social and healthcare sector employees by 2025.	Koponen (2012)
Japan	The Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare estimates that there will be a shortage of 15,900 nurses by 2010.	Tei-Tominaga & Miki (2010)
Malaysia	Total of 174,000 nurses will be required by the year 2020 to reach a targeted 1:200 nurse population ratio.	Barnet et al. (2010)
USA	Estimated national shortfall will be nearly one million (918,232) RN jobs by the year 2030.	Juraschek et al. (2011)
	RNs are the top occupation in the United States in terms of job growth.	Bureau of Labor Statistics U.S. Department of Labor (BLS) (2012)
New Zealand	Estimated shortage of Registered Nurses: 15,000 nurses by 2035.	Nursing Council of New Zealand (2013)

Table 4. Estimated shortage of nursing workforce in different countries.

In developing countries, a critical shortage of RNs jeopardizes health-care systems and the health of citizens (WHO 2010). The World Health Organization (WHO) has estimated that there was a shortage of 4.3 million health personnel worldwide in the year 2006 (WHO 2006). This international nursing shortage has also led to increased nurse migration between countries (OECD 2010) and has been the subject of growing media attention and national debate during the past years (Buchan & Black 2011).

The international nursing shortage, high organizational turnover rates, a high level of intention to leave the profession and increasing migration of the nursing workforce has been a concern for policymakers in the European Union and in the United States over the last ten years. Therefore, many research programmes during the past years concerning the health care workforce have been funded through the Fifth (1998–2002) and the Seventh Framework Research Programme (2007–2013) of the European Commission (FP5, FP7). The largest of these research projects have been the Nurses' Early Exit Study (NEXT, 2002–2005), Registered Nurse Forecasting study (RN4CAST, 2009–2011), Health Professional Mobility in the European Union Study (HEALTH PROMeTHEUS, 2009–2011) and the Mobility of Health Professionals (MoHProf, 2010–2011). Moreover, in the Unites States (RN Work Project 2006–2016) and in Sweden (LANE 2002–2006), longitudinal studies in relation to the graduate RN workforce have been implemented (Table 5).

Research project	The aim of the research	References
Nurses' Early Exit Study (NEXT 2002–2005, N = 39 689, ten European countries)	To investigate the reasons, circumstances and consequences surrounding premature departure from the nursing profession.	Hasselhorn et al. (2003a/2005a) www.next.uni-wuppertal.de
Registered Nurse Forecasting Study (RN4CAST 2009-2011, total of 16 countries)	To determine how hospital nurse staffing, skill mix, educational composition, and quality of the nurse work environment impact hospital mortality, failure to rescue, quality of care, and patient satisfaction.	Bruyneel et al. (2009), Sermeus et al. (2011) www.rn4cast.eu
Health Professional Mobility in the European Union Study (HEALTH PROMeTHEUS 2009– 2011, 17 European countries)	To investigate movement of health professionals in the European Union.	Wismar et al. (2011) www.ehma.org
Mobility of Health Professionals (MoHProf 2010–2011, 26 countries)	To investigate trends of mobility of health professionals to, from and within the EU.	Tjadens et al. (2012) www.mohprof.eu
Longitudinal Analysis of Nursing Education study (LANE 2002–2006, Sweden, N = 4316)	To investigate the health status as well as retention, turnover rates and professional development of newly qualified nurses.	Rudman et al. (2010)
RN Work Project 2006–2016, United States	To investigate new nurses' turnover rates, their intentions, and attitudes such as intent, satisfaction, organizational commitment, and preferences about work.	Kovner et al. (2007) www.rnworkproject.org

 Table 5. Research programmes in relation to the health-care workforce 2002–2016.

RNs' high organizational turnover has been identified as an ongoing problem (Currie & Carr Hill 2012). In the United States, it has been estimated that the annual organizational turnover rate for RNs working in hospitals is on average 14% of the national level (AACN 2012). Organizational turnover rates have varied from 10% to 55% between different countries (McCarthy et al. 2002, McCarthy et al. 2003, Castle & Engberg 2005, O'Brien-Pallas et al. 2010, Toren et al. 2012). Higher turnover rates in units have been associated with an increase in the likelihood of patients experiencing medical errors (O'Brien-Pallas et al. 2010) and with an increased number of patient falls (Bae et al. 2010).

Statistical information about RNs' annual professional turnover rates was not located from the literature or from previous research. Statistical information, and also empirical research evidence, however, was found relating to the proportion of RNs not employed in the nursing workforce or working in another field (Table 6).

Author, year, country	Sample	Nurses and other professionals who had left their primary profession
Ailasmaa (2013), Finland	RNs, midwives and public health nurses	7% of RNs, midwives and public health nurses ( $n = 5290$ ) were working in a field other than social and health care in the year 2010.
North et al. (2013), New Zealand	Graduate RNs	26% of graduate RNs were no longer working in the New Zealand RN workforce in a five-year follow-up study.
Brewer et al. (2012b), United States	Newly licenced RNs	1% of newly licenced RNs were no longer working as an RN in a one-year follow-up study.
HRSA (2010), United States	RNs	15% of RNs (n = 466,564) were not employed in the nursing workforce in 2008.
Rudman et al. (2010), Sweden	Graduate RNs	2% of the graduate RNs had left the nursing profession five years after graduating.
Socialstyrelsen (2009), Sweden	RNs	12% of RNs were not employed within the health- care system in the year 2006.
Kovner & Djukic (2009), United States	Graduate RNs	2.1% of RN graduates who passed the National Council Licensure Examination left the nursing profession within two years.
Black et al. (2008), United States	RNs	4.2% of RNs who were licensed to practice in the United States in 2004 ( $N = 2,906,615$ ) worked in non-nursing employment.
Smith et al. (2007), United States	Nurses	7% of nurses (n = 1438) were employed in jobs not related to nursing.
Engberg et al. (2007), Sweden	New graduates (occupational therapists and physiotherapists)	3% (n = 840) had completely left their professions for other careers 3 years after graduation.
CIHI (2010), Canada	RNs	5% of RNs were not employed in nursing in the year 2009.

Table 6. Rates of RNs working in another field or out of the nursing workforce.

Studies concerning former RNs have mainly been implemented in the United States, the United Kingdom and Australia (Appendix 1). Studies concerning actual leavers from the profession are scarce (Black et al. 2008, Black et al. 2010, Nooney et al. 2010, Seston et al. 2009). Obtaining data related to employees who have actually changed their profession has also proved to be very difficult (Chapman et al. 2009). Multiple variables have been provided as the reasons behind former RNs having left their profession. These variables included: better pay in another field (Spratley et al. 2000, Smith et al. 2007, Black et al. 2008), stress/burnout (Cartledge 2001, Cheung 2004, Black et al. 2008) and unsatisfactory working conditions in nursing (Hasselhorn et al. 2005b, Black et al. 2008, Gök & Kocaman 2011). In a study by Black et al. (2008), almost all RNs (91%) under the age of 30 reported workplace concerns as the primary reason for not working in nursing. Nurses have reported working in many types of employment after leaving nursing, including health-related service provision, administration or management, and retail sales or services (Black et al. 2008).

Many challenges have been identified globally in relation to RNs' job satisfaction and nursing practice environments (Coomber & Barriball 2007, Zangaro & Soeken 2007, Tervo-Heikkinen et al. 2009, Utriainen & Kyngäs 2009, Poghosyan et al. 2010, Liu et al. 2012a, Liu et al. 2012b, Lu et al. 2012, Kutney-Lee et al. 2013, You et al. 2013). Nursing shortage has been associated with RNs' job dissatisfaction, stress and burnout (Toh et al. 2012). Even a decade ago, 17–40% of RNs were already reporting dissatisfaction with their jobs across five countries (United States, Canada, England, Scotland, and Germany) (Aiken et al. 2001). In a more recent study by Aiken et al. (2011b), the level of RNs dissatisfied with their job ranged from 22–60% and the rate of burnout ranged from 15-60 % across nine countries (United States, China, South Korea, Thailand, Japan, New Zealand, United Kingdom, Canada, Germany). According to the RN4CAST Study, in Europe between 11% (in the Netherlands) and 56% (in Greece) of nurses reported dissatisfaction with their job. In this study, RNs reported dissatisfaction with wages, educational opportunities and opportunities for advancement (Aiken et al. 2013). RNs in China have also reported high levels of job dissatisfaction (45-54%) and burnout (17–37%) (Liu et al. 2012a, Zhang et al. 2013).

#### 3.2 Nursing workforce in Finland and the shortage of RNs

There are 75,000 RNs, public health nurses and midwives in the labour force (Ailasmaa 2013). RNs are among the youngest major occupational groups in social and health care, with the mean age of an RN being 42.8 years (Ailasmaa 2013). The RN occupation is still female dominated; a total of 94% of RNs are female (Official Statistic of Finland 2012). There are 9.6 practicing nurses per 1,000 of the population, which is slightly more than the European average (the mean for EU-27 countries is 7.9). The nurse to doctor ratio is also the second highest in Europe, with 4.3 nurses per physician (the mean for EU-27 countries is 2.5). (OECD 2012.)

In Finland, the majority of RNs work in public funded and municipally operated health services (health centres and hospital districts) (Vuorenkoski et al. 2008). Moreover, RNs play an important role in the Finnish health care system (Teperi et al. 2009), and may carry out tasks that in other countries would be carried out by physicians (Vuorenkoski et al. 2008). The total expenditure for health as a percentage of the gross domestic product (GDP) was 9.1% in 2012 (WHO 2013). One of the explanations provided for the low total health-care expenditure in Finland is the low salary level for health-care professionals, especially the salaries for nurses (Vuorenkoski et al. 2008). The average total earnings of RNs working in the municipality was 3,034 euros per month in the year 2011 (Tehy 2013).

The nursing shortage has also been a cyclical phenomenon in Finland and cyclical nursing shortages have been noted in our country since the 1920s (Santamäki 2004). Four decades ago, the first studies concerning RNs' professional turnover were already being conducted (Siivola 1963, Artman & Penttilä 1972). RN unemployment during the economic depression of the 1990s has now turned into a present-day workforce shortage (Santamäki 2004, Pitkänen et al. 2009, Kokko 2009, Tuomaala 2010, Koponen et al. 2012, Alatalo et al. 2013); although the current shortage has in some extent diminished (Ministry of Employment and the Economy 2014) mainly because of the downturn in Finnish economy. According to the Occupational Barometer, which was published in February 2014, physicians and registered nurses are the two main occupations for which there is the greatest shortage of job seekers (Ministry of Employment and the Economy 2014). Moreover, in January 2014, there were 3 420 vacancies open for RNs; although at the same time 2 215 RNs were unemployed (Harju et al. 2014). Furthermore, it was estimated that in the autumn of 2012, there were 948 registered nurses or specialist nurse vacancies unfilled in the municipalities (a shortage of 2.8%) (Local government employers 2013). RN unemployment is currently at a very low level. In 2012, only 1,490 RNs and public-health nurses received earnings-related unemployment benefits paid by the Union of Health and Social Care Professionals (Tehy) unemployment fund (Tehy 2013).

In Finland, this nursing shortage is expected to worsen over the coming decades (Pitkänen et al. 2009, Tuomaala 2010, Koponen et al. 2012). Two main reasons have been identified as the main antecedents for the RNs shortage in our country: (1) a significant proportion of health-care professionals will retire in the near future, and (2) the demand for health services will continue to increase with the ageing population and the growing expectations on medical care (Vuorenkoski et al. 2008, Kokko 2009, Koponen et al. 2012). The European Commission (2012) has projected a total of 235,450 additional vacancies in the health-care and social sector between 2008–2025 in Finland. Almost half (49.7 %) of the RNs working in municipalities will retire between 2010 and 2030, (Halmeenmäki, 2009) and there will be 66,660 new workplaces opening in the social and health-care sector (Ministry of Social Affairs and Health 2009, The Ministry of Education and Culture 2011). The retirement attrition rate is highest for nurse managers;

four out of five (79.8%) will retire by the year 2030 (Halmeenmäki 2009). The total workforce gap in the social and health-care sector is estimated to be 20,000 employees, or perhaps even higher (Koponen et al. 2012).

Finnish RNs have reported high levels of affective commitment to their organizations and the profession (Laine 2005), and have indicated high levels of work engagement (Haybatollahi 2009) and high job satisfaction (Kuokkanen et al, 2003, Kuokkanen et al. 2010). The main reasons for entering the nursing profession in Finland include: the desire to help, feeling that it was the right profession personally, secure job possibilities, diversity of working opportunities, nursing as a calling and an appreciation for the profession (Santamäki et al. 2009).

Working in social and health-care in Finland has been experienced rewarding in many ways (Laine 2005, Laine et al. 2009, Kvist et al. 2013). According to the RN4CAST Study, patients to nurse ratio was 7.6 in Finnish hospitals, which is slightly less than the average in Europe (mean patients to nurse ratio was 8.3 among nine European countries) (Aiken et al. 2014). However, challenges concerning the nurse workforce in Finland have also been identified (Suonsivu 2003, Hintsala 2005, Kuokkanen et al. 2010, Aiken et al. 2012). RNs have reported that the number of RNs per patient is low (Partanen 2002, Tervo-Heikkinen et al. 2008). In elderly care, the main request made by nurses is increasing the number of nurses working (Kröger et al. 2009). According to the RN4CAST Study, approximately one in four Finnish RNs (27%) reported dissatisfaction with their job (Aiken et al. 2013) and one in five (22%) regarded themselves to be burnt out (Aiken et al. 2012). This study also reported that 15% of nurses were dissatisfied with their career choice and 49% had intent to leave their current job within the year (Aiken et al. 2013).

Many young RNs work in fixed-term employment during their early career in Finland. Over 40% of RNs under the age of 35 were working in fixed-term employment in the municipality sector in the year 2011 (Tehy 2013). Young RNs have reported experiencing employment insecurity in Finland (Laine et al. 2009), and RNs with an insecure work contract have reported lower work ability and lower job involvement than those with permanent employment (Elovainio et al. 2010). In a study by Heponiemi et al. (2010), RNs who were employed in fixed-term contracts also experienced low levels of justice in their organization and its management, and were more likely to feel that their work interfered with their family life.

## 3.3 The significance of RNs' intention to leave the profession

Leaving a profession has been considered to be a more significant work transition than leaving a job but staying in the same profession (Carson et al. 1995). When RNs leave their organization in order to work in another nursing organization, it produces costs and leads to a temporary reduction in the organization's productivity (Li & Jones 2012). In Canada, it has been estimated that the average cost of one nurse leaving an organization is up to 25,000 Canadian dollars (CNA 2008). In New Zealand, it was estimated that the

cost of RN turnover was half an average salary (\$23,800, comprising \$3,878 per new employee and \$19,922 per leaver) (North et al. 2012). Therefore, the reasons why RNs are leaving their organizations are of interest to all health-care organizations that are seeking to retain their qualified staff (Simon et al. 2010). From the perspective of health-care systems and workforce, however, this kind of organizational turnover is not a major problem because these RNs still continue within the nursing workforce.

However, professional turnover has more serious effects on the society, health-care systems and the nursing workforce. When RNs leave the profession, their human capital (knowledge, experience, expertise) will be lost from the nursing workforce (Parry 2008, Barak et al. 2001). The number of RNs in the job market will also decrease (Widerszal-Bazyl et al. 2008), which will exacerbate the global nursing shortage (Buchan & Aiken 2008) and lead to a permanent loss of productivity in the health-care field (Takase 2010). The financial investments in the nurse's professional education, orientation and continuing education are also lost. For example, in Finland one RN's education in a University of Applied Sciences currently costs the society approximately 29,000 euros (Finnish National Board of Education 2013). Therefore, in a time of a global nursing shortage, the retention of the RN workforce is a priority for health-care policymakers (European Commission 2012).

Most of the previous literature has viewed turnover from an organizational or workforce perspective, in terms of it as a preventable or a negative result (e.g. high cost, loss of productivity) (Hayes et al. 2012). However, many positive consequences of nursing turnover have also been recognized (Gray et al. 1996, Tai et al. 1998, Holtom et al. 2005). According to Simon et al. (2010), low turnover in an organization can signify its inability to hire talented or highly-skilled, experienced nurses. Turnover can also produce positive effects such as the infusion of new ideas and the introduction of new practices into organizations (Cavanagh 1989, O'Brien-Pallas et al. 2006), and can also contribute to an organization's productivity (Hayes et al. 2006).

Moreover, leaving the profession might also produce benefits for the individual RN. Leaving the job allows RNs to move to the job where the wages and employment packages are the best (Gray et al. 1996). According to McHugh et al. (2011), nurses working in other jobs or settings, such as the pharmaceutical industry, were more satisfied and experienced less burnout than nurses directly caring for patients in hospitals and nursing homes. Moreover, leaving the profession might be advantageous for certain groups of RNs, for example those with severe health problems or those wishing to further their careers in other directions (Laine et al. 2009). According to the results of the NEXT study, some nurses were resigning because of poor health, low work ability or because of burnout (Hasselhorn et al. 2005b). It is possible that these RNs would not have been retained in the organizations or the profession by any means.

Organizational turnover and professional turnover are phenomena that are strongly connected to each other. Leaving a profession to work in another profession usually necessitates a departure from the employment in the organization the RN was working within (Parry 2008). On the other hand, an RN's intention to remain within an organization might result from identification with his or her occupation (Chang et al. 2007). Turnover can also initiate a withdrawal process; RNs may first seek internal withdrawal inside the organization prior to forming intentions to leave the hospital and the profession (Krausz 1995). For example, according to the study by Parry (2008), RNs' intention to change employer was associated with their intention to change profession. If nurse managers were able to stop this process, more nurses might be retained in the profession (Cortese 2012). A meta-analytic review by Cooper-Hakim and Viswesvaran (2005) suggests that there is a common psychological construct underlying both organizational and professional commitment. Therefore, according to Gilmartin (2013), newly graduated RNs may leave the profession entirely because they had an unsatisfactory job experience in one nursing unit, in one organization.

Even though intentions to leave an organization and the profession are highly connected, different variables have been associated with employees' intention to leave their employer and their intention to leave the career (Hess et al. 2012). Moreover, different variables have also been associated with RNs' intention to leave a ward or organization and the profession (Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2011, Cortese 2012, Hinno et al. 2012, Lee et al. 2013). Therefore, a growing amount of research has been conducted in order to compare which variables are associated with organizational turnover intent and which variables are associated with professional turnover intent.

One such example is the RN4CAST study, in which workload and perceived quality of care were reported to be indicators of a nurse's intention to leave the current hospital (Aiken et al. 2012); nevertheless, these same factors were not indicators of an intention to leave the profession (Heinen et al. 2013). In a study by Cortese (2012), Italian critical-care nurses' intention to leave their hospital was most strongly influenced by the characteristics of their work duties and by organizational policies, whilst the nurses' intention to leave the profession was associated with professional status and pay, as well as organizational policies. Moreover, Simon et al. (2010) reported that RNs' intention to leave an organization was related to organizational leadership and the local context. Their intention to leave the profession was, in turn, associated with variables related to their personal backgrounds and their work/home interface. Parry (2008) found that job satisfaction, organizational commitment and intention to change professions were related to the intention to change employer. However, in this study affective professional commitment and organizational commitment were related to an intention to change professions. Furthermore, Chang et al. (2007) reported that organizational commitment was associated with RNs' organizational turnover intention, whereas occupational commitment was associated with occupational turnover intention. Correspondingly, in Blau's (2007) study concerning medical technologists, job insecurity was correlated with job organizational turnover and work exhaustion was correlated with occupational turnover.

Contradictory findings, however, do exist. In a study by Hinno et al. (2012), there was no difference between the variables associated with a RNs intention to leave their current unit, hospital or the profession. However, positive ratings by RNs concerning certain work environment characteristics – such as support for professional development, adequate staffing, assuring nursing competence, and supportive management – decreased their intention to leave their current unit, hospital or the profession.

RNs have more often reported an intention to leave their organization than their profession (Hasselhorn et al. 2005b, Cortese 2012, Heinen et al. 2013, Aiken et al. 2013). However, in many of the earlier turnover studies it is not clear whether RNs have been reporting only organizational turnover intent or if they have also been reporting professional turnover intent. For example, Price and Mueller (1981, p. 546) used the following item to measure turnover intention: "Which of the following statements most clearly reflects your feelings about your future in the hospital? (a) Definitely will not leave, (b) Probably will not leave, (c) Uncertain, (d) Probably will leave, (e) Definitely will leave". Another example is from the study by Beecroft et al. (2008), where the following measure was used alone to gauge RNs turnover intention: "Do you plan to leave this facility within the next year?" Results from these kinds of turnover studies do not provide answers for whether these RNs intended to leave only their organization or if they intended to leave the profession.

Many of the earlier turnover studies have also failed to distinguish between voluntary and involuntary turnover intent (Mobley et al. 1979, O'Brien-Pallas et al. 2006, Parry 2008, Simon et al. 2010, Currie & Carr Hill 2012). Examples of involuntary departures are those due to: retirement, layoffs, dismissals, serious illnesses (Price & Mueller 1981) and leaving due to medical, educational or maternity reasons (O'Brien-Pallas et al. 2006, Duffield et al. 2009). This lack of distinction in the results is due to the fact that voluntary and involuntary turnover intent is not always separated in the research questionnaires (Tai et al. 1998, Coomber & Barriball 2007), which is mainly because the costs for the organizations are the same regardless of whether (or why) RNs resign themselves or if they are asked to leave (Hayes et al. 2006). In a study by Ingersoll et al. (2002), for example, planned five-year professional turnover was highest among the most satisfied and committed RNs. However, the turnover of these RNs was mainly related to their plans for retirement, and for that reason was involuntary. Also, in a study by Eley and Rogers-Clark (2010), one of the main reasons that RNs gave for their intention to leave nursing was their plan for retirement.

It has been recommended that research into RN turnover should include both the intention to leave an organization as well as the intention to leave the profession in order to obtain a complete overview of the turnover phenomenon (Parry 2008, Simon et al. 2010, Cortese 2012). Researchers have also been encouraged to compare voluntary organizational versus occupational turnover processes (Blau 2007); this kind of research might deepen the understanding of why some RNs make the decision to leave their organization and other RNs also make the decision to leave the profession.

#### 3.4 Theoretical underpinnings of employee turnover research

Employee turnover has been one of the most researched subjects in social sciences and in organizational research. According to the literature review by Holtom et al. (2008), over 1,500 articles concerning voluntary employee turnover have been published. Personnel researchers, behavioural scientists and management practitioners have in fact already been investigating the turnover phenomenon for decades (Mobley et al. 1979). In the following two chapters, a literature review concerning employee and nurse turnover research is presented. More comprehensive literature reviews of employee turnover, however, have been produced by Holtom et al. (2008) and nurse turnover by Gilmartin (2013).

Why employees are leaving their jobs or organizations has been the subject of investigation since the beginning of the 1910s, with research interests concerning professional turnover emerging a few decades later. Research investigating why physicians were leaving their practice was instigated in the 1950s (Misra-Hebert et al. 2005). However, research concerning nurses' organizational turnover started later, in the early 1970s (Price & Mueller 1981, Irvine & Evans 1995, Tai et al. 1998, Lu et al. 2005, Hayes et al. 2006a, Chan et al. 2013, Gilmartin 2013). Moreover, the volume of research into nurses' professional turnover began to increase two decades later, in the 1990s (for example Barriball & While 1996, Robinson et al. 1997, Shindul-Rothschild et al. 1996, Lane et al. 1998). Teachers' turnover has been investigated since the 1980s, after which a considerable amount of research has been conducted on determining which kinds of teachers are more prone to leave teaching and for what reasons (Ingersoll 2001).

The turnover research tradition began by identifying turnover as a dependent variable to be explained. Accordingly, there were studies investigating turnover as a component of some more general phenomena (e.g. job withdrawal). (Price & Mueller 1981.) In the earliest research and theoretical models of employee turnover, the basic assumption was that accumulated job dissatisfaction caused turnover (Mobley et al. 1979, Holtom et al. 2005, Holtom et al. 2008). Over time, turnover research and models have become more versatile as the predictors (e.g. organizational commitment) and consequences of turnover were included (Holtom et al. 2008). Also, perceived alternatives (e.g. availability of alternative job opportunities) have become a central construct in many of the turnover studies and models (Griffeth & Hom 1988).

During the past four decades, three main models of voluntary employee turnover have been proposed (Price 2004). These three models are (1) the 'Price-Mueller model' (Price & Mueller 1981) and turnover models proposed by (2) Mowday et al. (1982) and (3) Mobley et al. (1979). These three models have focused on explaining and predicting employees' turnover from an organization; however, these models do not clearly take into account the employee's destination choice (leaving the organization or also the profession) (Kirschenbaum & Weisberg 2002).
Price and his colleagues began to develop their 'Causal Model of Turnover' as early as 1972 and it has been considered as a major theoretical advance in understanding why people leave their jobs (Gilmartin 2013). This model has been developed and tested over three decades using many different employee groups (nurses, teachers, managers and clericals) (Price 2001, Price 2004). In this model, job satisfaction and intent to leave operate as the main antecedents of turnover, and organizational commitment operates as a mediating factor between these two variables (Holtom et al. 2008). This model has also been utilized in nursing turnover research more recently (Gilmartin 2013). However, for example in Chens et al.'s (2008) longitudinal study, the model's anticipated capability to predict a nurse's actual decision to leave their hospital was not confirmed.

During the past four decades, many different theoretical models for career change have been introduced. Examples of these models include the 'Theory of Careers' (Holland & Gottfredson 1976) and the 'Integrated Model of Career Change' (Rhodes & Doering 1983, Rhodes & Doering 1993). Holland's & Gottfredson (1976) model was developed in order to explain vocational behaviours and it has mainly been used for career counselling purposes. According to this theoretical model, individuals leave their career if their personality does not fit with the work environment. For example, a person who has a pragmatic personality will not 'fit' well in an artistic job. (Holland & Gottfredson 1976.) According to the model by Rhodes and Doering (1983), the motivation for changing career is induced by job dissatisfaction or career dissatisfaction. Moreover, their model demonstrates the withdrawal process through which an employee considering job and career change will pass.

More recently, metaphors like 'boundaryless careers' or 'protean career' have been used in order to challenge traditional viewpoints of stable employment and associated organizational careers (Arthur 1994, Sullivan 1999, Inkson 2005, Hess et al. 2012). New understanding about careers includes the idea that employees move between jobs, organizations and countries, and even professions (Hess et al. 2012). Moreover, this movement includes transitions through a career in two continua: one psychological, one physical (Arthur & Sullivan 2006). However, these abovementioned three theoretical models of careers and the new career metaphors have not been used in the research concerning RNs' intention to leave the profession.

According to Holtom et al's (2008) comprehensive literature review, the theory and research of employee turnover has been cumulative. It has been recognized that there are multiple decision paths leading to employee turnover (Dickter et al. 1996) and several different push factors (e.g. job dissatisfaction) and pull factors (e.g. alternative job opportunities) are found that impact an employee's decision to leave their job (Allen 2004). Push factors produce willingness to stop working in a current job (e.g. conflicts at work or ill health) and pull factors attract the employee in another direction (e.g. further studies or favourable conditions for early retirement) (Laine et al. 2009). Different forms of commitment (e.g. organizational, professional) have also been associated with employee turnover intent and actual turnover (Cooper-Hakim & Viswesvaran 2005).

However, despite the fact that there is already a century of cumulative research concerning employee turnover, the understanding of the causal mechanisms explaining why employees voluntarily leave their jobs is still limited (Holtom et al. 2008). Moreover, although there are many voluntary employee turnover models available, according to Mobley et al. (1979) it is not possible to create a single common turnover model that would be suitable for all occupations. Therefore, more research is needed in the field of employee turnover and the development of theoretical models for various professional groups needs to be continued (Holtom et al. 2008).

#### 3.5 Theoretical underpinnings of nurse turnover research

Due to workforce shortages and high turnover rates, nurses' organizational turnover has gained considerable attention in nursing research during the past four decades (Hayes et al. 2012, Gilmartin 2013). This research includes a variety of topics ranging from cognitional leaving intentions to actual leaving occurrence (Simon et al. 2010). Nurse turnover behaviour appears to be a multistage process including attitudinal, decisional and behavioural components (Lum et al. 1998). Job satisfaction and intent to leave have been the most common factors associated with nurse turnover (Hayes et al. 2006, Currie & Carr Hill 2012, Hayes et al. 2012, Lu et al. 2012).

Over the past decades, many literature reviews (Cavanagh 1989, Irvine & Evans, 1995, Tai et al. 1998, Lu et al. 2005, Hayes et al., 2006, Hayes et al. 2012, Gilmartin 2013) and meta-analyses (Griffeth et al. 2000) have been published concerning nurse turnover. Many different models of nurse turnover have also been developed. Often-cited models explaining voluntary nurse turnover include: Price and Mueller's 'Causal Turnover Model' (Price and Mueller 1981), 'Cusp Catastrophe Model of Employee Turnover' (Sheridan & Abelson 1983, Sheridan 1985) and 'Integrated Model of Turnover' (Parasuraman 1998). These researches and models have, however, mainly focused on explaining why nurses are leaving their jobs or organizations (Gilmartin 2013).

Although there is a large amount of turnover research and literature available, research explicitly focusing on nurses' professional turnover is still scarce (Parry 2008, Hasselhorn et al. 2008, Simon et al. 2010, Salminen 2012). Therefore, research concerning nurse turnover from the profession has not produced the same degree of empirical knowledge and understanding as the research on nurse turnover from their job or organization (Lane et al.1998). The majority of the earlier studies have examined intention to leave the profession from a fixed point of time and used dichotomous items (intent or no intent to leave) as a dependent variable (Laine 2005).

Three models explaining nurses' professional turnover and the underlying variables were found from previous research (Hasselhorn et al. 2003c, Hasselhorn et al. 2005b, Jourdain & Chenevert 2010). The '*NEXT model of departure from health care work*' (Hasselhorn et al. 2003c, p. 12) was formed as a theoretical framework, on the basis of which the longitudinal NEXT study was designed. According to this model, the decision to leave the nursing

profession is likely to be a process, were numerous underlying causes simultaneously affect the decision to leave the profession. Based on the results of the NEXT study, a modified theoretical model was formed (Hasselhorn et al. 2005b, p. 18). In this model, four different demands (work content, work organization, social work environment, private conditions) affect the individual nurse's health and individual factors (burnout, general health, physical diseases, work ability, age), which in turn cause the intention to leave the profession. Jourdain and Chenevert (2010, p. 717) have also developed theoretical model of the variables associated with nurses' intention to leave the profession. In their model, demand and resources are determinants of depersonalization and emotional exhaustion. These two variables affect professional commitment and psychosomatic complains, which are also associated with the intention to leave the profession.

Longitudinal research evaluating temporal components and causality issues concerning nurse turnover is rare (Brewer & Kovner 2013). According to Gaither (2009), rather than continuing to research additional variables and constructs that differ or are associated with the intention to leave the profession, mechanisms underlying these factors should be explored. Moreover, stronger theoretical models to explain nurse turnover need to be developed because the understanding of why nurses leave their job and the consequences of nurses' turnover is not yet sufficient (Gilmartin 2013). Stronger integration of the theoretical approaches between nursing research and the general management field has also been proposed in order to gain a deeper understand about the causes and consequences of voluntary nurse turnover (Gilmartin 2013).

Overall, nurse turnover studies have reported conflicting findings and a clear understanding of nursing turnover has not emerged despite the numerous studies conducted in this field (Cavanagh 1989, Gilmartin 2013). Conflicting results have been obtained from simple bivariate analyses of nurse turnover, showing that turnover behaviour is a very complex process and not easily captured (Tai et al. 1998). Empirical evidence concerning nurse turnover focuses on the determinants, whereas the consequences of nurse turnover have been studied less during the past decades (O'Brien-Pallas et al. 2006, Hayes et al. 2012). According to De Gieter et al. (2011, p. 1563): "Although many studies have examined the antecedents of nurse turnover and turnover intention, developing a single broadly accepted, comprehensive nurse turnover model remains a challenge".

#### 3.6 Nurse workforce viewed from a generational perspective

Nursing generations have different values and different kinds of orientations to the world (Stanley 2010). There are currently four generational cohorts in today's nursing workforce (Keepnews et al. 2010): the Veterans (born 1922–1946), Baby Boomers (1947–1964), Generation X (1965–1978), and Generation Y (also called Millennials, Net Generation, Nexters, Nintendo Generation and Digital Natives) (1978–2000) (LeVasseur et al. 2009, Hutchinson et al. 2012). However, in the literature different time attributes concerning the start and end year of each generations are presented. Accordingly, in some cases in the literature the two youngest age groups are combined as a single generational group.

For example, LaVasseur et al. (2009) use the term '*GenXMs*' (Generation Xers and Millennials combined) to describe the youngest generation in the workforce.

These two youngest generations, generations X and Y, share many similarities; both generations are competent with technology, both values a balance between personal and professional life, and both are ambitious (Kupperschmidt 2001). However, even though these two generations share many similarities (Lavoie-Tremblay et al. (2011), they also have their own distinguishing characteristics, some of which are described in Table 7.

Generation X (born 1965–1978)	Generation Y (born 1978–2000)
Entered job market in the economic decline and learnt that higher education is the only way to get a proper job (Cordeniz 2002, Kupperschmidt 1998).	"were raised in a period of prosperity, pluralism, in- teractive media, increased federal spending on chil- dren, and societal focus on family values and child safety devices" (Kupperschmidt 2001, p. 570).
Pragmatism, independence and resourceful, but also self-absorbed, cynical, materialistic, and lack- ing of a work ethic (Kupperschmidt 1998).	The most educated and technologically knowledge- able generation (Lower 2008).
Value autonomy, recognition and intellectual stimulation (Takase et al. 2009).	"combine the work ethic of baby boomers with the can- do attitude of veterans and the technological savvy of generation Xers" (Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2008, 726).
Less loyal to the employer than earlier generations (Smola & Sutton 2002).	Appreciate flexible work schedules and shifts, pro- fessional development, and adequate supervision (Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2010).
Career mobility as a fact of life. Can choose nurs- ing just as a stepping stone for other job or other countries (Duffied et al 2004b).	Recognition (monetary and peer recognition) are the key motivators in career (Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2010).
The idea of a lifetime career is undesirable for the generation Xers (Duffield et al. 2006).	Want to be consulted and acknowledged for their contributions in the workplace (Clendon & Walker 2012).

The younger generations of nurses differ in many ways from the older generations; for example, age has been related to nurses' perceptions of their work and work environment (Currie & Carr Hill 2012). In a study by Blythe et al. (2008), the youngest nurses (20–29) reported higher levels of stress, were more emotionally exhausted, and experienced greater depersonalisation, but they found their work fulfilling. The youngest cohort of nurses has been reported to be less satisfied with their job (Wilson et al. 2008, Wieck et al. 2010, Gurková et al. 2013) and more worried about their employment security (Laine et al. 2009) than older nurses. Younger generations value economic returns and job security more highly than do older generations (Takase et al. 2009). In units where a higher proportion of young RNs (under 35 years of age) are working, higher turnover intention has also been reported (Tschannen et al. 2010).

Generation X nurses have reported more negative experiences and a greater intention to leave the job than baby boomers (Leiter et al. 2010). Moreover, the level of burnout is reported to be higher among the youngest employees (Maslach et al. 2001), and generation X nurses have reported more symptoms of job burnout and are more inclined to change their jobs than nurses of the baby boomer generation (Leiter et al. 2009). Contradictory findings also exist, however; Stordeur et al. (2003) found a U-shaped relationship between age and job satisfaction. The youngest nurses were the most satisfied; however, job satisfaction began to decline from the age of 30. In Klaus et al.'s (2012) study, the youngest cohort (20–29) also reported higher job satisfaction scores than any other. Furthermore, in a study by Keepnews et al. (2010) generation Y nurses reported greater organizational commitment than generation X and baby boomers.

It has been recommended that more research should be conducted on the motivations, expectations and needs of generation Y nurses (Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2010). Moreover, it has been noted that a limited amount of research has been conducted on what first attracted generation Y to nursing or what might retain them in the nursing workforce (Hutchinson et al. 2012). However, although the amount of research investigating nurse turnover form a generational perceptive is increasing (Takase et al. 2009, Hayes et al. 2012), growing criticism has been directed at this generational literature. These critiques have been presented because in the literature there is considerable variance in exactly when each generation begins and ends (Costanza et al. 2012) and there is little agreement on the composition of each generation (Parry & Urwin 2011). Also, national culture and different historical, political and technological events pose challenges to generation theories; research on the experiences of generations in the United States, for example, cannot be directly mapped onto experiences in other countries (Parry & Urwin 2011). The empirical literature also assumes that within a generation, both genders have similar experiences (Parry & Urwin 2011). It can be concluded that empirical evidence on generational differences in work values is mixed (Parry & Urwin 2011) and fraught with methodological limitations (Costanza et al. 2012).

#### 3.7 Literature concerning graduate registered nurses

All young RNs can be defined as graduates in the early stage of their career. The experiences of nursing graduates have been widely examined in the nursing literature (Newton & McKenna 2007). Newly qualified nurses have reported experiences of stress and difficulties in transition from being a student to the role of a registered nurse in a different countries; for example in Ireland (Suresh et al. 2013), Norway (Bjerknes & Bjørk 2012), Canada (Duchscher 2008, Duchscher 2009), Japan (Tominaga & Miki 2011), United Kingdom (Higgins et al. 2010) and the United States (Zinsmeister & Schafer 2009, Pellico et al. 2009, Unruh & Nooney 2011).

As far back as five decades ago, in the late 1960s, Margaret Kramer developed the concept of '*Reality Shock*', a concept she still uses to describe the experiences of newly graduated

nurses when they are transitioning from the nursing schools to their first workplaces in hospitals. These graduate nurses experience reality shocks because their expectations and the ideas learned in the nursing school did not meet the realities they face in the workplace. (Kramer 1974, Kramer et al. 2013.) The Canadian researcher Duchscher developed Kramer's concept of a reality shock further in her longitudinal, evolving programme of qualitative research (Duchscher 2008, Duchscher 2009). Duchscher uses the concept of '*Transition Shock*' to describe the reaction by new nurses when they enter nursing practice environments as newly qualified nurses. In her transition theory, a staged experience of transition that occurs during the initial 12 months of the graduate's introduction to professional practice environments is described (Duchscher 2008, Duchscher 2009). According to this theory, if the transition process fails it could drive graduate nurses towards leaving the profession (Duchscher 2009).

The transition from the protected environment of a nursing school to the unfamiliar context of professional practice has been described as a difficult journey (Duchscher 2009). This transition period is: "a time when nurses need to consolidate their knowledge and skills, and adjust to their new role" (Edwards et al. 2011, p. 1). During this transition period, many graduate nurses report the intention to leave their job (Kovner et al. 2007, Yeh & Yu 2009) and their organizational turnover rates are high (Bowles & Candela 2005). Graduate RNs have also reported concerns about whether their level of knowledge is adequate for the workplace (Andersson & Edberg 2010). Moreover, they have reported that their job satisfaction is reduced by role overload and role ambiguity (Chang & Hancock 2003).

Newly graduated RNs have reported experiences of burnout (Laschinger et al. 2009), bullying (Laschinger et al. 2012a, Laschinger et al. 2012b), emotional exhaustion (Lanchinger 2012) and dissatisfaction with their pay (Casey et al. 2004, Murrells et al. 2008). Graduates have been dissatisfied with their schedules and career opportunities (Casey et al. 2004). Moreover, graduates of a younger age have been defined as especially vulnerable to early-career burnout; in a study by Rudman and Gustavsson (2011) almost a fifth of graduate nurses reported extremely high levels of burnout during their first three years after graduation. In this study, burnout was also associated with the intention to leave the profession. Hallin and Danielson (2008) found that RNs six years after their graduation described nursing as offering them broad horizons and the potential for advancement. However, they also felt that their expertise was undervalued and under used. Moreover, novice nurses have cited unfriendliness and unsupportiveness in the workplace as reasons for them to leave the profession (MacKusick & Minick 2012).

#### 3.8 Intention to leave the profession within professions other than RNs

A strong intention to leave the profession are observed in Finland within other professions, such as social workers (Matela 2011), physicians (Lindfors et al. 2009) and teachers (Jokinen 2013) (Table 8). In international studies, professional leaving intentions have been at a moderate level among physicians (McComb 2008), teachers (Hancock &

Scherff 2010, Pomaki et al. 2010, Ciftcioglu 2013), social workers (Whitaker et al. 2006), substance abuse counsellors (Rothrauff et al. 2011) and certified athletic trainers (Terranova & Henning 2011). However, it is difficult to compare the professional leaving intentions of different professionals, because many different kinds of items with different timeframes have been used to measure intentions to leave the profession.

Author, year, country	Sample	Item used to measure leaving intention	Intention to leave the profession	Key Findings
Lindfors et al. (2009), Finland	328 physicians (anaesthetists)	"If possible, would you change your job to one in another profession with the same salary?"	43% of the physicians were willing to consider changing their job to a profession other than medicine (with the same salary).	Conflicts with co- workers and superiors showed the strongest association with career change intentions.
McComb (2008), New Zealand	566 physicians (general practitioners)	"I intend to leave general practice within 6 month." "I intend to leave general practice within five years."	12% of physicians indicated an intention to leave general practice within 6 months, and nearly a third (29%) indicated an intention to leave within five years.	Intention to leave was highest amongst physicians aged 60 and over.
Jokinen (2013), Finland	1,938 teachers	Not available	17% of teachers were seriously considering changing the profession.	Personal relationships and the atmosphere are important for the retention of teachers.
Ciftcioglu, (2013), Turkey	146 teachers working in high school	The three-item scale was used to measure leaving intention.	Mean rate for occupational turnover intention was 2.05.	Teachers with a positive prestige perception of teaching had high affective commitment to their occupation, and low occupational turnover intention.
Hancock & Scherff (2010), United States	4,520 full-time English teachers	"How long do you plan to remain in teaching?"	71% of the teachers planned to teach as long as they were able or until eligible for retirement.	Many factors were associated with teachers' attrition, e.g. being a minority teacher, years of teaching experience and teacher apathy.
Pomaki et al. (2010), Canada	71 teachers	"If the opportunity would arise, I would quit the teaching profession"	Median for turnover intention was 1.95 (SD .52, scale 1-4)	Colleague support was associated with teachers' turnover intention.

**Table 8.** Intention to leave the profession within professions other than RNs.

Author, year, country	Sample	Item used to measure leaving intention	Intention to leave the profession	Key Findings
Whitaker et al. (2006), United States	4,900 social workers	Career plans for the next two years were questioned.	4.7% of social workers indicate they will leave social work, but continue working, within two years.	Those who had intention to leave the profession were more likely to be aged 26 to 34.
Matela (2011), Finland	157 social workers employed in child welfare	a change of	55% of the respondents had considered a change of occupation frequently during the previous year.	Organizational culture and management affected the retention and leaving intention among social workers.
Rothrauff et al. (2011), United States	929 substance abuse counsellors working in private substance abuse treatment (SAT) programmes.	"I am exploring	5% of counsellors were definitely thinking about leaving the field, 7% were exploring options outside the field and 4% were intending to leave the field within the next year.	Younger and noncertified counsellors had stronger intention to leave the field than older and certified substance abuse counsellors.
Terranova & Henning (2011), United States	191 Certified Athletic Trainers (ATs)	"What is the probability you will be working in the athletic training profession one year from today" "Within the past 6 months how often have you considered leaving the athletic training profession?"	Mean score for the item measuring consideration to leave the profession within the past 6 months was 1.36 (scale 1–4).	There was a strong negative correlation between various facets of job satisfaction and intent to leave the profession.

When comparing RNs to other professionals (e.g. physicians or teachers) common variables can be found concerning the intention to leave the profession. Younger persons also tend to have higher levels of intention to leave the profession than older persons in other professions. For example, in Heponiemi et al.'s (2009) study, younger physicians (n = 2,650) in Finland had a stronger intention to change their profession than did older physicians. In the study by Whitaker et al. (2006), social workers who had an intention to leave the profession were more likely to be between the ages of 26 and 34. Moreover, younger certified substance abuse counsellors have reported a stronger intention to leave than their older colleagues (Rothrauff et al. 2011). Affective commitment has been associated with RNs' (Laine 2005) as well as teachers' (Ciftcioglu 2013) intent to leave their profession.

### 4. LITERATURE REVIEW CONCERNING NURSES' INTENTION TO LEAVE THE PROFESSION

The literature review for this dissertation was constructed of two parts. Firstly, an integrative literature review concerning nurses' intention to leave the profession with the time frame from 1985 to July 2009 was conducted (Paper I). Secondly, in this summary the literature review was updated to cover the research published during the last five years (2008–2013) (Appendix 2).

Although the first integrative literature review searches for Paper I were conducted under the guidance of a library information specialist, the initial literature search was more restricted than the updated literature review (conducted for this summary). This could be the reason why in the subsequent updated search two studies was located from the year 2007 (Chang et al. 2007, Enberg et al. 2007) and five studies from the year 2008 (Estryn-Behar et al. 2008, Hasselhorn et al. 2008, Kankaanranta & Rissanen 2008, Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2008, Scott et al. 2008, Widerszal-Bazyl et al. 2008) that were not found in the original search. Therefore, when the literature review was updated, the year 2008 was added to the search. The studies that were not located for the integrative literature review (Paper I) were added to this summary.

Integrative reviews (Paper I, Summary) were performed in order to identify, evaluate and synthesize the published peer-reviewed research literature concerning nurses' intention to leave the profession, both in Finland and internationally.

### 4.1 Literature search

The search strategy used in the updated literature review to obtain relevant articles contained three databases: PubMed (2008–October 2013), CINAHL (Cumulative Index to Nursing & Allied Health Literature) (2008–October 2013), and Social Sciences Citation Index (2008–October 2013).

Both MeSH terms (medical subject heading) searches and free text searches were employed.

The following MeSH terms searches were conducted: "Personnel Turnover" and "Nurses". Moreover, a combination of the following search words was used: "nurse\*", "nursing", "leaving intention", "personnel turnover", "intention to leave", "turnover of workforce", "staff turnover", "turnover of workers", "intent to stay", "intention to stay", "career mobility", "leav\*", "profession", "nursing". In Table 9, the filters/limiters used when conducting the updated database searches are described.

Databases	Filters, limiters
PubMed	Abstract available; Publication date from 2008/01/01; English; Adult: 19–44 years; Middle Aged: 45–64 years; Young Adult: 19–24 years
CINAHL	Abstract Available; Published Date: 2008/01/01–2013/12/31; English Language; Peer Reviewed; Exclude MEDLINE records; Age Groups: Adult: 19–44 years, Middle Aged: 45–64 years
Social Sciences Citation Index	Refined by: Web of Science Categories = (NURSING OR HEALTH CARE SCI- ENCES SERVICES OR HEALTH POLICY SERVICES OR ECONOMICS OR MANAGEMENT OR SOCIAL ISSUES OR PSYCHOLOGY MULTIDISCI- PLINARY OR BEHAVIORAL SCIENCES) AND Document Types = (ARTICLE OR REVIEW) AND Research Areas = (NURSING OR SOCIAL ISSUES OR HEALTH CARE SCIENCES SERVICES OR EDUCATION EDUCATIONAL RE- SEARCH OR PSYCHOLOGY OR BEHAVIORAL SCIENCES) AND Languages = (ENGLISH) AND Publication Years = (2012 OR 2011 OR 2009 OR 2010 OR 2013 OR 2008) Timespan = All years. Databases = SCI-EXPANDED, SSCI, A&H- CI, CPCI-S, CPCI-SSH

Table 9. Filters/limiters used when conducting updated database searches (October 2013).

The following inclusion criteria were used when updating the literature review: (1) the study had to include analysis of empirical data concerning RNs' intention to leave the profession; (2) the sample had to include RNs – other nurses (for example nursing aids, licensed practical nurses) might be included in the samples; (3) the language had to be English, Swedish or Finnish; (4) the studies were published from 2008 onwards; (5) the studies were published in a journal. Articles concerning organizational turnover and nursing students were excluded. Moreover, books, dissertations, reports, editorials, opinions, discussions or grey literature were also excluded.

The initial search strategy identified a total of 677 articles, once duplicates were removed. Firstly, the title and abstract (if available) were inspected. If the abovementioned criteria were met, the full article was read. If the article met the criteria, it was included in the review. Using the preliminary inclusion criteria, the article screening yielded 44 research studies published in peer-reviewed journals. The following data were extracted from these 44 studies: author(s), year, country of origin, design, aim of the study, sample, setting, the main results, proportion of nurses with an intention to leave the profession, measurement instrument/scales used in the study and the item(s) used to measure leaving intention.

#### 4.2 Description of the included research

All reviewed studies were either quantitative (n = 43) or had a mixed method design (n = 1). Self-administered survey questionnaires were the most common method of data collection in these studies. Most of the studies reported cross-sectional data. Studies based on the NEXT study data (Hasselhorn et al. 2008, Estryn-Behar et al. 2008, van der Heijden et al. 2009, Derycke et al. 2010, Estryn-Behar et al. 2010, Li et al. 2010, van

der Heijden et al. 2010, Li et al. 2011, Derycke et al. 2012) and LANE study data were reporting longitudinal data (Rudman et al. 2010, Rudman & Gustavsson 2011, Rudman & Gustavsson 2012, Rudman & Gustavsson 2013).

Providing a comprehensive review of the existing research concerning RNs professional turnover intent was difficult, because a clear definition of concept 'intent to leave the profession' was lacking in the reviewed studies. There were many different approaches to how professional turnover intention was operationalized in the questionnaires, and therefore a comparison between the studies concerning the rate of leaving intention was difficult. Moreover, many of these instruments, scales and items to measure leaving intention had been developed for the particular study and were not previously validated. The timeframe in these items related to leaving intention also varied from 'next year' (Heinen et al. 2013) to 'within the next 3–5 years' (DiMattio et al. 2010).

# 4.3 Proportion of young RNs and graduate RNs with an intention to leave the profession

Research concerning young RNs' intent to leave the profession is scarce. Only two studies were located in which the experiences of particularly young nurses (under 30 years old) were investigated (Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2008, Glendon & Walker 2012). Three more studies were identified where the mean age of the participants was less than 30 years (Scott et al. 2008, Laschinger 2012, Lee et al. 2013). Moreover, in Salminen's (2012) study, approximately one-quarter (27%, n = 94) of the participants were under 35 years of age. In five of the studies, the sample was comprised of graduate nurses; however, the mean age in these studies was over 30 years (Enberg et al. 2007, DiMattio et al. 2010, Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2011) or was not presented (Rudman & Gustavsson 2010, Rudman & Gustafsson 2011).

Young nurses' and graduate RNs intention to leave the profession varied across studies from 6% (Scott et al. 2008) up to 59% (Lee et al. 2012). In most of these studies, the percentage rates of RNs with an intention to leave the profession were reported. In some studies, however, only the mean for the scale or the item measuring leaving intention was presented (example Chang et al. 2008, Laschinger 2012) which makes the comparison of leaving intention difficult (Table 10).

Author, year	Country	Sampla siza	Consider leaving nursing %
Lee et al. (2013)	<b>Country</b> Taiwan	Sample size 1,283 nurses working in acute- care hospitals (mean age 29.2, SD = 4.94).	59% were reporting intent to leave the profession.
Rudman & Gustavsson (2013)	Sweden	1,417 new graduates (mean age in the first year of nursing education was 28.4).	9.1% to 18.1% of graduates strongly intended to leave the profession across the first five years of employment.
Clendon & Walker (2012)	New Zealand	647 nurses, aged under 30 years.	Over 10% of these young nurses were considering leaving the nursing profession.
Laschinger (2012)	Canada	342 new graduate nurses, mean age of 28.22 (SD 6.79).	Mean for the career chance was 1.53 (range 1–5)
Rudman & Gustavsson (2012)	Sweden	1,702 students/new graduate. Average age of nursing student was 28 (SD 7) (ranging from 20 to 52 years) at the first data collection.	Mean for occupational turnover intentions scale was 1.36 (SD 0.68, range 1–5)
Salminen (2012)	Finland	343 RNs, of those 94 RNs were under 35 years.	Nurses age of under 35 years, 37% had frequent intention to leave the profession.
Rudman & Gustavsson (2011)	Sweden	1,153 new graduate nurses, of those 279 were under 25 years of age (defined as young in this study).	10–20% of graduate nurses had intention to leave the profession.
Lavoie-Tremblay et al. (2011)	Canada	145 nurses, of those 86 nurses were 24 years or younger (58.3%). Total of 59 nurses were between 25 and 44 years old (40.7%).	9.7% of nurses expressed intent to quit their profession.
DiMattio et al. (2010)	United States	390 graduate nurses, mean age 33.65 years (SD 7.30).	26.9% of graduate nurses intended to leave hospital nursing within the next 3–5 years.
Rudman et al. (2010)	Sweden	4,306 graduate nurses completed the baseline questionnaire. Total of 24.5 % of the 2006 cohort were under 29 years old.	10.1% of the cohort who graduated in year 2002 intended to leave the profession one year after graduating. 19.0 % of nurses who graduated in year 2006 were having intention to leave the profession.
Lavoie-Tremblay et al. (2008)	Canada	309 RNs, mean age 22.6 years (range from 20 to 25 years).	12.6% of RNs intended to leave the nursing profession.
Scott et al. (2008)	United States	329 new graduate nurses, mean age 29 years.	6% of the new graduates intended to leave within 3 years.
Chang et al. (2008)	Taiwan	177 nurses, mean age 29.88.	Median for occupational turnover intention was 3.65 (SD 1.50, range 1–7).
Enberg et al. (2007)	Sweden	840 graduate nurses (80%), occupational therapists (11%) and physiotherapists (9%), mean age 32 years (range 23–55 years).	One fifth of the new graduates had thoughts of leaving the profession 3 years after graduation.

<b>Table 10.</b> Young and graduate	RNs intention to leave the	profession (update	ed integrative review).
-------------------------------------	----------------------------	--------------------	-------------------------

#### 4.4 Proportion of RNs (all ages) intending to leave the profession

The operationalization of RNs' intention to leave the profession has wide-ranging variation in the research concerning nurses' intention to leave the profession. Many different instruments, scales and items have been used to measure nurses' intention to leave the profession, and the intention to leave the profession varies considerably across the studies, from 3% (Eley et al. 2010, HRSA 2010) up to 25% (Salminen 2012) (Table 11).

**Table 11.** Percentage of nurses with the intention to leave the nursing profession in included studies (2008–2013).

Author	Country	Sample size	Consider leaving nursing %
Gurková et al. (2013)	Czech and Slovak Republics	1,055 RNs	Information was not available.
Heinen et al. (2013)	12 European countries	23,159 nurses	9% of nurses had an intention to leave the profession.
Mohamed & Mohamed (2013)	Egypt	83 nurses	Mean score for profession retention was 72.6 (SD 30.7, scale was not available).
Unruh & Zhang (2013)	United States	414 RNs	8.6% of RNs were strongly agreeing or agreeing with the item concerning thinking about leaving the nursing profession. Mean of intent to leave nursing composite was $1.9$ (SD = 0.76, scale 1–5).
Cortese (2012)	Italy	512 nurses	14.6 % of nurses reported intention to leave the profession altogether.
Derycke et al. (2012)	Belgium	1531 healthcare workers	8% were having high intention to leave the profession.
Hinno et al. (2012)	Finland	334 RNs	10% of nurses had often thought about changing their profession during the year prior to the survey
Salminen (2012)	Finland	343 RNs	25% of the nurses had frequently thought about leaving the profession.
Mariani (2012)	United States	173 RNs	Mean score for intention to stay the nursing profession was 18.51 (range 0-40 years)
Wang et al. (2012b)	China	560 nurses	The mean score for intent to stay was $3.56$ (SD = 0.65).
Lavoie-Tremblay et al. (2011)	Canada	145 nurses	9.7% of nurses expressed intent to quit their profession.
Li et al. (2011)	Seven European countries	6,469 RNs	8.24% expressed intention to leave the profession in the follow-up examination.
De Milt et al. (2011)	United States	254 nurse practitioners	5.5% (n = 14) had intention to leave the profession.
Zeytinoglu et al. (2011)	Canada	1396 nurses	16% of the nurses indicated an intention to leave the nursing profession
Derycke et al. (2010)	Belgium	1,531 nurses	20.5% had strong intention to leave the profession

Author	Country	Sample size	Consider leaving nursing %
Estryn-Behar et al. (2010)	Ten European countries	23,517 nurses/1,526 nurses	26.4-7.9% of nurses were having intention to leave the profession.
Jourdain & Chenevert (2010)	Canada	1,636 nurses	Median for the intent to leave the profession was 2.04 (scale 1–5).
HRSA (2010)	United States	466,564 RNs	3% of RNs had intention to leave the profession.
Eley et al. (2010)	Australia	272 nursing students/259 RNs and enrolled nurses	2.9% of nurses reported having 1–2 years anticipated future time in nursing.
Fitzpatrick et al. (2010)	United States	6,589 nurses	7% critical care nurses intended to leave profession.
Kuokkanen et al. (2010)	Finland	551 RN	34% of RNs had considered changing their career.
Li et al. (2010)	China	1,521 RNs	16.26% had intention to leave nursing.
Simon et al. (2010)	Germany	2,119 nurses	18% considered leaving the profession.
Van Bogaerd et al. (2010)	Belgium	546 nurses	9.2% of staff nurses had intention to leave nursing.
van der Heijden et al. (2010)	Eight European countries	17,524 RNs	Mean for intention to leave the profession varied from 1.56 (SD 0.94, scale 1–5) to 1.87 (SD 1.17, scale 1–5) among eight countries.
El-Jardali et al. (2009)	Lebanon	1,793 RNs	29.4% of RNs with intent to leave the hospital were also planning to leave the profession.
Laine et al. (2009)	Ten European countries	39,893 nurses	15% were thinking of giving up nursing every month or more often.
van der Heijden et al. (2009)	The Netherlands	1,187 RNs	Mean for occupational turnover intention was 1.51 (SD 0.68, scale1–5)
Chang et al. (2008)	Taiwan	177 nurses	Median for occupational turnover intention was 3.65 (SD 1.50, scale 1–7).
Estryn-Behar et al. (2008)	Ten European countries	13,537 nurses	Not reported.
Hasselhorn et al. (2008)	Eight European countries	23,523 RNs	13.9% of RNs reported intent to leave the nursing profession frequently.
Kankaanranta & Rissanen (2008)	Finland	2,866 RNs	5.3% of RNs had plans to change to a job outside the health-care sector in the next 5 years.
Widerszal-Bazyl et al. (2008)	Six European countries	16,052 nurses	Median for the intent to leave the nursing was 1.8 (scale 1–5).

Moreover, nurses' intention to leave their profession has been shown to vary between different countries. According to an RN4CAST study (n = 33,659 nurses/Europe; 27,509 nurses/United States), the proportion of nurses intending to leave the profession ranged from 5% (in the Netherlands) to 17% (in Germany) (Heinen et al., 2013). In the NEXT study, the strongest intention to leave the profession was measured from RNs in Italy

(20%) and the lowest (7.5%) in the Netherlands (Hasselhorn et al. 2008). In the United States, the reported intention to leave the profession has been lower than in Europe; it has been reported that the percentage of RNs intending to leave nursing within 3 years is approximately 3% (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services [HRSA], 2010).

# 4.5 Variables associated with young RNs and graduate RNs intention to leave the profession

Little is known about the variables associated with young RNs' intention to leave the profession. For example Clendon and Walker (2012) investigated, in their mixed-method study, young nurses' (aged less than 30 years) experiences in their early career. Lavoie-Tremblay et al. (2008) conducted a cross-sectional survey study with newly-registered nurses (mean age 22.6) in Canada. In Scott et al.'s (2008) study, the transition of new graduate nurses into working life (mean age 29) was investigated. In Laschinger's (2012) study, the turnover intention of newly graduated nurses (mean age 28) was investigated. In Table 12, the variables associated with young RNs' intention to leave the profession are presented.

Variable	Author(s)
Burnout	Rudman & Gustavsson 2013, Laschinger 2012, DiMattio et al. 2010
Burnout during education	Rudman & Gustavsson 2012
Low work engagement	Laschinger 2012
Dissatisfaction with the initial orientation	Laschinger 2012
The emotional challenge of nursing	Clendon & Walker 2012
Being younger	Rudman et al. 2010
Challenges of nursing	Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2008
Effort/reward imbalance	Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2008
Elevated job strain	Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2008
High psychological demands	Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2008
Career dissatisfaction	Scott et al. 2008

Table 12. Variables associated with young RNs and graduate RNs intention to leave the profession.

## 4.6 Variables associated with registered nurses' (of all ages) intention to leave the profession

According to the updated literature review, RNs' intention to leave the profession continues to be driven by a number of variables, including individual related, employment related, practice environment related and nursing outcomes related variables.

52

There are common *individual related variables* among RNs with a stronger intention to leave the profession (Table 13). Being younger (Estryn-Behar et al. 2008, Widerszal-Bazyl et al. 2008, Simon et al. 2010, Tsai et al. 2010, van der Heijden et al. 2010, Cortese 2012, Salminen 2012, Wang et al. 2012b, Gurková et al. 2013, Mohamed & Mohamed 2013) has been associated with a stronger intention to leave the profession in several studies. However, conflicting findings also exist. According to the RN4CAST study, older nurses also have a higher intention to leave the profession (Heinen et al. 2013). Male gender (Estryn-Behar 2008, Heinen et al. 2013) as well as poor health (Jourdain & Chenevert 2010, Unruh & Zhang 2013) are among the variables that have received support from more than one study. Other individual-related variables associated with an intention to leave the profession include having fewer children (Widerszal-Bazyl et al. 2008), a higher level of education (Widerszal-Bazyl et al. 2008), being a specialist nurse (Estryn-Behar 2008), low work ability (Salminen 2012) and concerns about being unable to work (Laine et al. 2009).

Individual-related variables	Author(s)
Being younger	Estryn-Behar et al. 2008, Widerszal-Bazyl et al. 2008, Simon et al. 2010, Tsai et al. 2010, van der Heijden et al. 2010, Cor- tese 2012, Salminen 2012, Wang et al. 2012b, Gurková et al. 2013, Mohamed & Mohamed 2013
Being older	Heinen et al. 2013
Male gender	Estryn-Behar 2008, Heinen et al. 2013
Poor health	Jourdain & Chenevert 2010, Unruh & Zhang 2013
Fewer children	Widerszal-Bazyl et al. 2008
Higher level of education	Widerszal-Bazyl et al. 2008
Being a specialist nurse	Estryn-Behar 2008
Low work ability	Salminen 2012
Concern about being unable to work	Laine et al. 2009
A substantial change in work ability	Derycke et al. 2012

Table 13. Individual-related variables in relation to intention to leave the profession.

*Employment-related variables* (Table 14) have also been associated with a higher intention to leave the profession; for example, shift work (Eley et al. 2010, Unruh & Zhang 2013) and working part-time (Cortese 2012, Heinen et al. 2013). Other variables include having a temporary employment contract (Widerszal-Bazyl et al. 2008) and skills in balance with or above the present work's demands (Salminen 2012). Some conflicting findings also exist. In a study by Unruh and Zhang (2013), a longer tenure in nursing was associated with a stronger leaving intention. However, in the study by Gurková et al. (2013), nurses with a shorter length of practise (less than 5 years) had a higher intention to leave the profession.

Employment related variables	Author(s)
Working in shift work	Eley et al. 2010, Unruh & Zhang 2013
Working part-time	Cortese et al. 2012, Heinen et al. 2013
Having a temporary employment contract	Widerszal-Bazyl et al. 2008
Having a low position	Wang et al. 2012b
Skills in balance with or above present work demands	Salminen 2012
Longer tenure in nursing	Unruh & Zhang 2013
Shorter length of practise (less than 5 years)	Gurková et al. 2013

Table 14. Employment-related variables in relation to intention to leave the profession.

Many different variables that can be defined as *nurse practice environment related variables* have been associated with an intention to leave the profession (Table 15). Difficult working conditions (Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2008), a demanding job (Widerszal-Bazyl et al. 2008, Unruh & Zhang 2013), monotonous work (Kankaanranta & Rissanen 2008) and excessive duties (Kankaanranta & Rissanen 2008) have all been associated with such an intention.

Nurse practice environment related variables	Author(s)	
Demanding job	Widerszal-Bazyl et al. 2008, Unruh & Zhang 2013	
Monotonous work	Kankaanranta & Rissanen 2008	
Excessive duties	Kankaanranta & Rissanen 2008	
High emotional demands	Li et al. 2010	
Ethical problems in work	Kuokkanen et al. 2010	
Difficult working conditions	Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2008	
Violence from patients/relatives	Estryn-Behar 2008	
Low quality of teamwork	Estryn-Behar 2008	
Low predictability	Li et al. 2010	
Perceived employment opportunities outside nursing	Widerszal-Bazyl et al. 2008	
Effort-reward imbalance	Derycke et al. 2010	
Inadequate staffing	Hinno et al. 2012	
Low participation in hospital affairs	Heinen et al. 2013	
Low assurance for nursing competence	Hinno et al. 2012	
Low possibilities for specialization	Kankaanranta & Rissanen 2008	
Low support for professional development	Hinno et al. 2012	
Low possibilities for development	Li et al. 2010	
Low level of social support from one's direct superior and from close colleagues	van der Heijden et al. 2010	
Perceptions of job difficulties	Unruh & Zhang 2013	

Table 15. Nurse practice environment related variables in relation to intention to leave the profession.

*Nurse outcome related variables* have also been associated with RNs' intention to leave the profession (Table 16). Burnout is the associated variable that has received the most support in the empirical literature (Jourdain & Chenevert 2010, Simon et al. 2010, Laschinger 2012, Heinen et al. 2013, Rudman & Gustavsson 2013). Moreover, burnout during nursing education (Rudman & Gustavsson 2012), job strain (Hasselhorn et al. 2008), and emotional exhaustion (Jourdain and Chenevert 2010) have all been related to a stronger intention to leave the profession. According to the RN4CAST -study, burnout was associated with a higher intention to leave the profession across ten European countries (Heinen et al. 2013).

Many different forms of low commitment have been associated with an intention to leave the profession. Low commitment to the workplace (Li et al. 2010), low organizational commitment (Salminen 2012), low professional commitment (Jourdain and Chenevert 2010), low occupational commitment (Wang et al. 2012b), low affective occupational commitment (Chang et al. 2007) have all been associated with the intention to leave. Low job satisfaction has also received empirical support in relation to the intention to leave (Kankaanranta & Rissanen 2008, Li et al. 2010, van der Heijden et al. 2010, Salminen 2012, Wang et al. 2012b, Gurková et al. 2013), as well as dissatisfaction with pay/wages (Cortese 2012, Kankaanranta & Rissanen 2008).

Nurse outcome related variables	Author(s)
Low commitment to the workplace, low organizational commitment, low professional commitment, low occupa- tional commitment, low affective occupational commitment	Li et al. 2010, Salminen 2012, Jourdain and Chenevert 2010, Wang et al. 2012b, Chang et al. 2007
Burnout, emotional exhaustion	DiMattio et al. 2010, Jourdain et al. 2010, Jourdain & Chenevert 2010, Simon et al. 2010, Laschinger 2012, Heinen et al. 2013
Job dissatisfaction	Kankaanranta & Rissanen 2008, Li et al. 2010, van der Heijden et al. 2010, Salminen 2012, Wang et al. 2012b, Gurková et al. 2013
Career dissatisfaction	Scott et al. 2008
Dissatisfaction with pay/wage	Kankaanranta & Rissanen 2008, Cortese 2012
Low work engagement	Laschinger 2012
Reward frustration at work	Li et al. 2011
Dissatisfaction with the leadership/management	Heinen et al. 2013, Hinno et al. 2012
Dissatisfaction for professional status	Cortese 2012
Dissatisfaction with nurse-physician relationship	Heinen et al. 2013
High qualitative job insecurity	Laine et al. 2009
Dissatisfaction with the initial orientation	Laschinger 2012
Disillusionment with nursing	Eley et al. 2010
Low meaning of work	Li et al. 2010
Low level of empowerment	Fitzpatrick et al. 2010
Low job control	Unruh & Zhang 2013
Low control of work	Mohamed & Mohamed 2013
Dissatisfaction with work organizational policies	Cortese et al. 2012

Table 16. Nurse outcome related variables in relation to intention to leave the profession.

#### 4.7 Summary of the theoretical basis of the study

In conclusion, during the past four decades a considerable amount of research and a number of theoretical models have been implemented in order to understand and explain why RNs have the intention to leave their organization. Less research has been implemented in order to understand why RNs have the intention to leave the profession and theoretical models related to this phenomenon are rare. Although the current research suggests that young RNs have a stronger intention to leave the profession than older RNs, only a few studies have been implemented in order to understand why this may be so. Moreover, the voices of young RNs who have an intention to leave the profession have rarely been studied from their own perspective.

Previously, RNs' intention to leave their profession has mainly been studied using quantitative studies and with survey questionnaires – qualitative research on this topic is very limited. RNs have reported a greater intention to leave their organization than the profession. The rates of intention to leave the profession vary considerably among the earlier studies, reflecting the wide-ranging variation of the items used to measure leaving intention. RNs' intention to leave the profession has been found to predict their actual decision to do so.

In earlier research, many different variables have been associated with RNs' intention to leave the profession. A clear picture of this phenomenon has not emerged. The current knowledge indicates that individual, employment, practice-environment and nurse-outcome related variables have all been associated with the intention to leave the profession. However, some of these variables have only surfaced in a single study, and therefore do not constitute a cumulative knowledge base.

In summary, it can be concluded that there is a clear lack of empirical evidence for why young RNs in particular have the intention to leave their profession. According to the RN4CAST authors, it might be that a valid European model for nurses' intention to leave the profession cannot be presented; therefore, national-level investigations are important alongside multinational studies (Heinen et al. 2013). Young RNs' professional turnover intent should thus also be investigated in the Finnish health-care context.

#### 4.7.1 What is already known?

- There is a dearth of research explicitly investigating young RNs' intention to leave the profession.
- Younger RNs have reported a higher intention to leave the profession than older RNs. However, conflicting findings also exist.
- Young RNs' intention to leave the profession has mainly been studied using descriptive studies, completed with survey questionnaires. Only one previous in-

#### 56 Literature Review Concerning Nurses' Intention to Leave the Profession

depth research was identified where young RNs' intention to leave the profession was investigated (Clendon & Walker 2012).

- Current research indicates that burnout, low work engagement, dissatisfaction with the initial orientation, the emotional challenge of nursing, challenges of nursing, an effort/reward imbalance, elevated job strain, high psychological demands and career dissatisfaction are likely to affect young RNs' intention to leave their profession.
- There is no clear definition of the term 'intent to leave the profession' used in research concerning young RNs' professional turnover intent, and therefore a variety of items have been used to measure leaving intention.
- Based on the current knowledge, it is not clear why some young RNs make the final decision to leave the profession and why some do not, even though both express a strong leaving intention in survey questionnaires.

#### 4.7.2 What are the gaps in the existing knowledge?

- Because young RNs have reported fairly high levels of intention to leave the profession, more research is needed in order to better understand why this generational group has this intention early in their careers.
- The amount of research investigating RNs' turnover intent from a generational perceptive has been growing over the past few years; however, more research is still needed.
- More longitudinal studies should be conducted, including in-depth methods, were young RNs are actually followed through the transition processes from having an intention to leave the profession to making a final decision to do so.
- There is a need to investigate young RNs' intention to leave the profession by using qualitative methods and to produce studies with more in-depth understanding because professional turnover intent appears to be a highly complex psychological process.
- Research should include both destinations the intention to leave the organization as well as intention to leave the profession in order to gain a richer understanding in relation to young RNs' turnover intention.

### 5. THE PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this explorative descriptive study was to examine and expand understanding concerning the intention of young Finnish registered nurses (RNs) to leave the profession, specifically when that intention had begun before the age of 30. Furthermore, the aim of this exploratory study was to obtain a greater understanding of the perceptions and experiences of having an intention to leave the profession early in a nursing career. The overall goal of the study was to develop a conceptual model related to young RNs' intention to leave the profession. Recommendations for policymakers, nurse educators, nurse managers and research for the retention of young RNs in the nursing workforce are also presented.

More specifically, the research tasks of this study were as follows:

- 1) To describe and critique the published empirical research concerning nurses' intention to leave the profession (Paper I, Summary).
- 2) To discover what proportion of young RNs intend to leave the profession in Finland and what the reasons for this are (Paper II).
- 3) To explore in-depth and to gain a better understanding of why young RNs have the intention to leave the profession and how they have experienced this intention (Papers III, IV).

# 6. RESEARCH METHODOLOGIES AND DATA COLLECTION

#### 6.1 Methodological approaches

This is a descriptive, sequential mixed-methods study. Different research designs, data collection methods and data analysis methodologies have been used in order to gain a better understanding of the variables and individual consideration processes in relation to young RNs' intention to leave the profession. According to Connelly (2009, p. 31) "the goal of mixed-methods research is to draw on the strengths and minimize the weaknesses of both types of research." By using a mixed-method approach, it was possible to quantify and explore young RNs' experiences in the same study (Hall & Howard 2008, Ihantola & Kihn 2011).

Mixed-methods research has been defined as one of the three major research paradigms alongside quantitative and qualitative research (Johnson et al. 2007). Quantitative and qualitative research traditions differ in relation to their epistemological, theoretical and methodological underpinnings (Polit & Beck 2004, Ihantola & Kihn 2011, Yilmaz 2013). Quantitative research refers to a research: "that explains phenomena according to numerical data which are analysed by means of mathematically based methods, especially statistics" (Yilmaz 2013, p. 311).

In social sciences, when quantitative methods are perceived as too restrictive, qualitative methods can be added to explore the complexity of the issues (Hall & Howard 2008). Qualitative methods are useful for the study of human experiences, thoughts, expectations and attitudes (Malterud 2001). Qualitative research has been defined as: "a form of social inquiry that tents to adopt a flexible and data-driven research design, to use relatively unstructured data, to emphasize the essential role of subjectivity in the research process, to study a small number of naturally occurring cases in detail, and to use verbal rather than statistical forms of analysis" (Hammersley 2013, p. 12).

#### 6.2 Phases of the study

The research was carried out in three successive phases between 2005 and 2013 with young RNs in Finland (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Phases of the study.

#### 6.3 Study designs, data collection and samples of the part-studies

#### Phase I

The literature review for this dissertation was comprised of two sequential parts. Firstly, the review of the literature concerning nurses' intention to leave the profession was conducted, covering the period from 1990 to July 2009 (Paper I, Appendix 1). Secondly, the review was updated to cover the period 2009–2013. Electronic databases such as CINAHL, MEDLINE® and Social Sciences Citation Index were searched.

In Phase I, an integrative literature review was undertaken to examine the current state of knowledge about nurses' intention to leave the nursing profession. At the time when the literature search for this review was conducted, literature focusing particularly on young RNs' intention to leave the profession was almost non-existent. Therefore, the literature review was extended to cover nurses of all ages in order to obtain a full understanding of the phenomenon of interest.

An integrative literature review approach by Cooper (1989) was chosen because it allows for the inclusion of studies with diverse methodologies in the same review. Electronic databases were searched to identify research reports about nurses' intention to leave their profession. The data were collected by conducting a thorough search of the following electronic databases: MEDLINE Ovid (1995–July 2009), CINAHL (1995–July 2009) and PsycINFO (1995–July 2009). The search terms were as follows: Nurs\* AND (Personnel turnover OR Career Mobility). The reference lists of all the studies identified and earlier reviews focusing on nurse turnover were also scanned for additional articles that were not identified through the computer search. The inclusion criteria of the studies accepted for the review were that they addressed nurses' intention to leave the profession. Moreover, research on nurses' organizational turnover was excluded. The review was limited to peer-reviewed studies published in English and Finnish.

The original search located 1,430 hits in MEDLINE, 612 in CINAHL and 3 in PsycINFO. After duplicates were removed, the titles and abstracts of 1,015 papers were retrieved and read. After an examination of the full texts of the 230 research reports, the list of included and excluded researches was gathered. A total of 31 papers were selected for the review published during the years 1995–2009. The results of the primary studies were summarized but not statistically combined due to the combination of diverse methodologies.

The studies were mainly quantitative (n = 30); only one study was qualitative in design (Gould & Fontela 2006). In three of the studies (Collins et al. 2000, Cowin 2002, Flinkman et al. 2008) both quantitative structured questions and qualitative open-ended questions were reported in the articles. Most of the studies employed structured, self-administered questionnaires (n = 20). These studies were conducted in the United States (n = 8), the United Kingdom (n = 7), Finland (n = 4), Australia (n = 4) and Taiwan (n = 2) as well as one each from Belgium, Israel, Italy and Canada. Three of the studies (Estryn-Behar et al. 2007, Hasselhorn et al. 2003/2005a, Simon et al. 2004) implemented

longitudinal NEXT (Nurses' Early Exit) study data, where data was collected from ten European countries (Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, the United Kingdom, Italy, the Netherlands, Poland, Sweden and Slovakia).

#### Phase II

In the second phase of the study, a secondary analysis of the data collected by the NEXT study's researchers (Hassellhorn et al. 2003a) was conducted. In a secondary analysis, data gathered in previous studies or collected for other purposes is used to answer new research questions (Connelly 2010). According to Powers & Knapp (1995, p. 157): "the secondary investigator can examine particular subsamples of data previously collected for other purposes."

The data in the NEXT study was gathered from ten European countries at baseline (Belgium, Germany, Finland, France, Italy, the Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Slovakia and the United Kingdom) and in eight countries at follow-up. The NEXT study was financed by the European Commission within the 5th framework programme. (Hasselhorn et al. 2008.) The baseline questionnaire was carried out in each of the ten countries between October 2002 and June 2003. The follow-up investigation was conducted approximately one year later. (Hassellhorn et al. 2003a, Estryl-Behar et al. 2008.) The NEXT study design is described in more detail in the research report entitled *'Working Conditions and Intent to Leave the Profession among Nursing Staff in Europe* ' (Hasselhorn et al. 2003a) and in Estryl-Behar et al. (2008), Hasselhorn et al. (2008) Laine et al. (2009) and in Simon et al. (2010).

Four different, structured postal questionnaires were implemented during the longitudinal NEXT study (Basic Questionnaire BQ, Leavers Questionnaire LQ, 12-month follow-up questionnaire BQ-12, 12-month Leavers Questionnaire LQ-12). A fifth questionnaire, the Organization Analysis (OA) questionnaire, was carried out for every participating institution in the ten participating countries. (Hasselhorn et al. 2003c.)

The data analysed in Phase II were collected in the autumn of 2003 from six hospitals districts in Finland as a part of NEXT study implementation. The data collection in Finland is described in detail in Laine's (2005) doctoral dissertation. The data was collected with postal questionnaires, which were sent to the hospitals, nursing homes, home care, and outpatient care institutions that had agreed to participate. The total number of participating institutions was 65; both municipality and private organizations were included. A total of 3,970 nurses responded to the baseline survey questionnaire in Finland, with a total response rate of 77%. (Laine 2005, Laine 2009.)

The data analysed for the Phase II was collected with the BQ-12 questionnaire. The BQ-12 questionnaire contained approximately 220 questions concerning demographic variables, central aspects of the nurses' work, working environment, individual recourses as well as future occupational plans. There were a total of 22 scales in the BQ-12 questionnaire (see Kümmerling et al. 2003). The BQ-12 questionnaire is described in detail in Paper II, in Hasselhorn et al. (2003c) and in Kümmerling et al. (2003).

A total of 2,941 RNs responded to the BQ-12 questionnaire in Finland. The data collected with this questionnaire was chosen because it also contained qualitative open-ended responses regarding the reasons behind the RNs wanting to leave their profession. In order to answer the research question concerning young RNs' intention to leave nursing, a sub-sample of responses in Finland was analysed, in which all RNs aged less than 30 were included (n = 147).

Nine of these scales – general health, personal burnout, emotional demands, quantitative demands, possibilities for development, work–family conflict, satisfaction with salary, job satisfaction and professional commitment – were chosen to be presented in the study, based on the literature review and measured factors associated with nurses' intentions to leave their profession in several other nursing studies.

The intention to leave the profession was measured with two questions in the BQ-12 questionnaire: "How often during the course of the past year have you thought about giving up nursing completely?" and "How often during the course of the past year have you thought about giving up nursing completely and starting a different kind of job?" The five answer categories were "never", "a few times", "a few times a month", "a few times a week" and "every day". (Hasselhorn et al 2003b.)

Due to the small frequencies, the intention to leave the profession was split into two categories: (1) those who thought of leaving often (a few times a month or more often), and (2) those who considered leaving a few times a year or not at all. An open-ended question about the reasons behind the intention to leave the profession was: "If you think of leaving nursing profession, what are the three main reasons that have made you considering it?"

Sample in this study (Paper II) included 137 women (93%) and 9 men (6%) (one missing item). The age of the respondents varied from 24 to 29. Mean age of the respondents was 26.8 years (SD 1.45). All respondents worked as RNs, and none of them had achieved a managerial position. Respondents had 1–9 years of work experience in the nursing field, with a mean of 3.6 years (SD 1.4). Half of the respondents (50%) had worked with their current employer for 3–5 years and 42% of the respondents had 1–2 years of work experience with their current employer. The majority of the respondents (91%) worked in hospitals or in hospital-type wards (municipality health centre wards), 3% in elderly care homes, and 6% in primary outpatient care. Most of the nurses worked shift work including nights (76%), or in shift work without nights (10%).

#### Phase III

After the integrative review and the quantitative survey study, it became obvious that there was a need for more in-depth understanding of the phenomenon of interest, and therefore two successive qualitative studies were designed.

Firstly, a qualitative case study was used to provide an in-depth understanding of young RNs' intention to leave the profession early in their career. Moreover, the aim of this study was to describe how young RNs had experienced and how they explain this leaving intention. In this case study, narrative data and narrative analysis methods were used. The narrative method was considered to be suitable for this study because "it emphasizes the narrative nature of life in the creation of meaning" (Wertz et al. 2011, p. 384). Moreover, according to Josselson (2011, p. 225): "narrative inquiry works with detailed stories drawn in some way from participants, stories that reveal how people view and understand their lives."

The sample selection was purposeful as "key informants" or "critical cases" that were knowledgeable about the phenomenon of interest were searched (Flyvbjerg 2006). In the year 2006, young RNs were invited to write narrative essays about their nursing careers, and why they had an intention to leave the profession that had started before the age of 30. Finnish researchers Roos (1987), Löyttyniemi (2004), May (2008) and Eronen (2012) have accordingly collected written stories as a part of their in-depth investigations.

Invitations to write these narrative essay stories were published in the *Magazine of the Union of Health and Social Care Professionals* (Tehy) and in an open discussion forum for nurses via the Internet (www.hoitajat.net). The preliminary aim of this study was to analyse these essay writings with narrative methods. These invitations did not, however, motivate young RNs to write their career stories. Eronen (2012) described a similar reaction when requesting Finnish women to write narrative stories about their childhood experiences in children's homes: "my request was met with a baffling lack of response" (p. 3).

Only four, fairly short essays were received by post and by email. Moreover, these essays were not rich enough in content for the narrative analysis to be considered reasonable. However, in these advertisements, young RNs were also invited to include their contact details if they wanted to participate in an interview concerning their intention to leave the nursing profession. Instead of analysing the short written essays with narrative methods, it was decided to realize in-depth narrative career-story interviews with young RNs in order to obtain a deeper understanding of the phenomenon of interest. Three young RNs were willing to participate in the in-depth narrative career-story interviews. All of these young RNs' had work experience in nursing, had an intention to leave the nursing profession that had started before the age of 30, and had a willingness to articulate, and reflect upon, their experiences in their nursing career.

Three interviewees can be considered as a sufficient number because in qualitative case studies sample sizes are non-representative (Sharp 1998) and narrative interview data usually accumulate with a large quantity of rich data (Riessman 2002). According to Hammersley (2013, p. 13): "Qualitative inquiry often involves investigation of a small number of naturally occurring cases, perhaps just one". Therefore, the decision was made not to recruit more young RNs for this case study.

The three young RNs who participated were interviewed twice. The aim was to follow the intention to leave a profession as a longitudinal process. The first interviews were conducted between 12/2006 and 5/2007, when the young RNs were experiencing an intention to leave the profession. The second interview took place four years later, from 1/2011-3/2011, when all of these young RNs had made the transition to a new occupation.

In the beginning of the first interview the interviewees were asked to draw — on A3-sized paper — their pathway as a nurse, and put into this drawing the significant events in, and experiences of, their nursing career. After that, an open question was posed; "I would like you to tell me, freely and with your own words, your story as a nurse. You can start your story at any point of your life that you have felt to be significant for you becoming a nurse. You can end your story at any point in your life that you want." In the beginning of the second interview, you RNs' were asked to continue their story as a nurse.

The participants in the qualitative case study were 29–32 years old during the course of the first interview. They had entered a nursing career during the years 1996–1999. They all had experience of as working as an RN in different health-care organizations. The RNs' areas of work experience covered psychiatric nursing, geriatrics, emergency departments and operating theatres. One of the RNs had a permanent work contract and the other two had fixed-term contracts. Two of the RNs had children at the time of the second interview. The RNs' were living in different parts of Finland, one in a large city and the remaining two in smaller cities.

Secondly, thematic in-depth interviews were conducted with young RNs under the age of 30. RNs across Finland were recruited with a letter that was sent to 86 RNs who had resigned from their organization during the previous year in one hospital district and in one public health-care centre. RNs were also recruited through an advertisement placed in Finnish Nurses Association newsletter as well as in a nurses' discussion forum (www.nurses.net). Data were collected through semi-structured, open-ended, in-depth interviews during June and November 2012. The most important questions regarding this study included:

- "Why did you choose the nursing profession?"
- "Why did you leave your previous organization?"
- "Why do you have an intention to leave the profession?"
- "What are you satisfied and dissatisfied with about nursing?"

A total of 15 female RNs, aged between 24 and 29 years, who graduated from polytechnics between 2008 and 2011, participated in the thematic interviews. The researcher conducted all the interviews. The dates, times and places of the interviews were selected by the participants. Interviews were conducted in a private setting outside the workplace, or by telephone or Skype. The interview length ranged from 17 to 61 minutes.

Most young RNs' worked mainly as RNs (n = 13); however, one of the participants worked as a paramedic at the time of the interview, and one also had work experience

as a midwife (all had nursing degrees and RN registration). Four of the RNs' were studying at the university: two in nursing science and two in a non-nursing discipline. One of the RNs' was studying for a second degree in a polytechnic. Young RNs' working experience covered acute and non-acute settings, including intensive care, medical or surgical, operating theatres, mental health, geriatrics, midwifery, and community health. Four of the participants had permanent working contracts, six had temporary contracts, and two worked casual shifts. Two participants were not working in a nursing position, and one was on parental leave. Three of the participants had children. Three nurses had nursing experience from abroad (Sweden, Norway and Australia).

#### 6.4 Data analysis

The data was analysed using quantitative and qualitative methods. Detailed descriptions of the data analysis are presented in Papers I–IV.

#### Phase I

In the integrative literature review (Paper I), Cooper's (1989) five-stage method provided a framework for data collection, analysis and synthesis. The quality of the studies was assessed by providing a methodological description of the studies reviewed. In the article, information was provided on the following nine methodological details, in table form, because there was no gold standard for evaluating and interpreting quality in the available research reviews (Whittemore & Knalf 2005). The following methodological descriptions were provided from each of the included studies: (1) research question presented, (2) power analysis included, (3) recruitment reported, (4) response rate in per cent, (5) demographic of the sample presented, (6) sample size, (7) development of the instrument(s) described, (8) reliability data of the instruments reported, (9) validity of the instrument established.

#### Phase II

In the phase II (Paper II), all the analyses were conducted using using SPSS version 12.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Percentages and frequencies were used to describe the categorical variables. Both medians and interquartile ranges (IQR) were used to describe the continuous variables. The internal consistency of the subscales was evaluated by using Cronbach's  $\alpha$  (alpha) test. One missing item per subject was accepted for the scale calculation.

Due to the small frequencies, the intention to leave the profession was divided into two categories: (1) those who often thought of leaving (a few times a month or more often), and (2) those who considered leaving a few times a year or not at all. The Mann-Whitney U-test (MWU) was used to test the differences in scales between the dichotomized intentions to leave the profession. Alpha levels of p < 0.05 were judged to be statistically significant.

Group comparisons of the question: "How often during the course of the last 12 months have you thought about giving up nursing and starting different kind of job" were tested with the chi-square test when applicable; otherwise, they were tested with the Fisher exact test. Due to the small sample size (n = 147) and skewed distributions, it was not possible to use more sophisticated statistical models. Most of the continuous variables were non-normally distributed, thus non-parametric tests were used.

Many of the young RNs responded minimally to the open-ended question, by giving short answers. Therefore, responses to this question were interpreted using quasi-statistics (Polit & Beck 2004). Firstly, the data were entered into a word processing program. Secondly, all the data were read through for familiarization purposes. Then, sentences and words that had the same meaning were coded, and placed into categories. Finally, similar categories were grouped into four main categories and were presented as a table outline (see Paper II, Table 5).

#### Phase III

In the qualitative case study (Paper III), the data consists of six career story narrative interviews from three young RNs. All of the interviews were recorded on a digital recorder. The recorded interview data were transcribed verbatim by the first author and were entered into the word processing program.

Career story interviews were analysed using a holistic-content thematic method, which was inspired by holistic-content methods developed by Lieblich et al. (1998). Firstly, separate events from the nurses' careers were selected and organized into complete stories with a chronological order (Polkinghorne 1995). When rereading these stories, thematic patterns started to emerge between them. These themes were followed throughout the stories and compared, contrasted and interpreted in the context of the career histories overall. These emerging interpretations and themes were discussed, reviewed and refined with the co-authors. The results of the analysis were reported, in accordance with these themes, in Paper III.

Thematic interviews (Paper IV) were recorded with informed consent and were later transcribed verbatim for coding and analysis using the the Qualitative Data Analysis and Research Software Atlas.ti. Interview data was analysed with conventional content analysis, guided by methods described in the article by Hsieh and Shannon (2005). Codes and categories were inductively (Elo & Kyngäs 2007) derived from the data.

Eight steps of data analysis were performed (see Paper IV, Table 2). The data analysis was conducted simultaneously with the data collection; it was begun after the first interview, and continued throughout the data collection phase. The first author coded the transcribed text, and both authors discussed, reviewed and refined the emerging codes. The first author clustered these codes into categories and they were compared, contrasted and interpreted in the context of the overall transcriptions. These emerging categories, and themes derived thereafter, were also discussed, reviewed and refined with the second author.

#### 6.5 Ethical considerations

The ethical aspect of any research project needs to be carefully managed (Hirvonen 2006, Fraklin et al. 2012). David and Sutton (2011, p. 53) concludes this need as follows; "research involving human subjects needs to be ethical in its selection (design), in its conduct and in the use/distribution of its findings". Therefore, the performance of this dissertation study followed 'The guidelines for the responsible conduct of research and for handling alleged violations of conduct (the RCR guidelines)' introduced by The Finnish Advisory Board on Research Integrity (2012). The research ethics were also appraised in relation to the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki (7<sup>th</sup> edition, 2013) and the Finnish Medical Research Act (Laki lääketieteellisestä tutkimuksesta 794/2010).

The risks and benefits for the participants need to be considered in the planning stage of research (Polit & Beck 2004). The young RNs' participation was voluntary in all phases in this study. There were no vulnerable subjects involved in the study; all were adults, and the youngest participant was 22 years old. Health-care professionals, when working in the institutions, can be considered as a less vulnerable group of participants than the patients (Fraklin et al. 2012). Participants did not receive any compensation for participating in the study. Paper and electronic copies of the data from all study phases are stored according to ethical guidelines (in safe storage and anonymously).

In the **first phase**, the integrative literature review was performed (Paper I), which was subsequently updated for this summary. Literature searches were conducted thoroughly with the guidance of an information specialist. The inclusion criteria were developed in order to ensure that existing researchers were treated accurately and fairly. The criteria were followed when the literature was searched, so that all possible located articles were treated on an equal basis.

During the **second phase**, a secondary analysis of the survey data was conducted. The survey data was collected as a part of the European Nurses' Early Exit (NEXT) study. The ethical committee of the University of Wuppertal in Germany approved the overall NEXT study design (Hasselhorn et al. 2003). In Finland, the personnel management of the organizations involved gave the permission to carry out the study (Laine 2005). The Turku Regional Institute of Occupational Health and the NEXT study group gave permission for the use of the sub-samples of the Finnish data in the study. The article for this phase (Paper II) was written in cooperation with Marjukka Laine, researcher of The Turku Regional Institute of Occupational Health, and with principal researcher from the NEXT study, Hans-Martin Hasselhorn.

The confidentiality of the survey study was guaranteed in the covering letter and the RNs were informed that they were not obligated to answer any questions. Consent was assumed when the respondents returned a completed questionnaire by post. The data analysed contained no information through which the respondents could have been identified; moreover, the young RNs were not individually identifiable in any way in the survey study (Laine 2005).

In the **third phase**, two separate in-depth studies were conducted (Paper III, IV). Before the narrative career-story and thematic interviews, the RNs received both written and oral information about the study by email and by phone. They were informed that participation was voluntary and that they had the right to withdraw at any time. As the RNs participated voluntarily and in their leisure time, no additional ethical committee approval was needed. At the beginning of the interviews, the aims of the study were again explained to the RNs, as well as the voluntarily nature of the participation, that they had the right to withdraw at any stage and that the data collected would be treated with confidentiality. All participants signed a written, informed consent before the interviews, and then were provided with a copy of this informed consent agreement.

In the thematic interview study (Paper IV), invitation letters were sent to 86 young RNs who had resigned from their organization (one hospital district and one healthcare centre) during the previous year. The permission to send these invitation letters to young RNs who had resigned from their organization was received from the management board of the hospital district (26.2.2012) and from the health-care centre (25.3.2012). The invitation letters were sent by an organization, so the researcher did not know the identity of those persons to whom the invitation letters were sent. The young RNs who were interested in the research then contacted the researcher by email or by phone. After this first voluntary contact, the place and time for the interview was arranged.

All the interviews were performed by the researcher. The main question related to confidentiality was the protection of the identity of the interviewees in the in-depth studies (Syrjälä et al. 2006). The sample sizes were small in these studies: in the qualitative case study (Paper III), only three young RNs were interviewed; in the thematic interviews, 15 young RNs (Paper IV) were interviewed. Also, the research topic was sensitive. In the interviews, confidential details of the RNs' personalities and their careers were revealed. Therefore, it was of the utmost importance that the participants' personal identification was protected (David & Sutton 2011). Therefore, fictitious pseudonyms were used in Paper III to protect the privacy of these young RNs. In paper IV, only the term 'RN' and the participants' ages were used when direct citations were provided.

The manuscript of the qualitative case study (Paper III) was sent to the participants by email prior to publication: they all agreed with the interpretations and confirmed that their personal identification was protected. All three participants gave written permission by email to the researcher for their stories to be published as they were presented in the manuscript. The following details from the qualitative case study were removed: places of residence, names of the health-care organization, names of family members and names of colleagues. Some minor details in these career stories, which were considered to be insignificant for the study, were changed in order to protect the participants' identities. For example, one of the RNs described in the interviews what kind of ward she had been previously working in; in the manuscript, it was only mentioned that she had worked in a ward, but it was not mentioned precisely what kind of ward.

### 7. **RESULTS**

The main findings are reported in three parts, according to the phases of the study. As a summary, a conceptual model concerning young RNs' intention to leave the profession is introduced. Only the main findings according to the research tasks are introduced, as more detailed results are presented in the original papers I-IV.

# 7.1 What proportion of young RNs have an intention to leave the profession?

According to the literature reviews (Paper I and Summary), an inverse relationship between age and intention to leave the profession has been demonstrated in many of the earlier studies (Kuokkanen et al. 2003, Barron & West 2005, Hasselhorn et al. 2005b, Rudman et al. 2010, Simon et al. 2010, Tsai et al. 2010, van der Heijden et al. 2010, Cortese et al. 2012, Salminen 2012). The proportion of young RNs with an intention to leave the profession had varied in these previous studies from 6% (Scott et al. 2008) up to 59% (Lee et al. 2013) (see Paper IV, Table 1).

In the survey questionnaire (Paper II), all 147 young RNs responded to the question regarding possible plans to give up nursing. During the course of the previous year, one in four (24%) of the RNs often had thoughts of giving up nursing completely (some times a month or more often). Moreover, 26% of RNs had often thought of giving up nursing and starting a different kind of job (some times a month or more often) (Table 17). For comparison, according to the entire sample in Finland collected with the BQ-12 questionnaire, 15% of all nurses (n = 2 941) were considering giving up nursing often (Laine 2005).

**Table 17.** Response distribution to the question: "How often during the course of the last 12 months have you thought about..." (n = 147)? (Modified from Paper II, Table 3, p. 735 in Flinkman et al. 2008).

	Giving up nursing completely %	Giving up nursing and starting different kind of job %	Taking a further qualification outside nursing %
Never	28	24	25
Some times a year	48	50	45
Some times a month or more often	24	26	31
All	100	100	100

During the past year, about a third (31%) of the RNs had often considered studying something else, outside of nursing. RNs considered leaving their organization more often (37%) than they considered giving up nursing completely (24%). The young RNs who often considered leaving their current organization were also more often considering leaving nursing (71% vs. 29%,  $\chi^2 = 24,76$ , df = 1, p<0.001). However, almost a third (28%) of young RNs reported that they never considered giving up nursing completely.

### 7.2 What are the variables associated with a young RNs' intention to leave the profession?

According to the updated literature review (Summary), many different variables had previously been associated with young RNs' intention to leave the profession, including: burnout (Laschinger 2012), low work engagement (Laschinger 2012), dissatisfaction with the initial orientation (Laschinger 2012), the emotional challenge of nursing (Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2008), challenges of nursing (Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2008), effort/reward imbalance (Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2008), elevated job strain (Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2008), high psychological demands and career dissatisfaction (Scott et al. 2008).

Accordingly, in the survey study (Paper II), many different variables were associated with young RNs' intention to give up nursing and start a different kind of job. According to the survey responses of these147 young RNs, the following variables were associated with a stronger intention to leave: (1) personal burnout (MWU, P = <.001), (2) poor opportunities for development (MWU, P = 0.002), (3) weak affective professional commitment (MWU, P = <.001), (4) low job satisfaction (MWU, P = <.001), (5) workfamily conflicts (MWU, P = 0.013) and (6) high quantitative work demands (MWU, P = 0.029) (Paper II, Table 4).

Most of the young RNs (80%) reported that they felt tired once or twice a week or more often. RNs who felt themselves to be tired more often considered leaving nursing ( $\chi^2 = 7,84 \text{ df} = 3$ , P = 0.050). Moreover, RNs who were dissatisfied with how their work schedule affected their well-being more often thought about leaving nursing (42% vs. 29%,  $\chi^2 = 10,97 \text{ df} = 2$ , P = 0.004), as did those who had higher scores on the personal burnout scale.

The young RNs reported that their work was quantitatively demanding. The median score for the quantitative demands scale was 3.40 (IQR 3.04 to 3.90). Moreover, over half (60%) of the RNs indicated that they always, or at least often, have to work very quickly. Moreover, almost half (42%) of the young RNs agreed with the statement that their job produced a strain which makes it difficult for them to fulfil their family duties. The median score for the work–family conflict scale was 3.00 (IQR 2.28 to 3.61).

Generally, RNs were satisfied with their job; the median score for the job satisfaction scale was 2.75 (IQR 2.26 to 2.90). Over half (65%) of the RNs were satisfied or very satisfied with their job as a whole when everything was taken into consideration. Moreover, RNs reported high professional commitment; the median score for the scale was 4.00 (IQR 3.56 to 4.75). The majority of the RNs (74%) agreed with the statement that they really belonged to the nursing profession.

Three of the reported scales were not associated with young RNs' intention to give up nursing and start a different kind of job: (1) emotional demands (MWU, P = 0.973), (2) satisfaction with salary (MWU, P = 0.059) and (3) general health (MWU Z = -, 419, P = 0.675). RNs indicated in their responses that their work was emotionally demanding; the median score for the emotional demands scale was 3.50 (IQR 1.26 to 2.31). Moreover, these RNs also indicated dissatisfaction with their salary; the median score for satisfaction with salary was 1.67 (IQR 1.26 to 2.31). Almost all of the young RNs were dissatisfied with their salary (Table 18), and therefore it was not possible to find any differences related to satisfaction with their salary between those often considering giving up nursing and those who seldom/never considered doing so. However, even though these young RNs were dissatisfied with their salary, only a fifth (20%) of the RNs estimated their economic situation to be strained or very strained.

Question	<b>Response alternatives</b>	%
Considering the pay of other comparable professions ( $n = 146$ ).	Very dissatisfied Dissatisfied Neither satisfied or dissatisfied Satisfied Very satisfied	75 16 5 3 1
In relation to your need for income $(n = 146)$ .	Very dissatisfied Dissatisfied Neither satisfied or dissatisfied Satisfied Very satisfied	46 27 22 6 0
Considering the pay of nurses in other institutions $(n = 147)$ .	Very dissatisfied Dissatisfied Neither satisfied or dissatisfied Satisfied Very satisfied	29 29 25 15 3

Table 18. Satisfaction with pay among young RNs.

In the open-ended question, RNs stated that the main reasons for them planning to leave nursing included: (1) dissatisfaction with the salary, (2) work demands and, (3) shift work and working hours.

# 7.3 What are the experiences and perceptions of young RNs with an intention to leave the profession in the early years of their career?

The results of the earlier phases of this study (Paper I and II) demonstrated a clear need for more in-depth understanding about the reasons and processes related to young RNs' intention to leave the profession. Therefore, two qualitative studies were designed. In the last phase of the research, young RNs were given an opportunity to tell their own stories of why they had an intention to leave the profession.

Firstly, according to the case study (Paper III) based on the narrative career-story interviews, an intention to leave the profession was a long-lasting and complex individual consideration process. Three main themes were associated with the young RNs' intention to leave the profession:

- 1. nursing as a 'second-best' or serendipitous career choice,
- 2. demanding work content and the poor practice environment, and
- 3. inability to identify with the stereotypical images of nurses.

According to their in-depth career stories, nursing had not been a childhood ambition for any of these young RNs; it was more serendipitous that they had ended up as nurses. After working for a few years in a nursing career, all of these young RNs decided to apply to the university to study their primary educational choice. One of the main drivers for this career change was poor advancement opportunities and poor opportunities for development in nursing. All of these RNs achieved academic Master's degrees, and therefore rose up in the educational hierarchy. Attaining further university education gave these young RNs new career development possibilities and an intellectual challenge.

These young RNs reported in their career stories that the professional nursing environment was not ideal in terms of working contracts, shift hours, salary and general appreciation. Moreover, young RNs reproduced cultural images and stereotypes of a nurse's role and behaviour, such as of 'angels with pretty faces and empty heads', 'physicians' handmaids' or 'naughty nurses'. They did not, however, place themselves within this expected stereotype and image of nurses.

In the second qualitative research (Paper IV), a qualitative thematic-interview approach was used to form an in-depth investigation into the reasons why young RNs had left their previous workplace and why they had an intention to leave nursing. In Table 19, the main themes, sub-themes and categories related to young RNs' organizational turnover and intent to leave the profession are described.
Main themes	Sub-themes	Categories	
Poor nursing-practice environments	Ethical problems in nursing	Not able to care as well as would like to Working in organizations where poor quality care was provided	
	Unsatisfactory working conditions	No opportunities for development No opportunities for career advancement Poor distribution of tasks Low salary Shift work	
	Mistreatment	Verbal abuse from physicians and patients. Physical violence from patients in the workplace	
Lack of support, orientation and mentoring	Did not received social support	Unsupportive management Unsupportive colleagues Feeling of being left alone	
	Insufficient support for the transition from a student to a practicing RN	Inadequate orientation Inadequate mentoring	
Nursing as a 'second best' or serendipitous career choice	Nursing as a second best career choice	Applied to university to study for another profession but didn't pass the entrance exams	
career choice		Deterred by university studies because of demanding entrance exams	
	Nursing as a serendipitous career choice	Chose nursing education mainly for financial reasons	
		Did not come up with any other occupation during high school	
		Could not report why they applied for nurse education	

 Table 19. Main themes, sub-themes and categories related to turnover and intent to leave the profession.

For many of the young RNs participating in the thematic interviews (Paper IV), nursing career could be defined with the term 'compromise' (Table 20). In the interviews, nurses often used words like 'serendipity', 'drifted' or 'unintentional' to describe how they had ended up in the nursing profession. These RNs were adjusting their career goals and were choosing nursing as a 'second best' or serendipitous alternative. Some of these young RNs had applied to university after high school to study another field, for example psychology, pedagogy, law and social sciences. A few of these RNs had also considered applying for university during high school, but were deterred by the demanding entrance exams. Instead, they chose to apply to a polytechnic to study nursing, because the entrance exams were easier. Some RNs also reported that they had applied to a nursing school mainly for financial reasons; they felt that it was easy to get into a nursing school,

and knew that there was also a possibility to begin studying something else during the academic year.

**Table 20.** Thematic interviews; reasons for choosing career, reasons for having an intention to leave the profession and future plans (n = 15).

RN, age	Reasons for choosing nursing career	Main reason for having an intention to leave profession	Future plans	
RN, 27	Worked earlier as a nursing aid which inspired to choose nursing profession.	Reality shock. Burnout. Ethical problems: not able to provide good quality of care. Inadequate support from the ward manager and colleagues.	Considering studying further, but was not sure what the future career could be.	
RN, 27	Considered another profession when young. During high school decided to apply to polytechnics to study nursing.	Dissatisfied with the shift work, salary and temporary working contracts.	Studying at the university. Interested in management and teaching.	
RN, 26	Considered another profession when younger, but didn't have enough motivation to read for the entrance exams for the university. After high school applied to polytechnics to study nursing.	Even when just graduated as an RN felt that wanted to study further. Felt that had no autonomy in nursing. Nursing profession did not offer enough developmental opportunities.	Studying at the university.	
RN, 27	After high school applied to polytechnics to study nursing.	Poor nursing practice environment: high patient-nurse ratio, working overtime and shifts were changed without consent. Ethical problems, not able to provide good quality of care.	Could leave nursing if a good employment opportunity would open.	
RN, 28	Family member had worked in the hospital when she was young, which inspired the nursing career.	Ethical problems, not able to provide good quality of care. Working conditions were too demanding in the previous job: too many patients, hurry and shortage of nurses.	Decided to apply to polytechnics for another profession.	
RN, 25	Applied to polytechnics and the university at the same time. Was not accepted to university, so decided to start nursing studies.	Reality shock. Didn't get proper orientation as a graduate nurse in earlier workplace. Job in the ward was very demanding for a newly graduated RN. Didn't see many developmental or career opportunities in nursing.	Studying at the university.	
RN, 26	Considered another profession, but during the last year in high school decided to apply to a polytechnic to study nursing.	Considered that the career developmental possibilities in nursing are poor and would like to have career with more challenges.	Interested to continue studies at the university.	
RN, 26	Applied to university to study another profession but was not accepted. Worked as a nursing aid which inspired to choose nursing profession.	Already when graduated as a nurse felt that wanted to study further. Wanted more developmental and career advancement possibilities than possible in nursing career.	Studying at the university.	

RN, age	Reasons for choosing nursing career	Main reason for having an intention to leave profession	Future plans
RN, 25	Applied to university to study another profession but was not accepted. For financial reasons applied to study nursing at the polytechnics.	Dissatisfaction with salary, nursing was too physically demanding, shift work. Long time in temporarily working contracts. Ethical problems, not able to provide good quality of care.	Studying another profession in the polytechnics.
RN, 25	Worked in elderly care when younger and this inspired to choose nursing profession.	Felt nurse practice environment too demanding: challenging patients, shift work, low salary. Felt that nursing work in earlier workplace didn't provide joy and satisfaction.	Seeking a new job in nursing. Had applied for a part-time job in another occupation.
RN, 29	There were no clear reasons why entered nursing. Chosen nursing after working a few years in another career.	Ethical problems, not able to provide good quality of care. Felt nurse practice environment demanding: too many patients, hurry and shortage of nurses. Difficulties combining family and shift work/ overwork.	Was considering another profession, where the salary and less overtime could make things easier.
RN, 26	Applied to university to study in another profession but was not accepted. For financial reasons (getting study grants) applied to study nursing.	Felt that nursing didn't provide challenges after a few years of working. Disappointed with nursing management.	Interested to continue studies at the university.
RN, 26	Considered a career as psychiatrist or physician. However, during high school decided to apply to nursing school. Nursing was not a childhood dream occupation.	In the previous organization, felt mistreated. Many years in temporary working contracts, not getting a permanent job.	Considering further study, but not sure at the moment what the future career could be.
RN, 24	Studied first to be a licensed practical nurse, after that applied to nursing school.	Burnout. Workload was too demanding in the earlier job. Ethical problems, not able to provide good quality of care.	Had considered applying to the university, interested in management.
RN, 24	After high school was applying to university, but was not accepted. Applied to polytechnics to study nursing as a 'second-best' career choice.	Already when graduating knew it is not long working in nursing. Decided to apply for university only after few years of working as a nurse.	Studying at the university.

According to the thematic interviews (Paper IV), young RNs are confronted with many ethical problems, predominantly caused by their not being able to provide humane and proper care. The RNs reported experiences in the interviews about being left alone, anxieties about not being listened to, and too much responsibility being given to them in the health-care organizations. Therefore, RNs were striving to gain support from their managers and from experienced colleagues. Inadequate orientation in the health-care

organizations caused uncertainty, a sense of abandonment and the fear in these nurses that they would make a fatal mistake.

Also reported in the thematic interviews (Paper IV), was that the young RNs had considered many different professions and careers, including being a physician, police officer or teacher. Many of these young RNs had considered continuing their education in a university or polytechnic.

Moreover, according to the interviews and survey questionnaire data, some of the young RNs perceived threats in the future of the nursing profession. The survey study (Paper II) demonstrated that many young RNs perceived that the attraction of a nursing career for young people would decline to some extent (49%) or will get much worse (18%) within the next 10 years. Moreover, a quarter (24%) perceived that the recognition and respect for nurses from the society at large will also get somewhat or much worse (Table 21, data collected with BQ 12 questionnaire).

	Much better %	Somewhat better %	About the same %	Somewhat worse %	Much worse %
Attractiveness of the nursing profession for the young $(n = 147)$	0	5	28	49	18
The basic education in nursing $(n = 145)$	0	32	38	28	2
Recognition and respect from the society at large $(n = 147)$	1	23	51	20	4
The relation to the administration $(n = 144)$	0	12	80	7	1
Recognition and respect from patients $(n = 145)$	3	33	47	15	1
The post-graduate training in nursing $(n = 146)$	5	56	31	6	2
The possibilities to get a job/change job $(n = 147)$	27	63	6	3	1
The pay (n = 144)	2	33	60	4	1
The relation to the doctors $(n = 144)$	3	35	58	4	0
The relations between different categories of nurses $(n = 147)$	2	29	65	4	0

Table 21. How do young RNs perceive the future of the nursing profession in the next 10 years?



#### 7.4 Summary of the results

**Conclusions:** Young RNs' intention to leave the profession appears to be a long-lasting and highly individualized process, which is not easy for these RNs. Young RNs have indicated fairly high levels of intention to leave the profession. Many different variables have been associated with higher leaving intention, including: personal burnout, poor opportunities for development, weak affective professional commitment, low job satisfaction, work–family conflicts and high quantitative work demands.



## 7.5 Conceptual model of young RNs' intention to leave the profession

The conceptual model presented in this dissertation (Figure 3) is based on the results of the three empirical studies (Paper II, III and IV) completed as part of this dissertation study. This conceptual model aims to describe the long-lasting, multiphase and complex consideration process in relation to young RNs' intention to leave the profession.

So far little is known about young RNs' experiences concerning professional turnover intent; particularly that gained through their own stories. According to the young RNs' interviews, the intent to leave the profession was a long-lasting, cognitive process taking place in the context and society in which young RNs lived, worked and had grown to the adulthood. This complex process was intertwined with the young person's lived experiences. This process does not proceed linearly. Rather, it can be metaphorically described as a spiral which progresses in a certain timeframe. This consideration process may take several years.

For some of the young RNs in this study, this consideration process had begun even before they had entered the profession. These RNs said that had chosen the profession as a 'second-best' or a serendipitous career choice. Moreover, according to the young RNs interviews, family, relatives and friends have an influence on the professional turnover intent of an individual RN – this study suggests that they mainly support and strengthen a young person's leaving intentions.

Some young RNs may be 'pushed out' of the profession because of poor practice environments and the associated poor nurse outcomes. In this study, young RNs described a poor practice environment as having the following attributes: high quantitative demands, poor opportunities for advancement and development, ethical problems in nursing, insufficient social support and inadequate nurse–patient ratios. Moreover, poor nurse outcomes were also described in association with the intention to leave the profession. These poor outcomes included burnout, work–family conflicts, a lack of affective professional commitment, low job satisfaction, and dissatisfaction with salary.

Moreover, young RNs also described enabling variables that facilitate them to proceed with the transition process of leaving the profession. Perceived alternatives (additional educational and employment possibilities) and received support (social support and financial support) allowed the young RN to make the final decision to leave nursing profession.





# 8. **DISCUSSION**

In this chapter, firstly, the strengths and limitations of the study are discussed. Secondly, the reliability, validity and trustworthiness of the study are reviewed. Thirdly, the main findings of the study are discussed in relation to the resent literature and in accordance with the aims of the study. Fourthly, the suggestions for health-care policymakers, leaders and nursing management are presented. Lastly, the implications for future research are discussed. More detailed discussions are presented in Papers I, II, III and IV.

#### 8.1 Strengths and limitations of the study

The retention of the existing RN workforce and young RNs' intention to leave the profession are worldwide concerns; thus, the results of this research might be useful internationally when discussing the reasons why young RNs have professional turnover intent early in their careers. Moreover, two integrative literature reviews included in this study synthesize the current evidence (75 empirical studies) concerning professional turnover intent and this updated evidence can be utilized for decision-making in health care, workforce forecasts and nursing workforce management.

Until now, in-depth research examining nurses' perceptions of their work environment and reasons for turnover has been very limited (Coomber & Barriball 2007, Choi et al. 2011). While most of these earlier studies have mainly adopted a quantitative design to examine this phenomenon, this study also employed in-depth approaches in order to provide better understanding concerning young RNs' professional turnover intent. Therefore, the strengths of the study lie in the mixed-method used; this study combines both quantitative and qualitative methods and data. Literature reviews, quantitative survey study and in-depth interview studies were conducted during this study. Different data analysis methods (integrative review methods, statistical methods, narrative holisticcontent and thematic methods) were also utilized in this study. Moreover, this study was conducted as an interdisciplinary collaboration. Hans-Martin Hasselhorn, M.D, from Bergische Universität Wuppertal; Marjukka Laine, PhD, from the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health; and Ulpukka Iso-Pahkala-Bouret, PhD, from the Institute of Behavioural Sciences, University of Helsinki were involved in the sub-studies (Papers II, III).

In previous survey questionnaires concerning RNs' intention to leave the profession, future career plans and prospects have not often been included in the items related to leaving intention. The findings of this study (Phase III) describe many different professions and occupations that young RNs were considering moving into if they were to make the final decision to leave nursing. This provided new insight into the career directions young RNs may take if they decide to leave the nursing profession in Finland.

This study has limitations that also need to be taken into account when considering the study and the generalizability of the results. Because of the cross-sectional nature of the data, any causal conclusions cannot be drawn. Furthermore, all of the four part-studies were conducted in Finland, thus generalization of these conclusions to other countries and health-care systems are limited. The limitations of this study include the limited sample sizes in the part-studies, which mean that the findings are descriptive and suggestive. It is also not possible to compare gender perspectives as a result of the small number of men (n = 9) represented in the young RN samples in this study. In the survey study, due to the small sample size and skewed distributions (Paper I), it was not possible to use more sophisticated statistical models to analyse the data. In the integrative literature reviews (Paper I, Summary), only those studies published in English and Finnish were included. Therefore, relevant studies in other languages that would have fit the inclusion criteria may have been overlooked.

## 8.2 Validity and reliability of the study

The integrative review (Paper I) showed that previous literature and research concerning young RNs' intention to leave the profession was scarce. This finding supported the need to study young RNs' intention to leave the profession further, both with quantitative and in-depth methods.

Any researcher is responsible for choosing the best research design to answer the questions she or he is asking (Gerrish & Lacey 2010). An intention to leave the profession is a subjective experience of an RN, and therefore both surveys and interviews can be considered appropriate methods to investigate these experiences (Laine 2005). For this study, a mixed-method research design was chosen. More than one data collection technique and data analysis method were used in this study. According to David and Sutton (2010, p. 97): "The use of mixed methods is the explicit attempt to gain some benefit from different methods from across the different spectra".

Validity can be divided into two different categories. *Internal validity* refers to "the extent to which the data collected accurately reflects the reality of the beliefs or behaviours of those from whom those data were collected" (David & Sutton 2010, p. 638). In this study, young RNs' beliefs were investigated both with the survey questionnaire and in-depth interviews. The results from the quantitative and in-depth studies showed a similar pattern and were not conflicting. Also, earlier studies concerning young RNs' experiences in their early career are in line with the results from this study. Therefore, there is no reason to assume that the data collected does not reflect the reality of those young RNs from whom the data were collected.

*External validity* refers to the generalizability of the findings of the study to persons and conditions other than those directly involved in the study (Powers & Knapp 1995, David & Sutton 2010). The aim was of this study was to enhance the understanding into why some young RNs have an intention to leave the profession in Finland. The purpose of

this study was not to seek universal explanations of why young RNs leave the nursing profession. For example, with the qualitative case study (Paper III), the results were not meant to be generalized to a certain population (Flyvbjerg 2006) as case-study research commonly needs to be generalized theoretically (Sharp 1988, Riessman 2008). Yet, this knowledge can be used as a basis for further study, and in discussions concerning RNs' intentions to leave nursing from a generational perspective.

In quantitative studies, validity usually concerns the degree to which an instrument is measuring what it is supposed to measure (Polit 1996, p. 250). In this study, the questionnaire used to collect the data in phase II was developed in a large scale European-level research project by experienced researchers. Pre-existing, validated scales were used and a large number of scales were pre-tested in up to six pre-tests in three countries (Kümmerling et al. 2003). Therefore, it can be assumed that the instrument (BQ-12 questionnaire) was able to measure what it is supposed to measure.

The term reliability is often used when referring to the reliability of the data collection instrument. An instrument's reliability is usually easier to establish than its validity (Polit 1996). According to David & Sutton (2010, p. 631): "when a data collection instrument repeatedly records the same phenomenon, it can be said to be reliable." Reliability can also refer to a consistency in qualitative studies. If questions are interpreted similarly in each of the interviews across the study, the reliability of the data collection method is good (David & Sutton 2010).

In this chapter, the validity and reliability of the quantitative and qualitative parts of the mixed-methods research are evaluated separately, as proposed by Ihantola and Kihn (2011). In the first phase, the validity and reliability of the integrative review data and process was evaluated. In the second phase, the validity and reliability of the instrument used was evaluated. In the third phase, the trustworthiness of the two qualitative studies was evaluated by using the following four criteria proposed by Lincoln & Guba (1985): credibility, dependability, confirmability and transferability.

#### Phase I

In the first phase of the research, two integrative literature reviews (Paper I, Summary) were performed. Literature related to the research topic was identified from the scientific databases. The search strategy used in both literature reviews contained three databases: PubMed (1995–October 2013), CINAHL (Cumulative Index to Nursing & Allied Health Literature) (1995–October 2013), and the Social Sciences Citation Index (1995–October 2013). All of these databases have been previously used for performing systematic reviews of literature (Evans 2001, Flemming & Briggs 2006).

The literature searches were performed under the guidance of a university library information specialist. The accuracy and validity of the review process was enhanced by following Cooper's (1989) method; (1) the research problem was identified; (2) data were collected; (3) data were evaluated; (4) data were integrated; and (5)

results were presented. Also, the criteria for including and excluding the studies were developed and carefully followed, which enhanced the accuracy and validity of the review process (Evans 2001). However, only studies published in English and Finnish were included.

#### Phase II

In phase II, a quantitative survey study was conducted (Paper II). A secondary analysis of the quantitative survey data was selected for its method, to investigate the prevalence of young RNs' intention to leave the profession and the reasons behind this. One of the weaknesses of secondary data analysis is that "the collected data reflects the questions developed by the original investigators and may not adequately address the new research questions" (Connelly 2010, p.192). This is also one of the main weaknesses of this part-study. The NEXT study research was conducted to investigate the work conditions, private lives, health, and future perspectives of nurses (Hasselhorn et al. 2003a). The NEXT study research was investigating nurses of all ages and was not designed to specifically study young RNs' intention to leave the profession.

The strength of this secondary analysis (Paper II) is that the data collected in the original study did match the purpose of the secondary study (Connelly 2010). There are also strengths due to the fact that that data was collected as a part of a large scale, European-level study with a multidisciplinary and experienced researcher. The data used in this study was collected with the BQ-12 instrument, developed by the NEXT study's researchers. The BQ-12 questionnaire was built on existing validated scales that were pre-tested in up to six pre-tests in three countries. Moreover, a total of four scales were developed by the NEXT study's researchers on the basis of pre-tests and psychometric assessments. The instrument consists of nearly 220 questions, as well as open-ended questions where nurses had the opportunity to express their views. (Hasselhorn et al. 2003a.)

The questionnaire was translated with a two-way translation method. The English language questionnaire was translated by the Finnish researcher and the Finnish language questionnaire was back translated by an external language translator. When validated Finnish language items or scales were available, they were chosen for the questionnaire (Laine 2005).

An instrument can be called *reliable* if it produces consistent measures at different times and from measure to measure (Powers & Knapp 1995). According to Polit and Beck (2004, p. 418): "scales and tests that involve summarizing items are often evaluated for their internal consistency". The reliability of an instrument can be tested with Cronbach's alpha coefficient (Polit & Beck 2004). Powers and Knapp (1995, p. 22) defines Cronbach's alpha as follows: "an index of the degree to which a measuring instrument is internally reliable." Psychometric properties of the scales used in the BQ-12 questionnaire are described in detail in Küemmerling et al. (2003); reliability and total scale item intercorrelation were very comparable between the countries, and all the scales used in the NEXT questionnaires proved to be quite reliable.

The evaluation of reliability is only estimation. Therefore it should be measured in each study. (Connelly 2011.) In Paper II, the Cronbach's alpha values were calculated for each subscale. The Cronbach's alpha values of the nine scales included in the study ranged from 0.89 (professional commitment scale) to 0.61 (emotional demand scale) with the study sample (N = 147). The overall value was 0.76, indicating satisfactory internal reliability of the scales. For comparing groups in this study, 0.70 to 0.80 is regarded as satisfactory (Connelly 2011). The psychometric properties of the scales used were described in detail in Paper II (Table 1).

*Content validity* refers to a subjective determination of validity (typically by some sort of expert judgment) (Powers & Knapp 1995). In the NEXT study, interdisciplinary expertise, for example from nursing scientists, physicians, psychologists, sociologists and statisticians, was utilized when the questionnaires were constructed (Hasselhorn et al. 2003a). Therefore, it can be assumed that the content validity of the BQ-12 questionnaire is sufficient. *Construct validity* determines whether the instrument actually measures the theoretical construct it is intended to measure (Polit 1996, Polit & Beck 2004). As previously validated and pre-tested scales were used, it can be assumed that the BQ-12 questionnaire does measure RNs' intention to leave the profession.

#### Phase III

In phase III, two qualitative interview studies were conducted. Evaluating the validity of qualitative research is challenging due to "the necessity to incorporate rigor and subjectivity as well as creativity into the scientific process" (Whittemore et al. 2001, p. 522). Qualitative researchers have used different terms to describe reliability and validity compared to quantitative researchers, including: truth value, credibility, trustworthiness and accuracy (Powers & Knapp 1995, Graneheim & Lundman 2004, Elo & Kyngäs 2007, Wertz et al. 2011). According to Yilmaz (2013, p. 319): "because ontological, epistemological, and theoretical assumptions of qualitative research are so fundamentally different from those of quantitative research, it should be judged on its own terms".

Lincoln and Guba's model (1985) was used as an overall guide when assessing the validity of the two qualitative inquiries. Although there has been a debate on how to judge the quality of qualitative research (Meyrick 2006), Lincoln and Guba's model has been considered to be the 'gold standard' when evaluating validity and reliability in qualitative research (Whittemore et al. 2001, Yilmaz 2013). Four techniques have been used to support the rigor of the in-depth studies: credibility, dependability, conformability and transferability (Lincoln and Guba 1985).

When the *credibility* of a study is evaluated, it is important to ask "whether the results of the research reflect the experiences of the participants or the context in a believable way" (Whittemore et al. 2001, p. 534). The credibility of this study was established in many

ways; firstly, it was established by selecting an appropriate method for data collection (narrative interviews and thematic interviews). The researcher – a female researcher who was at the time in her 30s, a registered nurse, and a PhD student in nursing science – conducted all of the interviews. This researcher was thus familiar with the context of the Finnish health-care system, and nursing practice environments.

As in all qualitative research, the researcher's experiences as an RN influenced the content and the research questions presented in this study. As Meyrick (2006, p. 804) concludes: "Good quality research ensures that the epistemological and theoretical stance of the researcher is stated clearly in the study". This could be seen as strength of the study, because the researcher's own experience as a young RN offered an insider's perspective on the views of young RNs. On the other hand, it raises the question of what the results would have been if the interviews and the data analysis were conducted by a researcher who did not have a degree in nursing or work experience as a RN. Moreover, one of the RNs participating in the qualitative inquiries (Phase III) had worked at the same ward in which the researcher had previously worked. This may have contributed to the researcher's interpretation of the interview data of this young RN. Simultaneously, this experience may have increased the researcher's understanding of the interviewee's experiences in their nursing career.

*Dependability* was established by describing the data analysis in detail and providing direct citations to reveal the basis from which the analysis was conducted. The citations used in these two inquiries were translated into English with a help of a translator, to maintain accuracy and context as much as possible. With the thematic interviews, Atlas.ti software enabled data integrity.

The *conformability and consistency* of the in-depth data analysis were established by holding meetings for the authors to discuss preliminary findings; emerging codes and themes were discussed until a consensus was reached. However, the conformability of the in-depth research could be compromised by a number of reasons. Researcher bias is a potential threat with all qualitative studies (Ihantola & Kihn 2011), and thus also for this study. The qualitative data was collected in its entirety by the researcher. At the time of the first career-story interviews (Paper III), the researcher was in her 30s, had been a practicing as an RN for approximately six years and was working in The Finnish Confederation of Professionals (STTK). At the time of the second narrative interviews and the thematic interviews, the researcher was working in the Union for Health and Social Care Professionals (Tehy) as a senior advisor. Therefore, the researcher is in fact a former RN who had made the decision to leave the profession before the age of 30. This has certainly affected how the researcher interpreted the interviews.

To enhance the *transferability* of the findings, a description of the context, selection and demographics of participants, data collection and process of analysis was provided (Paper III & IV), to enable the reader to determine whether the results of this study are transferable to another context (Graneheim & Lundman 2004).

In the third phase, some of the young RNs interviewed had actually made the decision to leave the nursing profession. Therefore, they were describing their intention to leave nursing retrospectively. This may have contributed to what they described their reasons to be for their intention to leave the nursing profession. Furthermore, the participants were all aware of the interviewer's occupation as a registered nurse, and thus it is possible that this knowledge may have influenced the way in which they recounted their experiences in the interviews. They were also aware that the topic of the research was the intention to leave nursing: this in turn might have brought up more negative issues from their career, in order to justify their reasons for leaving it.

#### 8.3 Discussion of the main results

Many of the findings in this dissertation seem to be consistent with the existing literature; the first years in a nursing career have also been reported as challenging for young RNs in international research (Duchscher 2001, Gerrish 2000, Hayes et al. 2006b, Duchscher 2008, Kanai-Pak et al. 2008, Brewer et al. 2009, Duchscher 2009, Kovner et al. 2009, Pellico et al. 2009, Zinsmeister & Schafer 2009, Djukic 2011, Halfer 2011, Kovner et al. 2011, Peterson et al. 2011, Bjerknes & Bjørk 2012, Niitsuma et al. 2012, Feng & Tsai 2012, Suresh et al. 2013, Teoh et al. 2013).

# 8.3.1 Young RNs' intent to leave the profession as a long-lasting and complex process

The *first main finding* was that one in four (26%) of the young Finnish RNs reported a strong intention to leave nursing and start a different kind of job. Moreover, a total of 37% of the young RNs often considered leaving their current organization. The proportion with the intention to leave the profession was at a similar level to that of wage earners in Finland. According to the Quality of work life survey, conducted by Statistics Finland in year 2008, approximately one third (31%) of young wage earners (aged 15–24) were willing to change to a different profession. Overall, 27% of wage earners of all ages reported that they would like to change to a different profession. (Lehto & Sutela 2008.)

The sample for the survey study (Paper II) was collected in the year 2003; however, more recent studies confirm that young RNs do have fairly high levels of intention to leave the profession. According to the study by Salminen (2012) into young Finnish RNs (aged less than 35 years) working in university hospitals, 37% had a frequent intention to leave the profession (sample collected in the year 2005). Contradictory findings, however, also exist; according to the RN4CAST -study, the proportion of nurses intending to leave their profession in Finland was lower than in the other international and Finnish studies, at only 10% (N = 1131, mean age 41.7). According to the RN4CAST data, age did not correlate with nurses' intention to leave the profession in Finland (Heinen et al. 2013). In international studies, the rate of young or graduate nurses with an intention to leave the

profession has varied between 6–59% (Engberg et al. 2007, Rudman et al. 2010, Lavoie-Tremblay et al. 2008, Clendon & Walker 2012, Lee et al. 2013, Rudman & Gustavsson 2013).

The current economic recession has resulted in a decrease in new nurses' turnover for example in the United States (Brewer et al. 2012a). This situation could also be replicated in Finland. However, as Brewer et al. (2012a) remains, nurse turnover may increase dramatically once the job market again opens up. Thus, young RNs' intention to leave the profession may be dependent on the economic situation and will change over time due to the changes in the economy and the labour markets.

The *second main finding* was that the mix of quantitative and qualitative study indicated that a combination of different variables was related to the young RNs' intention to leave the profession. In the survey questionnaire and in the two in-depth studies, personal burnout was associated with young RNs' intention to leave the profession. This finding is supported by earlier empirical research, where burnout was associated with RNs' intention to leave the profession (Hasselhorn et al. 2005b, Heinen et al. 2013). Also, according to a recent study by Rudman and Gustafsson (2011), many graduates experience high levels of burnout, with the second year of practice being especially stressful. According to these authors, stress was associated with the intention to leave the profession early in a nursing career. Based on the results of this study and previous international studies, it can be concluded that there is a need to find new effective ways to reduce young RNs' experiences of burnout early in their career.

According to the survey study (Paper II), other variables associated with a higher level of intention to leave the profession were poor opportunities for development, lack of affective professional commitment, low job satisfaction, work–family conflicts and higher quantitative work demands. In the in-depth inquiries (Phase III), choosing a nursing career as a 'second-best' or serendipitous career choice, the demanding work content, as well as the poor practice environments and the inability to identify with the stereotypical images of nurses were among the themes which young RNs described as reasons for intending to leave the profession.

The findings of the present study suggest that one driver for having intention to leave the profession could be poor opportunities for advancement and development. Similar findings have been discussed in other studies; according to Salminen (2012), a proportion of young RNs in Finland have an intention to leave the profession because they feel that they have the potential to carry out more challenging tasks. Furthermore, in Kankaanranta and Rissanen's (2009) study, the possibility for specialization was strongly associated with job satisfaction and a decrease in the intention to change sector. Moreover, former nurses had indicated "too low demands" of nursing work (Hasselhorn et al. 2005b) and lack of professional opportunities (Fochsen et al. 2005) as reasons to leave the profession. According to the Quality of work life surveys, possibilities for development within work are more valued by Finnish workers than career advancement

connected to the job (Lehto & Sutela, 2008). Therefore, health-care organizations also in Finland should be able to provide professional development opportunities for young RNs.

One finding of this study that was contradictory to earlier research, was that no single, jarring precipitating events or shocks (e.g. an act by a violent patient) were identified which could have caused these young RNs to consider leaving the profession. This is the opposite finding to some earlier studies, where precipitating events, or a shock, caused part of the anticipated departure intentions from an organization (Morrell 2005) and even the profession (Cheung 2004, Holtom et al. 2005, Morrell 2005).

The *third main finding* of this study was that young RNs' intention to leave the profession appears to be a long-lasting and complex consideration process. According to the longitudinal career stories and thematic interviews (Paper III, IV), the consideration process for young RNs having intention to leave the profession lasted more than one year and was not easy for these RNs. In other studies, serious consideration processes have also been found to begin approximately one year before the final decision to leave the profession is made (Hasselhorn et al. 2005b, Carless & Arnup 2011). Because this consideration process of leaving intention is long lasting, it creates the possibility for preventive action (Hasselhorn et al. 2005b, Cortese 2012). Such preventive actions could be, for example, occupational health activities to reduce stress as well as the provision of new developmental and career opportunities (e.g. advance practice nursing roles, a limited right to prescribe medication, career ladders). Moreover, activities to improve the nursing practice environments (e.g. ensuring adequate staffing levels, sufficient feedback, rewarding), are also needed (Kvist et al. 2013).

The *fourth main finding* was that many young RNs in the qualitative inquiries (Paper III, IV) describe having chosen a nursing career as a 'second-best' or serendipitous career choice. Choosing a nursing career was a compromise, rather than a long-held plan for these young RNs. This finding is supported by Santamäki et al.'s (2005) study, in which 35% (n = 3,352) of the participants reported that they had chosen nursing as a 'second-best' alternative or 'coincidentally'. This finding is also in line with the earlier study, where compromising a desired career goal was associated with career dissatisfaction and career distress (Creed & Plume 2013). Moreover, entering the nursing profession as a default career choice has been associated with career-choice stress (Jirwe & Rudman 2011), consideration of leaving the profession early in the career (Engberg et al. 2007) and with shorter career in nursing (Barriball & While 1996, Duffield et al. 2004a).

*The fifth main finding* was that in the qualitative case study (Paper III), young RNs' provided stories of negative images and stereotypes in relation to their intention to leave the profession. This result can be mirrored with respect to the history of the nursing profession. Nursing has been defined by concepts of motherhood, altruism, and ideals of femininity (White 2002, Darbyshire & Gordon 2005, Fletcher 2007) and also has called as a 'virtuous choice' (Price et al. 2013b). Florence Nightingale, a 19<sup>th</sup> century pioneer

in nursing, described nursing as a profession and vocation for women. She wrote, in early 1859, that being a nurse requires a calling and a certain nature; "she must be a sound, and close, and quick observer; and she must be a woman of delicate and decent feeling" (Nightingale 1992, pp.70-71). Could this be one reason why young RNs' leave the profession — that bright and career motivated young RNs believe they do not fit the historical and gendered stereotypes of nurses? Moreover, these stereotypical images could influence young people's career choices (Price et al. 2013a). As Lutter (2011, p.11) concluded in her feminist study of nurses: "It is remiss to explore the nursing shortage without exploring the position of women within a gendered profession".

#### 8.3.2 Retention of young RNs in the nursing workforce

The nursing workforce shortage has been described as a complex problem with no single reason or solution (West et al. 2007). The retention of RNs is a global concern for policymakers, nurse leaders and nurse managers (O'Brien-Pallas et al. 2005, Institute of Medicine 2010). Retaining RNs in the workforce is less expensive and disruptive than replacing departing nurses (Cortese 2012). Mature-age graduates do not alone solve the forthcoming forecasted nursing shortages, because they have a shorter working career ahead in the profession than young graduates (Auerbach et al. 2007, Drury et al. 2008). Therefore, finding effective ways to specifically retain young RNs in the nursing workforce is of the utmost importance in order to maintain the core of the future health care workforce (Aiken & Cheung 2008, Buchan & Aiken 2008, WHO 2009, WHO 2010, Attree et al. 2011, European Commission 2012).

Improvements in nursing practice environments are suggested in order to retain a greater number of young RNs in health-care organizations (Aiken et al. 2012, Van den Heede et al. 2011, Twigg & McCullough 2014) and to improve patient safety outcomes (Kirwan et al 2013). The Magnet Recognition Program, developed in the Unites States (American Nurses Credentialing Center 2013), could be considered as one of the models to develop practice environments internationally (see example Lacey et al. 2007, Aiken et al. 2008c, Salmond et al. 2009, Aiken et al. 2010, Kelly et al. 2011, Kramer et al. 2011, Wolf et al. 2008) and also in Finland (Partanen et al. 2008, Kvist et al. 2013).

As in the study of new nurses by Bjerknes and Bjørk (2012), young RNs participating in this study wanted to provide high-quality care and make a difference to their patients. Young RNs predominantly enjoyed taking care of their patients, and mainly did not regret their decision to become nurses. However, they were confronted with many ethical problems, predominantly caused by their not being able to provide humane and proper care. Similar findings have been discussed in other studies. For example, in a study by Bjerknes and Bjørk (2012), newly qualified nurses wanted to give patients the best care possible. However, at the same time they were experiencing fragmentation of patient care, time pressures and a lack of support. Young RNs' desire to provide high-quality and appropriate nursing must be recognized; high-quality patient care has been shown to be a major generating factor for job satisfaction in nurses (Utriainen & Kyngäs 2009).

However, these young RNs also presented concerns that the professional nurse practice environment is not always ideal in Finland. These young RNs reported facing time pressures, high patient–nurse ratios, heavy workloads and ethical problems. The results of this study are in line with growing research evidence which links poor nursing practice environments and poor nurse outcomes (e.g. burnout, job dissatisfaction and intention to leave) (Kutney-Lee et al. 2009, Aiken et al. 2011a, Aiken et al. 2012, Hinno et al. 2012, Kramer et al. 2013, Kutney-Lee et al. 2013). Buchan and Aiken (2008, p 3262) have crystallized this need for better nursing practice environments as follows: "The 'shortage' of nurses is not necessarily a shortage of individuals with nursing qualifications; it is a shortage of nurses willing to work in the present conditions." However, more research is needed into whether improvements in nursing practice environments could retain more young RNs within the profession.

In the thematic interviews (Paper IV), the young RNs were striving to gain social support and mentoring. Moreover, many of them felt that they had not received adequate orientation when they entered their workplace as new graduates. Also in previous studies, adequate social support was found to be important for securing positive work outcomes for newly-graduated RNs (Peterson et al. 2011). Moreover, different orientation programmes and mentoring have been found to be essential in relation to the retention and satisfaction of new graduate nurses in their early careers (Shamian & Inhaber 1985, Levett-Jones & Fitzgerald 2005, Salonen et al. 2007, Duchscher 2008, Salt et al. 2008, Scott et al. 2008, Rush et al. 2013). Different kinds of programmes have been developed for new nurses to ease their transition into the practice environment, including: generic programmes, residencies, internships, mentorships, extended preceptorships and postorientation "buddy" programs (McDonald & Ward-Smith 2012). These abovementioned international orientation programmes range from brief informal programmes to extended formal programmes including preceptors and mentors (Scott et al. 2008, Salt et al. 2008, McDonald & Ward-Smith 2012). It has been suggested that management strategies that support long-term mentorship between new RNs and their preceptors should be further developed also in Finland (Salonen et al. 2007, Kivelä et al. 2014).

Supporting RNs through the transition of their first few years of practice is paramount for retaining them in the profession. Special attention should be paid on young RNs who have plans to change wards or organization, as this may be the start of a withdrawal process that could then lead to professional turnover (Krausz et al. 1995, Morrell 2005). Young RNs' intentions to leave the profession should be regularly evaluated (Salminen 2012) and managers should be able to identify the early signs of an intention to leave (Takase 2010). Moreover, profiling of young RNs who leave should be undertaken so that managers have an accurate and detailed picture of turnover in their organizations (Morrell 2005).

At a time when careers are described as 'boundaryless' or 'protean' (Hess et al. 2012), it is inevitable that some young RNs will leave their profession early in their careers. This transition can be beneficial for these young RNs; they can move to careers that they find more satisfactory. However, from the perspective of the nursing workforce, it would be necessary for an adequate number of young RNs to make the decision to stay within their profession. In a time of global workforce shortages, the departure of a large number of young RNs is problematic and can result in further complications in these shortages. However, it is difficult to estimate what level of nurse turnover is optimal for health-care organizations and for the nursing workforce as whole. Leaving the profession is not as prevalent in Finland as the impression that public debate may give; approximately every tenth worker (15% of men and 13% women) have been working in several clearly different professions during their career and this phenomenon has remained quite unchanged during past 30 years. (Lehto & Sutela 2008.)

Young RNs enter a different working life and nursing practice environments than nurses who graduated some decades ago did. The attractiveness of the nursing profession and health-care organizations is a critical challenge in terms of future nursing workforce; "If we are to attract creative, committed, intelligent, and passionate people into nursing, then nursing needs to be seen as every bit as worthwhile, challenging, and dynamic a career as any other in the fields of health care or social service." (Darbyshire & Gordon 2005, p. 74). However, there are no longer life-long careers; instead, a proportion of young RNs can be expected to change organizations and even profession several times within their lifetime. Therefore, in a time of nursing shortages, those health care systems and organisations which are able to recruit and retain young RNs will manage better the burden of an aging population and the growing need for care.

### 8.4 Suggestions for health-care policy-makers and nurse leaders

Retention of young RNs is a common global concern for health-care policy-makers and nurse leaders. The following suggestions are thus made, based on the results of this study:

- 1. The latest research evidence concerning young RNs' turnover and intention to leave the profession should be implemented when decisions are made concerning the nurse workforce on international and national levels.
- 2. The retention of young RNs should be raised as a one of the priorities in Finland, and also globally, when making political level decisions regarding the nurse workforce.
- 3. Young RNs must be prioritized as an important generation group of the nursing workforce when international and national level visions and strategies for nursing workforce are projected.

- 4. A focus on the reduction of young RNs' burnout and job dissatisfaction is crucial when decisions are made in relation to the professional nursing practice environments.
- 5. Effective and innovative solutions need to be created for the retention of young RNs in the nursing workforce. Human resource management, as well as retention activities, should be targeted at avoidable turnover.
- 6. Investment needs to be directed into nurse practice environments; possibilities for advancement and development (for example career ladders, advance practice roles), social support, mentoring and orientation programmes should all be provided for young RNs in the first years of their nursing career.
- 7. Young RNs' desire to provide high-quality nursing care must be recognized in society and health-care organizations.
- 8. During nursing education, clinical skills should be emphasized so that novice RNs has the necessary practical skills to start nursing work.

#### 8.5 Suggestions for nurse managers

On the basis of the results of this study, it is suggested that nurse managers:

- 1. Acknowledge the stress and demands experienced by young RNs in their early careers.
- 2. Provide career advancement and personal developmental possibilities by offering various career pathways, clinical advancement opportunities and career ladder programmes.
- 3. Develop and implement orientation and mentoring programmes.
- 4. Provide social support for young RNs: also listening to and accepting negative emotions.
- 5. Perform development discussions and exit interviews to discover the reasons why young RNs are leaving and whether their decision to leave is avoidable.
- 6. Provide regular feedback for young RNs.
- 7. Act as a positive RN role model, alongside experienced colleagues.
- 8. Intervene if bullying and verbal abuse against young RNs occurs.
- 9. Provide young nurses with opportunities to present their thoughts and opinions about their work and career.

10. Be aware of the effects that negative stereotyping has for nurses and the profession generally.

#### 8.6 Suggestions for further research

Based on the results of this study and earlier research, we make the following suggestions for nursing research:

- 1. The lack of studies on young RNs' intention to leave the profession internationally presents a need for further exploration.
- 2. Future research is needed into whether the motives for choosing a nursing career in adolescence affect the length of the career in the nursing profession at a later age.
- 3. Further in-depth studies should target young RNs' lived experiences in order to gain deeper understanding into the long-lasting cognitive consideration processes associated with intent to leave the profession early in their career.
- 4. Moreover, longitudinal research is needed in order to understand why some young RNs make the final decision to leave the profession whereas some decide to remain in the profession (despite reporting a leaving intention).
- 5. Investigating former young RNs' views and experiences could provide additional information about the reasons why young RNs made the final decision to leave the profession.

# 9. CONCLUTIONS

This study's findings suggest that young RNs' intention to leave the profession warrants attention in health-care policies and nurse-workforce forecasts, because this generational group of RNs are demonstrating fairly high levels of intent to leave the profession. Because young RNs' professional leaving intention is a complex and long-lasting phenomenon, there are no simple health policy level solutions for the retention of young RNs. However, more effective strategies are required to enhance the retention of young RNs in the future.

The following conclusions are drawn from this study:

## Conclusions from the literature reviews:

- There is a dearth of research explicitly investigating young RNs' intention to leave the profession.
- A definition of the concept of 'intention to leave the profession' is lacking across studies.
- There is a dominance of quantitative research concerning this phenomenon.
- A myriad of variables have been associated with RNs' intention to leave the profession.
- A clear theoretical understanding of why young RNs are leaving or staying in the profession is still lacking.

### **Conclusions from the survey study:**

- Many variables were associated with a higher intention to leave and therefore a comprehensive understanding of why young Finnish RNs have this professional turnover intent was not formed based on this quantitative survey study.
- In-depth research was needed in order to gain a better understanding of why young RNs are intending to leave the profession.

# Conclusions from the in-depth studies:

- The use of in-depth methods made it possible to examine young RNs' professional turnover intent as an ongoing, complex and multidimensional process.
- Young RNs' intention to leave the profession appears to be a long-lasting and highly individualized process.

#### Implication for management, practice and future research:

- Better understanding is needed about the cognitive consideration processes undertaken by young RNs intending to leave the profession.
- As young RNs' intent to leave the profession appears to be formed by a longlasting consideration process, preventive actions can be enacted.
- These preventive actions can include measures to reduce work-related stress, possibilities for advancement and development (career ladders, advance practice roles), social support, feedback and positive acknowledgement from the nurse managers and experienced colleagues, mentoring and orientation programmes.
- Societies, labor markets and health-care systems differs globally; therefore, it could be more reasonable to produce national-level data on young RNs' professional turnover intent for the use of policymakers, nurse leaders and managers.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out at the Department of Nursing Science, University of Turku. During this process, I have enjoyed the support and inspiration of many people. I would like to express my thanks to all of them, although I cannot name them all here individually.

I owe my deepest gratitude to my supervisors, Professor Sanna Salanterä, PhD and Professor Helena Leino-Kilpi, PhD for their mentorship and continuous support throughout my master's and doctoral training in the Department of Nursing Science. I have been privileged to enjoy your caring supervision and continuous support. Sanna, I would like to gratefully and sincerely thank you for your guidance, understanding, patience and, most importantly, your friendship during my dissertation project. Helena, as Head of the Department of Nursing Science, I would like to thank you for giving me the opportunity to conduct my study in such a nourishing and stimulating academic atmosphere. Your guidance, enthusiastic encouragement and useful critiques during these years have been very much appreciated.

I owe my sincere gratitude to my excellent reviewers, Docent Merja Miettinen, PhD and Docent Irma Kiikala, PhD, for agreeing to review this dissertation. I thank them for their careful review and constructive criticism regarding ways to improve this dissertation. Moreover, my sincere thanks also go to Professor Walter Sermeus, PhD, from Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, Belgium, for being the official opponent of my dissertation defence.

My heartfelt gratitude also extends to my co-authors. I thank Adjunct Professor Hans-Martin Hasselhorn, M.D, from Bergische Universität Wuppertal, Germany; Theme Director Marjukka Laine, PhD, from the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health; and postdoctoral researcher Ulpukka Iso-Pahkala-Bouret, PhD, from the Institute of Behavioural Sciences, University of Helsinki for their patience, warmth and understanding. I feel that our multidisciplinary collaboration has been fruitful. Writing and participating in inspiring discussions concerning narrative research with Ulpukka Isopahkala-Bouret has been one of the greatest learning experiences during my research project. I would also like to thank researcher Päivi Siivonen, PhD, for stimulating discussions and professional guidance while I was conducting my narrative study.

Warmest thanks go to our seminar group in the Doctoral Programme in Nursing Science in Professor Sanna Salanterä's seminars. Your constructive feedback and discussions in the seminars about my research have given me much strength to carry on and finish this dissertation. I would also like to thank all of the doctoral student participating in the narrative summer school and 'narrative club' in the University of Helsinki, Faculty of Behavioral Sciences. It has been a great privilege for me to get to know you all.

I would like to extend my special thanks to Dr. Mike Nelson and Ms. Suzanne Collins for checking my language in different phases of the study. Suzanne wrote to me "I suggest a

sit down and a cup of tea" when I once felt very stressed and hurried. This was one of the many useful pieces of advice that I received when finalizing my dissertation manuscript.

During these years I have also received assistance from many people at the Department of Nursing Science, Faculty of Medicine and the Finnish Doctoral Education Network in Nursing Science and I would like to warmly thank everyone.

I also want to express my warmest gratitude to all the young registered nurses who participated in my research during its different phases. Without you, this research would never have been completed.

This journey has been a great learning experience in many respects, although not always an easy one. I sincerely thank my wonderful fellow students, Riitta-Liisa Lakanmaa, PhD and Katja Heikkinen, PhD. Our laughter-filled journeys to the European Academy of Nursing Science summer schools in different European countries will never to be forgotten. You have both been great friends and mentors to me. My sincere thanks also go to Elina Kontio, PhD, Heljä Lundgren-Laine, PhD, Anna Axelin, PhD, and Minna Stolt, PhD. It has been inspiring to follow you; you have all been excellent role models by conducting your own research so enthusiastically. I really hope our easy-going collaboration will continue in the future.

Moreover, I want to thank all my co-workers in the Union of Health and Social Care Professionals (Tehy), The Finnish Confederation of Salaried Employees (STTK) and The Finnish Nurses Association for their support during this study.

I thank my parents and my sister, who have believed me in all my efforts in life and my spouses' parents, for taking good care of our children and offering help whenever needed. I want to extend my deepest and loving thanks to my dear spouse Sami. Without your support and understanding, this work would never have been completed. You have taken care of numerous household duties while when I have sat at my desk writing in the evenings, weekends and in summer holidays. In addition to completing this dissertation, we welcomed our two sons, Matias and Tomi, into our family. These little boys are joys of my heart and my main accomplishment in life. Without you I would not be me. I love you more than anything in the world.

This study was financially supported by the University of Turku; Department of Nursing Science of University of Turku; the Faculty of Medicine of University of Turku; the Turku University Foundation (Turun yliopistosäätiö); the Hospital District of Southwest Finland special grant-in-aid (Varsinais-Suomen sairaanhoitopiiri, EVO); the Finnish Work Environment Fund (Työsuojelurahasto); The Finnish Foundation for Nursing Education (Sairaanhoitajien koulutussäätiö); and The Finnish Association of Nursing Research (Hoitotieteiden Tutkimusseura HTTS), which are all gratefully acknowledged.

In Helsinki 16.2.2014, when there is a feeling that spring is almost around the corner, the winter sun is starting to warm and the birds are singing loudly in the morning....

Mervi Flinkman

# REFERENCES

- AACN., 2012. Nursing Shortage Fact Sheet. American Association of Colleges of Nursing. Retrieved from: http://www.aacn.nche.edu/media-relations/ NrsgShortageFS.pdf Accessed 22/11/2013.
- Abelson, M.A., 1987. Examination of Avoidable and Unavoidable Turnover. Journal of Applied Psychology 72 (3), 382–386.
- Act on Health Care Professionals (559/1994). Government of Finland. Helsinki, Ministry of Social Affairs and Health. Retrieved from: http://www.psyli.fi/ files/48/psyli-english-1.pdf Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Adams, A., Bond, S., 2000. Hospital nurses' satisfaction, individual and organizational characteristics. Journal of Advanced Nursing 32 (3), 536–543.
- Aho, S., Mäkiaho, A., 2012. Liikkuvuuden dynamiikkaa. Koulutuksen ja työuran katkosten yhteys liikkuvuuteen työpaikkojen, toimialojen ja ammattien välillä. Työ- ja elinkeinoministeriön julkaisuja 23/2012. Retrieved from: http://www. tem.fi/ajankohtaista/julkaisut/tyo\_ja\_yrittajyys/ liikkuvuuden\_dynamiikkaa. koulutuksen\_ja\_tyouran\_katkosten\_yhteys\_liikkuvuuteen\_tyopaikkojen\_toimialojen\_ja\_ammattien\_valilla.97983.xhtml Accessed 24/11/2013.
- Ahonen, G., Hussi, T., Pirinen, H., 2010. Y-sukupolvi haastaa johtamisen Suomen työelämässä. Työpoliittinen Aikakauskirja 4, 23–32.
- Ailasmaa, R., 2013. Sosiaali- ja terveyspalvelujen henkilöstö 2010. THL Tilastoraportteja 10/2013. Retrieved from: URL< http://www.thl.fi/tilastoliite/tilastoraportit/2013/Tr10\_13.pdf Accessed 5/6/2013.
- Aiken, L.H., Clarke, S.P., Sloane, D.M., Sochalski, J.A., 2001. Nurses' reports of hospital quality of care and working conditions in five countries. Health Affairs 20 (3), 43–53.
- Aiken, L.H., Clarke, S.P., Sloane, D.M., Sochalski, J., Silber, J.H., 2002. Hospital nurse staffing and patient mortality, nurse burnout, and job dissatisfaction. The Journal of the American Medical Association 288 (16), 1987–1993.
- Aiken, L. H., Clarke, S. P., Cheung, R. B., Sloane, D. M., Silber, J. H., 2003. Educational levels of hospital nurses and surgical patient mortality. Journal of the American Medical Association 290 (12), 1617– 1623.
- Aiken, L.H., Clarke, S.P., Sloane, D.M., Lake, E.T., Cheney, T., 2008a. Effects of hospital care environment on patient mortality and nurse outcomes. Journal of Nursing Administration 38 (5), 223–229.
- Aiken, L.H., Cheung, R., 2008b. Nurse Workforce Challenges in the United States: Implications for Policy. OECD Health Working Papers, No. 35, OECD Publishing. Retrieved from: http://www.

oecd-ilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/ nurse-workforce-challenges-in-the-unitedstates\_236153608331 Accessed 21/11/2013.

- Aiken, L.H., Buchan, J., Ball, J., Rafferty, A.M., 2008c. Transformative impact of magnet designation: England case study. Journal of Clinical Nursing 17 (24), 3330–3337.
- Aiken, L.H., Sloane, D.M., Bruyneel, L., Van den Heede, K., Griffiths, P., Busse, R., Diomidous, M., Kinnunen, J., Kózka, M., Lesaffre, E., McHugh, D.M., Moreno-Casbas, M.T., Rafferty, A.M., Schwendimann, R., Scott, P.A., Tishelman, C., van Achterberg, T., Walter Sermeus, for the RN4CAST consortium., 2014. Nurse staffing and education and hospital mortality in nine European countries: a retrospective observational study. Lancet [Early Online Publication] http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62631-8
- Aiken, L., Sloane, D.M., Bruyneel, L., Van den Heede, K., Sermeus, W., RN4CAST Consortium., 2013. Nurses' reports of working conditions and hospital quality of care in 12 countries in Europe. International Journal of Nursing Studies 50 (2), 143–153.
- Aiken, L.H., Sloane, D.M., Cimiotti, J.P., Clarke, S.P., Flynn, L., Seago, J.A., Spetz, K., Smith H.L., 2010. Implications of the California Nurse Staffing Mandate for Other States. Health Services Research 45 (4), 904–921.
- Aiken, L.H., Cimiotti, J., Sloane, D.M., Smith, H.L., Flynn, L., Neff, D., 2011a. The effects of nurse staffing and nurse education on patient deaths in hospitals with different nurse work environments. Medical Care 49 (12), 1047–1053.
- Aiken, L.H., Sloane, D.M., Clarke, S., Poghosyan, L., Cho, E., You, L., Finlayson, M.M., Kanai-Pak, M., Aungsuroch, Y., 2011b. Importance of work environments on hospital outcomes in nine countries. International Journal for Quality in Health Care 23 (4), 357–364.
- Aiken, L.H., Sermeus, W., Van Den Heede, K., Sloane, D.M., Busse, R., McKee, M., Bruyneel, L., Rafferty, A.M., Griffiths, P., Moreno-Casbas, M.T., Tishelman, C., Scott, A., Brzostek, T., Kinnunen, J., Schwendimann, R., Heinen, M., Zikos, D., Sjetne, I.S., Smith, H.L., Kutney-Lee, A., 2012. Patient safety, satisfaction, and quality of hospital care: cross sectional surveys of nurses and patients in 12 countries in Europe and the United States. BMJ 344, e1717, http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.e1717.
- Airila, A. 2007. Eri-ikäisiin työntekijöihin liitetyt mielikuvat ja stereotypiat. In: A. Airila, K. Kauppinen, K. Eskola. Ikäystävällisyys ja iän merkitys työssä tutkimus hoito–, opetus- ja pelastusalalla. Monikko-projekti. European Social Funds. Finnish Institute of Occupational Health, Helsinki, pp. 20–60.

- Ajzen, I., 2005. Attitudes, personality, and behavior. (Second Edition). Open University Press, Maidenhead, United Kingdom.
- Ajzen, I., Fishbein, M., 1980. Understanding attitudes and predicting social behavior. Englewood-Cliffs, Prentice-Hall Inc, United States of America.
- Allan, J. D., Aldebron, J., 2008. A systematic assessment of strategies to address the nursing faculty shortage, U.S. Nursing Outlook 56 (6), 286–297.
- Allen, D.G., 2004. Explaining the link between turnover intentions and turnover. The roles of risk, personality, and intentions-behavior linkages. In: Innovative Theory and Empirical Research on Employee Turnover. R, Griffeth, P. Hom (eds.) Research in Human Resource Management. Greenwich, Conn: Information Age Publishing, pp. 35–55.
- Alatalo, J., Koponen, E-L., Saijets H., 2013. Työ- ja elinkeinoministeriön lyhyen aikavälin työmarkkinaennuste. Työ- ja elinkeinoministeriö. Kevät 2013. TEM-analyyseja 49/2013. Helsinki. Retrieved from: http://www.tem.fi/files/36627/ennuste\_kevat\_2013. pdf Accessed 24/11/2012.
- Andersson, P.L., Edberg, A–K., 2010. The transition from rookie to genuine nurse: Narratives from Swedish nurses 1 year after graduation. Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing 41 (4), 186–192.
- Artman, H., Penttilä, A., 1972. Tutkimus sairaanhoitajien työstä poissaolon syistä. Sosiaalinen Aikakausikirja 3, 269–280.
- Arthur, M. B., 1994. The boundaryless career: A new perspective for organizational inquiry. Journal of Organizational Behavior 15 (4), 295–306.
- Attree, M., Flinkman, M., Lakanmaa, R-L., Lima Basto, M., Howley, B., Uhrenfeldt, L., 2011. A review of nursing workforce policies in five European countries: Denmark, Finland, Ireland, Portugal and UK/ England. Journal of Nursing Management 19 (6), 786-802.
- Auerbach, D., Buerhaus, P., Staiger, D., 2007. Better late than never: Workforce supply implication of later entry into nursing. Health Affairs 26 (1), 178–185.
- Auerbach, D.I., Buerhaus, P.I., Staiger, D.O., 2011. Registered nurse supply grows faster than projected amid surge in new entrants ages 23–26. Health Affairs 30 (12), 2286–2292.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics., 2013. Doctor and Nurses. Retrieved from: http://www.abs.gov.au/ AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/Lookup/4102.0Main+Features20April+2013 Accessed 24/11/2013.
- Bae, S-H., Mark, B., Fried, B., 2010. Impact of nursing unit turnover on patient outcomes in hospitals. Journal of Nursing Scholarship 42 (1), 40–49.
- Barack, M.E.M., Nissly, J.A., Levin, A., 2001. Antecedents to Retention and Turnover among Child Welfare, Social Work, and Other Human Service

Employees: What Can We Learn from Past Research? A Review and Meta-Analysis. Social Service Review 75 (4), 625–661.

- Barlow, K.M., Zangaro, G.A., 2010. Meta-analysis of the reliability and validity of the Anticipated Turnover Scale across studies of registered nurses in the United States. Journal of Nursing Management 18 (7), 862–873.
- Barnett, T., Namasivayam, P., Narudin, D.A.A., 2010. A critical review of the nursing shortage in Malaysia. International Nursing Review 57 (1), 32–39.
- Barriball, L., While, A., 1996. The similarities and differences between nurses with different career choice profiles: findings from an interview study. Journal of Advanced Nursing 23 (2), 380–388.
- Barron, D., West, E., 2005. Leaving nursing: An event-history analysis of nurses' careers. Journal of Health Services Research & Policy 10 (3), 150–157.
- Baumann, A., 2010. The Impact of Turnover and the Benefit of Stability in the Nursing Workforce. International Councils for Nurses, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Beecroft, P.C., Dorey, F., Wenten, M., 2008. Turnover intention in new graduate nurses: a multivariate analysis. Journal of Advanced Nursing 62 (1), 41–52.
- Berry, L., Curry, P., 2012. Nursing Workload and Patient Safety: Understanding the Value of Nurses, the Effects of Excessive Workload, and How Nurse-patient Ratios and Dynamic Staffing Models Can Help. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Federation of Nurses Unions. Retrieved from: http://www.nursesunions. ca/sites/default/files/cfnu\_workload\_paper\_pdf.pdf Accessed 6/12/2013.
- Bjerknes, M.K., Bjørk, I.T., 2012. Entry into Nursing: An Ethnographic Study of Newly Qualified Nurses Taking on the Nursing Role in a Hospital Setting. Nursing Research and Practice. Article ID 690348. doi:10.1155/2012/690348.
- Black, L., Spetz, J., Harrington, C., 2008. Nurses working outside of nursing: Societal trend or workplace crisis? Policy, Politics & Nursing Practice 9 (3), 143–157.
- Black, L., Spetz, J., & Harrington, C., 2010. Nurses who do not nurse: factors that predict nonnursing work in the U.S. registered nursing labor market. Nursing Economics 28 (4), 245–255.
- Blau, G., 2007. Does a corresponding set of variables for explaining voluntary organizational turnover transfer to explaining voluntary occupational turnover? Journal of Vocational Behavior 70 (1), 135– 148.
- Blythe, J., Baumann, A., Zeytinoglu, I.U., Denton, M., Akhtar-Danesh, N., Davies, S Kolotylo, C., 2008. Nursing Generations in the Contemporary

Workplace. Public Personnel Management 37 (2), 137–159.

- Bowles, C., Candela, L. 2005. First job experiences of recent RN graduates. Journal of Nursing Administration 35 (3), 130–137.
- Brewer, C.S., Kovner, C.T., Greene, W., Cheng, Y., 2009. Predictors of RNs' intent to work and work decisions 1 year later in a U.S. national sample. International Journal of Nursing Studies 46 (7), 940–956.
- Brewer, C.S., Kovner, C.T., Yingrengreung, S., Djukic, M., 2012a. New Nurses: Has the Recession Increased Their Commitment to Their Jobs? American Journal of Nursing 112 (3), 34–44.
- Brewer, C.S., Kovner, C.T., Greene, W., Tukov-Shuser, M., Djukic, M., 2012b. Predictors of actual turnover in a national sample of newly licensed registered nurses employed in hospitals. Journal of Advanced Nursing 68 (3), 521–538.
- Brewer, C.S., Kovner, C.T., 2013. Intersection of migration and turnover theories - What can we learn? Nursing Outlook. doi: 10.1016/j.outlook.2013.09.002.
- Bruyneel, L., Heede, K. V. D., Diya, L., Aiken, L., Sermeus, W., 2009. Predictive Validity of the International Hospital Outcomes Study Questionnaire: An RN4CAST Pilot Study. Journal of Nursing Scholarship 41 (2), 202–210.
- Buchan, J., Calman, L., 2004. The Global Shortage of Registered Nurses: An Overview of Issues and Actions. ICN International Council of Nurses, Geneva.
- Buchan, J., Aiken, L., 2008. Solving nursing shortages: a common priority. Journal of Clinical Nursing 17 (24), 3262–3268.
- Buchan, J., Black, S., 2011. The Impact of Pay Increases on Nurses' Labour Market: A Review of Evidence from Four OECD Countries. OECD Health Working Papers, No. 57, OECD Publishing.
- Buerhaus P., 2008. Current and future state of the US nursing workforce. Journal of American Medical Association 300 (20), 2422–2424.
- Buerhaus P.I., Auerbach D.I., Staiger D.O., Muench U., 2013. Projections of the Long-Term Growth of the Registered Nurse Workforce: A Regional Analysis. Nursing Economics 31 (1), 13–17.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor., 2011. Occupational Outlook Handbook, 2012-13 Edition. Retrieved from: http://www.bls.gov/ooh/healthcare/registered-nurses.htm Accessed 8/12/2013.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor., 2012. Occupational Outlook Handbook, 2012-13 Edition, Registered Nurses. Retrieved from: http:// www.bls.gov/ooh/Healthcare/Registered-nurses. htm Accessed at 7/12/2013.

- Butler, M., Collins, R., Drennan, J., Halligan, P., O'Mathúna, D.P., Schultz, T.J., Sheridan, A., Vilis, E., 2011. Hospital nurse staffing models and patient and staff-related outcomes (Review). The Cochrane Collaboration. JohnWiley & Sons, Ltd.
- By Lee, K., Carswell, J.J., Allen, N.J., 2000. A meta-analytic review of occupational commitment: Relations with person- and work-related variables. Journal of Applied Psychology 85 (5), 799–811.
- Carless, S.A., Arnup, J.L., 2011. A longitudinal study of the determinants and outcomes of career change. Journal of Vocational Behavior 78 (1), 80-91, 2011.
- Carson, K., Carson, P., Bedeian, A., 1995. Development and validation of a career entrenchment measure, Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology 68 (4), 301–20.
- Cartledge, S., 2001. Factors influencing the turnover of intensive care nurses. Intensive and Critical Care Nursing 17 (6), 348–355.
- Casey, K., Fink, R., Krugman, M., Propst, J., 2004. The graduate nurse experience. Journal of Nursing Administration 34 (6), 303-311.
- Castle, N.G.P., Engberg, J.P., 2005. Staff Turnover and Quality of Care in Nursing Homes. Medical Care 43 (6), 616–626.
- Cavanagh, S.J., 1989. Nursing turnover: literature review and methodological critique. Journal of Advanced Nursing 14 (7) 587–596.
- Celik, S., Kececi, A., Bulduk, S., 2011. Is nursing a profession in Turkey? Hospital Topics 89 (2), 43–50, 2011.
- CfWI., 2013. Future nursing workforce projections – starting the discussion. Centre for Workforce Intelligence. Retrieved from: http://www.cfwi.org. uk/publications/future-nursing-workforce-projections-starting%20the%20discussion/@@publication-detail Accessed 27/11/2013.
- Chang, E., Hancock, K., 2003. Role stress and role ambiguity in new nursing graduates in Australia. Nursing and Health Sciences 5 (2): 155–163.
- Chang, H.T., Chi N., Miao M., 2007. Testing the Relationship between Three-Component Organizational / Occupational Commitment and Organizational / Occupational Turnover Intention Using a Non Recursive Model. Journal of Vocational Behaviour 70 (2), 352-368.
- Chan, Z.C.Y., Tam, W.S., Lung, M.K.Y., Wong, W.Y., 2013. A systematic literature review of nursing shortage and the intention to leave. Journal of Nursing Management 21 (4), 605–613.
- Chapman, S.A., Blau, G., Pred, R. & Lopez A.B., 2009. Correlates of intent to leave job and profession for emergency medical technicians and paramedics. Career Development International, 14 (5), 487-503.

- Chen, H.-C., Chu, C.-I., Wang, Y.-H., & Lin, L.-C., 2008. Turnover factors revisited: A longitudinal study of Taiwan-based staff nurses. International Journal of Nursing Studies 45 (2), 277-285.
- Cheung, J., 2004. The decision process of leaving nursing. Australian Health Review: A Publication of The Australian Hospital Association 28 (3), 340-348.
- Choi, S.P.P., Pang, S.M.C., Cheung, K., Wong, T.K., 2011. Stabilizing and destabilizing forces in the nursing work environment: a qualitative study on turnover intention. International Journal of Nursing Studies 48 (10), 1290–1301.
- Ciftcioglu, B.A., 2013. Investigating Teachers' Occupational Evaluations: Evidence from High School Teachers in Turkey. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences 84 (9), 107 – 111.
- CIHI., 2013. Regulated Nurses Database Data Element List. Retrieved from: http://www.cihi.ca/CI-HI-ext-portal/pdf/internet/nursing\_data\_element\_en Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Cimiotti, J.P., Aiken, L.H., Sloane, D.M., Wu, E.S., 2012. Nurse staffing, burnout, and health care-associated infection. American Journal of Infection Control 40 (6), 486-490.
- CINAHL Thesaurus., 2013. Education, Graduate. EB-SCO Industries, Inc.
- CINAHL Headings., 2014. Ebscohost Database.
- Clendon, J. & Walker, L., 2012 'Being young': a qualitative study of younger nurses' experiences in the workplace. International Nursing Review 59 (4), 555–561.
- CNA., 2007. Framework for the Practice of Registered Nurses in Canada. Retrieved from: http://www2. cna-aiic.ca/CNA/documents/pdf/publications/ RN\_Framework\_Practice\_2007\_e.pdf Accessed at 7/12/2013.
- CNA., 2008. Costs and implications of nurse turnover in Canadian hospitals. Retrieved from: http://www. cna-aiic.ca/~/media/cna/page%20content/pdf%20 en/2013/07/26/10/39/roi\_nurse\_turnover\_2009\_e. pdf Accessed 8/12/2013.
- CNA., 2009. Testing Solutions for Eliminating Canada's Registered Nurse Shortage. Testing Solutions for Eliminating Canada's Registered Nurse Shortage. Retrieved from: http://www.nursesunions.ca/ sites/default/files/rn\_shortage\_report\_e.pdf Accessed 27/11/2013.
- Commission of the European Communities., 2008. Green paper on the European Workforce for Health. Retrieved from: http://ec.europa.eu/health/ ph\_systems/docs/workforce\_gp\_en.pdf Accessed 27/11/2013.
- Connelly, L.M., 2009. Mixed Methods Studies. MED-SURG Nursing 18 (1), 31-32.

- Connelly, L.M., 2010. Secondary Analysis. MED-SURG Nursing 19 (3), 192-193.
- Connelly, L.M., 2011. Cronbach's Alpha. MEDSURG Nursing 20 (1), 43-44.
- Coomber, B., Barriball, L.K., 2007. Impact of job satisfaction components on intent to leave and turnover for hospital-based nurses: a review of the research literature. International Journal of Nursing Studies 44 (2), 297–314.
- Cooper, H.M., 1989. Integrating Research. A Guide for Literature Reviews (2nd edn). Sage Publications, Newbury Park, CA.
- Cooper-Hakim, A., Viswesaran, C., 2005. The construct of work commitment: Testing and integrative framework. Psychological Bulletin 131 (2), 241–259.
- Cordeniz, J.A., 2002. Recruitment, retention, and management of Generation X: A focus on nursing professionals. Journal of Healthcare Management 47 (4), 237–251.
- Cortese, C.G., 2012. Predictors of critical care nurses' intention to leave the unit, the hospital, and the nursing profession. Open Journal of Nursing 2, 311-326.
- Costanza, D.P., Badger, J.M., Fraswer, R.L., Severt, J.B., Gade, P.A., 2012. Generational differences in work-related attitudes: A Meta-analysis. Journal of Business and Psychology 27 (4), 375–394.
- Creed, P.A., Blume, K., 2013. Compromise, Well-Being, and Action Behaviors in Young Adults in Career Transition. Journal of Career Assessment 21 (1), 3–19.
- Currie, E.J., Carr Hill, R.A., 2012. What are the reasons for high turnover in nursing? A discussion of presumed causal factors and remedies. International Journal of Nursing Studies 49 (9), 1180–1189.
- Currie, E.J., Carr-Hill, R.A., 2013. What is a nurse? Is there an international consensus? International nursing review 60 (1), 67–74.
- Cruess, S.R., Jonhston R., Cruess, R.L., 2004. "Profession": a working definition for medical educators. Teaching and Learning in Medicine 16 (1), 74–76.
- Daehlen, M., 2008. Job satisfaction and job values among beginning nurses: A questionnaire survey. International Journal of Nursing Studies 45 (12), 1789–1799
- Dalton, D.R., Krackhardt, D.M., & Porter, L.W., 1981. Functional turnover: An empirical assessment. Journal of Applied Psychology 66 (6), 716–721.
- Darbyshire, P., Gordon, S., 2005. Exploring Popular Images and Representations of Nurses and Nursing. In Professional Nursing: Concepts, Issues, and Challenges. J. Daly, S. Speedy, D. Jackson, V. Lambert and C. Lambert, Eds. Springer Publishing Company, New York, NY, United States, pp. 69–93.

- David M., Sutton C.D., 2011. Social Research. An Introduction. (2<sup>nd</sup> edit). SAGE Publications Ltd. United Kindom, London.
- Decree on Health Care Professionals (564/1994). Government of Finland. Helsinki, Ministry of Social Affairs and Health. Retrieved from: http://www.finlex. fi/en/laki/kaannokset/1994/en19940564 Accessed 7/12/2013.
- De Gieter, S., Hofmans, J., Pepermans, R. 2011. Revisiting the impact of job satisfaction and organizational commitment on nurse turnover intention: An individual differences analysis. International Journal of Nursing Studies 48 (12), 1562-1569.
- De Milt, D.G., Fitzpatrick, J.J., McNulty, S.R., 2011. Nurse practitioners' job satisfaction and intent to leave current positions, the nursing profession, and the nurse practitioner role as a direct care provider. Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners 23 (1), 42–50.
- Derycke, H., Vlerick, P., Burnay, N., Decleire, C., D'Hoore, W., Hasselhorn, H-M Braeckman, L., 2010. Impact of the effort-reward imbalance model on intent to leave among Belgian health care workers: A prospective study. Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology 83 (4), 879–893.
- Derycke, H., Clays, E., Vlerick, P., D'Hoore, W., Hasselhorn, H.M., Braeckman, L., 2012. Perceived work ability and turnover intentions: a prospective study among Belgian healthcare workers. Journal of Advanced Nursing 68 (7), 1556–1566.
- DiMattio, M.J., Roe-Prior, P., Carpenter, D.R., 2010. Intent to stay: a pilot study of baccalaureate nurses and hospital nursing. Journal of Professional Nursing 26 (5), 278–286.
- Dickter, D., Roznowski, M., Harrison, D. 1996. Temporal tempering: An event history analysis of the process of voluntary turnover. Journal of Applied Psychology 81 (6), 705–716.
- Dictionary of Human Resource Management., 2012. Oxford University Press. Online Version 2012. eISBN: 9780191726712.
- Dictionary of Public Health., 2012. Oxford University Press. Online Version 2012. eISBN: 9780199891313.
- Directive 2013/55/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council. Retrieved from: http://eur-lex. europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=O-J:L:2013:354:0132:0170:en:PDF Accessed 22/2/2014.
- Directive 2001/19/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council. Retrieved from: http://eur-lex. europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=O-J:L:2001:206:0001:0050:EN:PDF Accessed 22/2/2014.

- Djukic, M., 2011. Review: Job satisfaction and intentions to leave of new nurses. Journal of Research in Nursing 16 (6), 549–550.
- Drury, V., Francis, K., Chapman, Y., 2008. Where Have All the Young Ones Gone: Implications for the Nursing Workforce. OJIN: The Online Journal of Issues in Nursing 14 (1). DOI: 10.3912/OJIN. Vol14No1PPT03
- Duchscher, J. E. B. 2001. Out in the real world: Newly graduated nurses in acute care speak out. Journal of Nursing Administration 31 (9), 426–439.
- Duchscher, J.E.B, Cowin, L., 2004. Multigenerational nurses in the workplace. Journal of Nursing Administration 34 (11), 493–501.
- Duchscher J.E.B., 2008. A process of becoming: the stages of new nursing graduate professional role transition. The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing 39 (10), 441–450.
- Duchscher, J.E.B., 2009. Transition shock: the initial stage of role adaptation for newly graduated Registered Nurses. Journal of Advanced Nursing 65 (5), 1103–1113.
- Duffield, C., O'Brien Pallas, L., Aitken, L.M., 2004a. Nurses who work outside nursing. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 47 (6), 664–671.
- Duffield, C., Aitken, L. M., O'Brien Pallas, L., Wise, W. J., 2004b. Nursing a stepping stone to future careers. Journal of Nursing Administration 34 (5), 238–245.
- Duffield, C., O'Brien Pallas, L., Aitken, L. M., Roche, M., Merrick, E.M., 2006. Journal of Nursing Administration 36 (2), 58-62.
- Duffield, C.M., Roche, M.A., O'Brien-Pallas, L., Catling, C. 2009, The Implications of Staff 'Churn' for Nurse Managers, Staff, and Patients. Nursing Economic 27 (2), 103–110.
- Duffield, C., Diers, D., O'Brien Pallas, L., Aisbett, C., Roche, M., King, M., Aisbett, K., 2011. Nursing staffing, nursing workload, the work environment and patient outcomes. Applied Nursing Research 24 (4), 244–255.
- Durand, M., Randhawa, G., 2002. RNs' views about returning to practice after a career break. British Journal of Nursing 11(7), 477–485.
- Duvall, J.J., Andrews, D.R., 2010. Using a Structured Review of the Literature to Identify Key Factors Associated with the Current Nursing Shortage. Journal of Professional Nursing 26 (5), 309–317.
- Edwards, D., Hawker, C., Carrier, J. & Rees, C., 2011. The effectiveness of strategies and interventions that aim to assist the transition from student to newly qualified nurse. JBI Library of Systematic Reviews 9 (53), 2215–2323.

- El-Jardali, F., Alameddine, M., Dumit, N., Dimassi, H., Jamal, D., Maalouf, S., 2011. Nurses' work environment and intent to leave in Lebanese hospitals: implications for policy and practice. International Journal of Nursing Studies 48 (2), 204–214.
- Eley, D., Rogers-Clark, C., 2010. Reasons for entering and leaving nursing: an Australian regional study. Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing 28 (1), 6–13.
- Elo, S, Kyngäs, H., 2008. The qualitative content analysis process. Journal of Advanced Nursing 62(1), 107–115.
- Elovainio M., Kuusio H., Aalto A. -M., Sinervo T. & Heponiemi T., 2010. Insecurity and shiftwork as characteristics of negative work environment: psychosocial and behavioural mediators. Journal of Advanced Nursing 66 (5), 1080–1091.
- Enberg, B., Stenlund, H., Sundelin, G. and Öhman, A., 2007. Work satisfaction, career preferences and unpaid household work among recently graduated health-care professionals – a gender perspective. Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences 21 (2), 169–177.
- Erickson, R.J., Grove, W.J.C., 2007. Why Emotions Matter: Age, Agitation, and Burnout Among Registered Nurses. Online Journal of Issues in Nursing 13 (1).
- Eronen, T., 2012. Three Stories about Mother narratives by women who have lived in care. Child & Family Social Work 17(1), 66-74.
- Estryn-Behar, M., Van Der Heijen, B., Camerino, D., Fry, C., Le Nezet, O., Conway P.M., Hasselhorn, H-M., the NEXT Study group., 2008.Violence risks in nursing - results from the European 'NEXT' study. Occupational Medicine 58 (2), 107–114.
- Estryn-Behar, M., Van der Heijden, B.I.J.M., Fry, C., Hasselhorn, H–M., 2010. Longitudinal analysis of personal and work-related factors associated with turnover among nurses. Nursing Research 59 (3), 166–177.
- European Agency Agency for Safety and Health at Work., 2006. OSH in figures: Young workers - Facts and figures. European risk observatory report. Retrieved from: https://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/ reports/7606507 Accessed 7/12/2013.
- European Commission., 2012. Commission staff working document on an Action Plan for the EU Health Workforce. Retrieved from: http://ec.europa.eu/ dgs/health\_consumer/docs/swd\_ap\_eu\_healthcare\_ workforce\_en.pdf Accessed 3/12/2013.
- Evans, D., 2001. Systematic reviews of nursing research. Intensive and Critical Care Nursing 17 (1), 51–57 Feng, R-F. & Tsai, Y-F., 2012. Socialisation of new graduate nurses to practising nurses. Journal of Clinical Nursing 21 (13-14), 2064–2071.

- Finnish National Board of Education., 2013. Opetus- ja kulttuuritoimen rahoitus. Yksikköhintojen ja rahoituksen määräytyminen vuonna 2013. Oppaat ja käsikirjat 2013:2. Retrieved from: http://www.oph.fi/ julkaisut/2013/opetus- ja\_kulttuuritoimen\_rahoitus Accessed 27/11/2013.
- Fitzpatrick, J.J., Campo, T.M., Graham, G., Lavandero, R., 2010. Certification, empowerment, and intent to leave current position and the profession among critical care nurses. American Journal of Critical Care 19 (3), 218–226.
- Fletcher, K., 2007. Image: changing how women nurses think about themselves. Literature review. Journal of Advanced Nursing 58 (3), 207–215.
- Flemming K, Briggs M., 2006. Electronic searching to locate qualitative research: evaluation of three strategies. Journal of Advanced Nursing 57 (1), 95–100.
- Flyvbjerg, B., 2006. Five misunderstandings about case-study research. Qualitative Inquiry 12 (2), 219–245.
- Fraklin, P., Rowland, E., Fox, R., Nicolson, P., 2012. Research Ethics in Accessing Hospital Staff and Securing Informed Consent. Qualitative Health Research 22 (12), 1727–1738.
- Frijters, P., Shields, M.A., Price, S.W., 2003. Investigating the Quitting Decision of Nurses: Panel Data Evidence from the British National Health Service. Discussion Paper No. 794. IZA Institute for the Study of Labor. Retrieved from: http://ftp.iza.org/ dp794.pdf Accessed 27/11/2013.
- Gaither, C.A., 2009. Job satisfaction and intention to leave the profession: Should we care? Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy 5 (2), 91–93.
- Gerrish, K., 2000. Still fumbling along? A comparative study of the newly qualified nurse's perception of the transition from student to qualified nurse. Journal of advanced nursing 32 (2), 473-480.
- Gerrish, K., & Lacey, A., 2010. The Research Process in Nursing (6th Edition). Blackwell Publishing, Oxford.
- Gilmartin, M.J., 2013. Thirty Years of Nursing Turnover Research: Looking Back to Move Forward. Medical Care Research and Review 70 (1), 3-28.
- Goodin H., 2003. The nursing shortage in the United States of America: an integrative review of the literature. Journal of Advanced Nursing 43 (4), 335–350.
- Graham, E.M., Duffield, C., 2010. An ageing nursing workforce. Australian Health Review 34 (81), 44–48.
- Graneheim, U.H., Lundman, B., 2004 Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness. Nurse Education Today 24 (2), 105–112.

- Gray, A., Phillips, V., Normand, C., 1996. The costs of nursing turnover: Evidence from the British National Health Service. Health Policy 38 (2), 117-128.
- Griffeth, R. W., Hom, P. W., 1988. A comparison of different conceptualizations of perceived alternatives in turnover research. Journal of Organizational Behavior 9 (2), 103–111.
- Griffeth, R.W., Hom, P.W., Gaertner, S., 2000. A meta-analysis of antecedents and correlates of employee turnover: update, moderator tests, and research implications for the next millennium. Journal of Management 26 (3), 463–488.
- Gurková, E., Soosova, M.S., Harokova, S., Ziakova, K., Serfelova, R., Zamboriova, M., 2013. Job satisfaction and leaving intentions of Slovak and Czech nurses. International nursing review 60 (1), 112-121.
- Gök, A.U., Kocaman, G., 2011. Reasons for leaving nursing: a study among Turkish nurses. Contemporary nurse 39 (1), 65-74.
- Halfer, D., 2011. Job embeddedness factors and retention of nurses with 1 to 3 years of experience. Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing 42 (10), 468-476.
- Hall, B., Howard, K., 2008. A Synergistic Approach: Conducting Mixed Methods Research with Typological and Systemic Design Considerations. Journal of Mixed Methods 2 (3), 248-269.
- Hallin, K., Danielson, E., 2008. Registered nurses' perception of their work and professional development. Journal of Advanced Nursing 61 (1), 62–70.
- Halmeenmäki, T., 2009. Kunta-alan eläkepoistuma 2010–2030. Kuntien eläkevakuutuksen raportteja 2/2009. Helsinki. Retrieved from: http://mb.cision.com/Public/MigratedWpy/84122/693339/ a513082e0d73db2d.pdf Accessed 28/7/2012.
- Hammersley, M., 2013. What is Qualitative Research? What Is? Research Methods series. Continuum/ Bloomsbury, London.
- Hancock, C.B., Scherff, L., 2010. Who Will Stay and Who Will Leave? Predicting Secondary English Teacher Attrition Risk. Journal of Teacher Education 61 (4), 328–338
- Hasselhorn, H.-M., Tackenberg, P., Muller, B.H., 2003a. Working conditions and intent to leave the profession among nursing staff in Europe. Report No. 2003:7. Elanders Gotab, Stockholm. Retrieved from: http://www.next.uni-wuppertal.de/EN/index. php?articles-and-reports Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Hasselhorn, H.-M., Müller, B.H., Tackenberg, P., the NEXT Study Group., 2003b. Intent to leave nursing in the European nursing profession. In: Working Conditions and Intent to Leave the Profession among Nursing Staff in Europe, SALTSA Report 7:2003, eds. H.-M. Hasselhorn, P. Tackenberg,

B.H. Müller. Elanders Gotab, Stockholm, p. 115-124.

- Hasselhorn, H.-M., Müller, B.H., Tackenberg, P., 2003c. Investigating Premature Departure from the Nursing Professions in Europe – The European NEXT-Study. In: Working Conditions and Intent to Leave the Profession among Nursing Staff in Europe, SALTSA Report 7:2003. Eds. H.-M. Hasselhorn, P. Tackenberg, B.H. Müller. Elanders Gotab, Stockholm, p. 9-18.
- Hasselhorn HM, Müller BH, Tackenberg P. NEXT Scientific Report. 2005a. Retrieved from: http:// www.next.uni-wuppertal.de/EN/index.php?articles-and-reports Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Hasselhorn, H-M., Müller , B.H., Tackenberg, P., Wittenberg. J., Küemmerling, A., Simon, M., The NEXT-study Group., 2005b. Nursing in Europe: Intention to leave the nursing profession. In: NEXT Scientific Report July 2005. Eds. H.-M. Hasselhorn, B.H. Müller, P. Tackenberg, pp. 17-24.
- Hasselhorn, H-M., Conway, P.M., Widerszal-Bazyl, M., Simon, M., Tackenberg, P., Schmidt, S., Camerino, D., Müller, B.H., NEXT Study Group., 2008. Contribution of job strain to nurses' consideration of leaving the profession - results from the longitudinal European nurses' early exit study. Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health 6, 75–82.
- Harju, J., Härmä, I., Saarinen, J. 2014. Tarjolla kymmeniä tuhansia työpaikkoja. Helsingin Sanomat 4.3.2014, pp. A30-A31.
- Hayes, L.J., O'Brien-Pallas, L., Duffield, C., Shamian, J., Buchan, J., Hughes, F., Spence Laschinger, H.K., North, N., Stone, P.W., 2006a. Nurse turnover: a literature review. International Journal of Nursing Studies 43 (2), 237–263.
- Hayes, L.J., Orchard, C.A., McGillis Hall, L., Nincic, V., O'Brien-Pallas, L., Andrews, G., 2006b. Career intentions of nursing students and new nurse graduates: a review of the literature. International Journal of Nursing Education Scholarship 3:26. DOI:10.2202/1548-923X.1281
- Hayes, L.J., O'Brien-Pallas, L., Duffield, C., Shamian, J., Buchan, J., Hughes, F., Spence Laschinger, H.K., North, N., 2012. Nurse turnover: a literature review – an update. International Journal of Nursing Studies 49 (7), 887–905.
- Haybatollahi, S.M., 2009. Work Stress in the Nursing Profession: An Evaluation of Organizational Causal Attribution. Doctoral dissertation. University of Helsinki, Faculty of Social Sciences, Department of Social Psychology. Yliopistopaino, Helsinki.
- Health Workforce Australia., 2012. Health Workforce 2025 – Doctors, Nurses and Midwives – Volume 1. Health Workforce Australia, Adelaide. Retrieved from: http://www.hwa.gov.au/sites/uploads/Final-

Report\_Volume1\_FINAL-20120424.pdf Accessed 27/11/2013.

- Heinen, M.M., van Achterberg, T., Schwendimann, R., Zander, B., Matthews, A., Kozka, M., Ensio, A., Sjetne, I.S., Moreno Casbas, T., Ball, J., Schoonhoven, L., 2013. Nurses' intention to leave their profession: a cross sectional observational study in 10 European countries. International Journal of Nursing Studies 50 (2), 174–184.
- Henriksson, L. & Wrede., 2004. Hyvinvointityön ammattien tutkimus. In: L. Henriksson & S. Wrede (edit.) Hyvinvointityön ammatit. Gaudeamus, Helsinki, pp. 9-19.
- Heponiemi, T, Kouvonen, A, Vänskä, J, Halila, H, Sinervo, T, Kivimäki, M., Elovainio M., 2009. The Association of Distress and Sleeping Problems With Physicians' Intentions To Change Profession: The Moderating Effect of Job Control. Journal of Occupational Health Psychology 14, (4), 365–373.
- Heponiemi, T., Kouvonen, A., Sinervo, T. & Elovainio, M., 2010. Do psychosocial factors moderate the association of fixed-term employment with work interference with family and sleeping problems in registered nurses: A cross-sectional questionnaire survey. International Journal of Nursing Studies 47 (9), 1096–1104.
- Hess, N., Jepsen, D.N. & Dries, N., 2012. Career and employer change in the age of the 'boundaryless' career. Journal of Vocational Behavior 81 (2), 280-288.
- Higgins, G., Spencer, R.L., Kane, R., 2010. A systematic review of the experiences and perceptions of the newly qualified nurse in the United Kingdom. Nurse Education Today 30 (6), 499–508.
- Hinno, S., Partanen, P., Vehvilainen-Julkunen, K., 2012. The professional nursing practice environment and nurse-reported job outcomes in two European countries: a survey of nurses in Finland and the Netherlands. Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences 26 (1), 133–143.
- Hintsala, A., 2005. Autonomia ammatista poistumisen ennakoijana hoitotyössä. Nais- ja mieshoitajien arviointia ja vertailua päätöksenteosta, pätevyydestä, työn tärkeydestä ja johtamisesta hoitotyössä. Hoitotieteen laitos. Kuopion yliopisto.
- Hirvonen, A., 2006. Eettisesti hyvä tutkimus. In: Etiikkaa ihmistieteille. J. Hallamaa, V. Launis, S. Lötjönen, Sorvali, I. (eds.) Tietolipas 211. Helsinki: Suomalaisen Kirjallisuuden Seura, pp. 31–49.
- Holland, J.L., Gottfredson, G.D., 1976. Using a Typology of Persons and Environments to Explain Careers: Some Extensions and Clarifications. The Counseling Psychologist 6 (3), 20-29
- Holtom, B.C., Mitchell, T.R., Lee, T.W., Eberly, M.B., Inderrieden E.J., 2005. Shocks as causes of turnover: what they are and how organizations can manage

them. Human Resource Management 44 (3), 337–352.

- Holtom, B.C., Mitchell, T.R., Lee, T.W., Eberly, M.B., 2008. Chapter 5: Turnover and retention research: A glance at the past, a closer review of the present, and a venture into the future. The Academy of Management Annals 2 (1), 231-274.
- HRSA., 2010. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration. Bureau of Health Professions. The registered nurse population: Findings from the 2008 national sample survey of registered nurses. Retrieved from http://bhpr.hrsa.gov/healthworkforce/rnsurveys/rnsurveyinitial2008.pdf Accessed 27/11/2013.
- HRSA., 2013. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration. Bureau of Health Professions. The U.S. Nursing Workforce: Trends in Supply and Education. National Center for Health Workforce Analysis, April 2013. Retrieved from http://bhpr.hrsa.gov/ healthworkforce/supplydemand/nursing/nursingworkforce/nursingworkforcefullreport.pdf Accessed 27/11/2013.
- Hsieh, H-F., Shannon, S., 2005. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qualitative Health Research 15 (9), 1277–1288.
- Hutchinson, D., Brown, J., Longworth, K., 2012. Attracting and maintaining the Y Generation in nursing: a literature review. Journal of Nursing Management 20 (4), 444–450.
- Ingersoll, R., 2001. Teacher Turnover and Teacher Shortages: an Organizational Analysis. American Educational Research Journal 38(3), 499–534.
- Ingersoll, G.L., Olsan T., Drew-Cates, J., DeVinney B.C., Davies J., 2002. Nurses' job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and career intent. Journal of Nursing Administration 32 (5), 250-263.
- Irvine, D. M., Evans, M. G., 1995. Job satisfaction and turnover among nurses: Integrating research findings across studies. Nursing Research 44 (4), 246–253.
- Ihantola, E-M., Kihn, L-A., 2011. Threats to validity and reliability in mixed methods accounting research. Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management 8 (1), 39-58
- Inkson K., 2006. Protean and boundaryless careers as metaphors. Journal of Vocational Behavior, 69 (1), 48-63.
- Institute of Medicine (IOM)., 2010. The future of nursing: Leading change, advancing health. Washington, DC: National Academies Press
- Jirwe, M., Rudman, A., 2012. Why choose a career in nursing? Journal of Advanced Nursing 68 (7), 1615–1623.

- Johnson, J.E., Billingsley, M.C., Costa, L.L., 2006. Xtreme nursing and the nursing shortage. Nursing Outlook 54 (5), 294-299.
- Johnson, B.R., Onwuegbuzie, A.J., Turner, L.A., 2007. Toward a Definition of Mixed Methods Research. Journal of Mixed Methods Research 1 (2), 112-133.
- Jourdain, G., Chenevert, D., 2010. Job demands-resources, burnout and intention to leave the nursing profession: a questionnaire survey. International Journal of Nursing Studies 47 (6) 709–722.
- Juraschek, S.P., Zhang, X., Ranganathan, V., Lin, V.W., 2011. United States Registered Nurse Workforce Report Card and Shortage Forecast. American Journal of Medical Quality 27 (3), 241–249.
- Josselson, R., 2011. Narrative Research. Constructing, deconstructing and reconstructing Story. In: Five Ways of Doing Qualitative Analysis: Phenomenological Psychology, Grounded Theory, Discourse Analysis, Narrative Research, and Intuitive Inquiry. F. J. Wertz, K. Charmaz, L. McMullen, R. Josselson, R. Anderson, E. McSpadden. Guilford, New York, pp. 224-242.
- Jokinen, H., 2013. Pedagoginen asiantuntijuus liikkeessä. Opettajatarpeen ja opettajien osaamisvaatimusten ennakointi 2010 – 2012. Retrieved from: http://ktl.jyu.fi/ktl/opetarve Accessed 27/11/2013.
- Kanai-Pak, M., Aiken, L.H., Sloane, D.M., Poghosyan, L., 2008. Poor work environments and nurse inexperience are associated with burnout, job dissatisfaction and quality deficits in Japanese hospitals. Journal of Clinical Nursing 17 (24), 3324– 3329.
- Kane, R., Shamliyan, T., Mueller, C., Duval, S.,Wilt, T., 2007. The association of registered nurse staffing levels and patient outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis. Medical Care 45 (2), 1195-1204.
- Kankaanranta, T., Rissanen, P., 2008. Nurses' intentions to leave nursing in Finland. European Journal of Health Economics 9 (4), 333-342.
- Kankaanranta, T., Rissanen, P. 2009. The labor supply of registered nurses in Finland: The effect of wages and working conditions. The European Journal of Health Economics 10 (2), 167–178,
- Keepnews, D.M., Brewer, C.S., Kovner, C.T., Shin, J.H., 2010. Generational differences among newly licensed registered nurses. Nursing Outlook 58 (3), 155-163.
- Kelly, L.A., McHugh, M.D., Aiken, L.H., 2011. Nurse outcomes in magnet and non-magnet hospitals. Journal of Nursing Administration 41 (10), 428–433.
- Kirschenbaum, A., Weisberg J., 2002. Employee's turnover intentions and job destination choices. Journal of Organizational Behavior 23 (1), 109–125.
- Kirwan, M., Matthews, A., Scott, P.A., 2013. The impact of the work environment of nurses on patient

safety outcomes: A multi-level modelling approach. International Journal of Nursing Studies 50 (2), 253–263.

- Kivelä, H., Virta-Helenius, M., Renholm, M., Ranta, S., Meretoja, R., 2014. Suunnitelmallinen perehdytys lisää vetovoimaa. Premissi 1, 36-39.
- Klaus, S. F., Ekerdt, D. J. & Gajewski, B., 2012. Job satisfaction in birth cohorts of nurses. Journal of Nursing Management 20 (4), 461–471.
- Kokko, S., 2009. Integrated primary health care: Finnish solutions and experiences. International Journal of Integrated Care 9: e86.
- Koponen, E.-L., U-M., L., Tuomaala, M., 2012. Mistä tekijät sosiaali- ja terveysalalle – työvoimatarpeen ja -tarjonnan kehitys vuoteen 2025. TEM-analyysejä 43/2012.
- Kovner, C.T., Brewer, C.S., Fairchild, S., Poornima, S., Kim, H., Djukic, M., 2007. Newly licensed RNs' characteristics, work attitudes, and intentions to work. The American Journal of Nursing 107 (9) 58–70.
- Kovner, C.T., Djukic, M., 2009. The nursing career process from application through the first 2 years of employment. Journal of Professional Nursing 25 (4), 197-203.
- Kovner, C. T., Brewer, C. S., Greene, W., & Fairchild, S., 2009. Understanding new registered nurses' intent to stay at their jobs. Nursing Economics 27 (2), 81-98.
- Kovner, C. T., Corcoran, S. P., & Brewer, C.S., 2011. The relative geographic immobility of new registered nurses calls for new strategies to augment that workforce. Health Affairs, 30 (12), 2293-2300.
- Kuokkanen, L., Leino-Kilpi, H., Katajisto, J., 2003. Nurse empowerment, job-related satisfaction, and organizational commitment. Journal of Nursing Care Quality 18 (3), 184–192.
- Kuokkanen, L., Leino-Kilpi, H., Katajisto, J., 2010. Sairaanhoitajien kokemat eettiset ongelmat hoitotyössä. Hoitotiede 22 (1), 26–35.
- Kramer M., 1974. Reality shock: Why nurses leave nursing. St Louis, Mosby.
- Kramer, M., Maguire, P., Brewer, B., Schmalenberg, C., 2011. Clinical nurses in magnet hospitals confirm productive, healthy unit work environments. Journal of Nursing Management 19 (1), 5-17.
- Kramer, M., Brewer B.B., Maguire P., 2013. Impact of Healthy Work Environments on New Graduate Nurses' Environmental Reality Shock. Western Journal of Nursing Research 35 (3) 348–383.
- Krausz, M., Koslowsky, M., Shalom, N. & Elyakim, N., 1995. Predictors of Intentions to Leave the Ward, the Hospital, and the Nursing Profession: A Longi-

tudinal Study. Journal of Organizational Behaviour 16 (3), 277-288.

- Kröger T, Leinonen A. & Vuorensyrjä M. 2009. Hoivan tekijät. Suomalainen hoivatyö pohjoismaisessa tarkastelussa. Jyväskylän yliopisto, Sosiaalityön julkaisusarja 6. Hoivatyön arkipäivä Pohjoismaissa -hankkeen loppuraportti. Retrieved from: http://www.tsr.fi/tsarchive/files/Tietokanta-Tutkittu/2006/106110Loppuraportti.pdf Accessed 7/1/2012.
- Kümmerling, A., Hasselhorn, H.M. & Tackenberg, P., 2003. Psychometric properties of the scales used in the NEXT-Study. In: Working Conditions and Intent to Leave the Profession among Nursing Staff in Europe, SALTSA Report 7:2003. Eds. H.-M. Hasselhorn, P. Tackenberg, B.H. Müller. Elanders Gotab, Stockholm, pp. 237–257.
- Kupperschmidt, B., 1998. Understanding Generation X employees. Journal of Nursing Administration, 28 (12), 36–43.
- Kupperschmidt, B. R., 2000. Multigeneration employees: Strategies for effective management. The Health Care Manager 19 (1), 65–76.
- Kupperschmidt, B.R., 2001. Understanding Net Generation Employees. Journal of Nursing Administration 31 (12), 570–574.
- Kutney-Lee, A., McHugh, M.D., Sloane, D.M., Cimiotti, J.P., Flynn, L., Neff, D.F., Aiken, L.H., 2009. Nursing: a key to patient satisfaction. Health Affairs 28 (4), w669–w677.
- Kutney-Lee, A., Wu, E.S., Sloane, D.M., Aiken, L.H., 2013. Changes in hospital nurse work environments and nurse job outcomes: an analysis of panel data. International Journal of Nursing Studies 50 (2), 195–201.
- Kvist, T., Mäntynen, R., Turunen, H., Partanen, P, Miettinen, M., Wolf, G.A, Vehviläinen-Julkunen K., 2013. How Magnetic Are Finnish Hospitals Measured by Transformational Leadership and Empirical Quality Outcomes? Journal of Nursing Management 21 (1), 152–164.
- Lacey, S.R., Cox, K.S., Lorfing, K.C., Teasley, S., Carroll, C.A., Sexton K., 2007. Nursing Support, Workload, and Intent to Stay in Magnet, Magnet-Aspiring, and Non-Magnet Hospitals. Journal of Nursing Administration 37 (4), 199-205.
- Lakanmaa, R.-L., Suominen, T., Perttilä, J., Ritmala-Castrèn, M., Vahlberg, T., Leino-Kilpi, H. 2013. Graduating nursing students' basic competence in intensive and critical care nursing. Journal of Clinical Nursing. doi: 10.1111/jocn.12244
- Laine, M., 2005. Hoitajana huomennakin. Hoitajien työpaikkaan ja ammattiin sitoutuminen. Turun yliopiston julkaisuja Annales Universitas Turkuensis sarja C, osa 233, Turku 2005.

- Laine, M., van der Heijden, B., Wickström, G., Hasselhorn, H-M., Tackenberg, P., the NEXT Study Group., 2009. Job insecurity and intent to leave the nursing profession in Europe. The International Journal of Human Resource Management 20 (2), 420–38.
- Lahtinen, P., Leino-Kilpi, H., Salminen, L., 2013. Nursing education in the European higher education area — Variations in implementation, Nurse Education Today. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2013.09.011. [Epub ahead of print]
- Lane, I.M., Mathews, R.C., Presholdt, P.H., 1988. Determinants of nurses' intentions to leave their profession. Journal of Organizational Behavior 9 (4), 367-372.
- Laschinger, H.K.S., Finegan, J., Wilk P., 2009. New graduate burnout: the impact of professional practice environment, workplace civility, and empowerment. Nursing Economics 27 (6), 377–383.
- Laschinger, H.K., 2012. Job and career satisfaction and turnover intentions of newly graduated nurses. Journal of Nursing Management 20 (4), 472–484.
- Laschinger, H.K., Grau, A.L., Finegan, J., Wilk, P., 2012a. Predictors of new graduate nurses' workplace well-being: testing the job demands resources model. Health Care Management Review 37 (2), 175–186.
- Laschinger, H.K.S., Wong, C.A., Grau, A.L., 2012b. The influence of authentic leadership on newly graduated nurses' experiences of workplace bullying, burnout and retention outcomes: A cross-sectional study. International Journal of Nursing Studies 49 (10), 1266–1276.
- Lang, T.A., Hodge, M., Olson, V., 2004. Nurse-patient ratios: a systematic review on the effects of nurse staffing on patient, nurse employee, and hospital outcomes. Journal of Nursing Administration 34 (7–8), 326–337.
- Lankshear, A.J., Trevor, A., Sheldon, T.A., Maynard, A., 2005. Nurse Staffing and Healthcare Outcomes. A Systematic Review of the International Research Evidence. Advances in Nursing Science 28 (2), 163–174.
- Lavoie-Tremblay, M., O'Brien-Pallas, L., Gelinas, C., Desforges, N., Marchionni, C., 2008. Addressing the turnover issue among new nurses from a generational viewpoint. Journal of nursing management 16 (6), 724–733.
- Lavoie-Tremblay, M., LeClerc, E., Marchionni, C., Drevniok, U., 2010. The needs and expectations of generation Y nurses in the workplace. Journal for Nurses in Staff Development 26 (1), 2–10.
- Lavoie-Tremblay, M., Paquet, M., Marchionni, C., Drevniok, U., 2011. Turnover intention among new nurses: a generational perspective. Journal for Nurses in Staff Development 27(1), 39-45.

- Lee, Y.-W., Dai Y.-T., & McCreary, L.L., 2013. Quality of work life as a predictor of nurses' intention to leave units, organisations and the profession. Journal of Nursing Management. DOI: 10.1111/ jonm.12166
- Lehto, A.-M., Sutela, H., 2008. Three decades of working conditions, Findings of Finnish Quality of Work Life Surveys 1977–2008. Helsinki, Statistics Finland. Reviewed from http://www.stat.fi/tup/julkaisut/tiedostot/isbn\_978-952-244-101-0.html Accessed 22/2/2014.
- Leiter, M.P., Jackson, N.J., Shaughnessy, K., 2009. Contrasting burnout, turnover intention, control, value congruence and knowledge sharing between Baby Boomers and Generation X. Journal of Nursing Management 17 (1), 100–109.
- Leiter, M.P. Price, S.L., Spence Laschinger, H.K., 2010. Generational differences in distress, attitudes and incivility among nurses. Journal of Nursing Management 18 (8), 970–980.
- LeVasseur, SA, Wang, C, Matthews, B, Boland, M., 2009. Registered Nurse Turnover: Generational Differences in Employment. Policy, Politics & Nursing Practice 10 (3), 212–223.
- Levett-Jones, T., & Fitzgerald, M., 2005. A review of graduate nurse transition programs in Australia. Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing 23 (2), 40–45.
- Li, Y., Jones, C.B., 2013. A literature review of nursing turnover costs. Journal of Nursing Management 21 (3), 405-418.
- Li, J., Fu, H., Hu, Y., Shang, L., Wu, Y., Kristensen, T.S., Hans Mueller, B., Hasselhorn, H.M., 2010. Psychosocial work environment and intention to leave the nursing profession: results from the longitudinal Chinese NEXT study. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health 38 (Suppl. 3), 69–80.
- Li, J., Galatsch, M., Siegrist, J., Hans Mueller, B., Hasselhorn, H-M., 2011. Reward frustration at work and intention to leave the nursing profession - Prospective results from the European longitudinal NEXT study. International Journal of Nursing Studies 48 (5), 628-635.
- Lincoln, Y.S., Guba, E.G., 1985. Naturalistic Inquiry. Sage Publications. Newbury Park, CA.
- Lindfors, P. M., Meretoja, O.A., Luukkonen, R.A., Elovainio, M.J., Leino, T.J., 2009. Attitudes to job turnover among Finnish anaesthetists. Occupational Medicine 59 (2), 126–129.
- Liu, K., You, L.M., Chen, S.X., Hao, Y.T., Zhu, X.W., Zhang, L.F., Aiken, L.H., 2012a. The relationship between hospital work environment and nurse outcomes in Guangdong, China: a nurse questionnaire survey. Journal of Clinical Nursing 21 (9–10), 1476– 1485.

- Liu, C. Zahng, L.J., Ye, W.Q., Zhu, J.Y., Cao, J., Lu, X.Y., & Li, F.P., 2012b. Job satisfaction and intention to leave: A questionnaire survey of hospital nurses in Shanghai of China. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 21 (1-2), 255-263.
- Local government employers 2013., Sosiaali- ja terveydenhuollon tehtävistä 97 prosenttia täytetty. Retrieved from: http://www.kuntatyonantajat.fi/fi/ ajankohtaista/tiedotteet/2013/Sivut/sosiaali-ja-terveydenhuollon-tyovoimavaje.aspx Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Lower, J., 2008. Brace yourself: Here comes Generation Y. Critical Care Nurse 28 (5), 80-84.
- Lu, H., While, A.E., Barriball, K.L., 2005. Job satisfaction among nurses: a literature review. International Journal of Nursing Studies 42, 211–227.
- Lu, H., Barriball, K. L., Zhang, X., & While, A. E., 2012. Job satisfaction among hospital nurses revisited: A systematic review. International Journal of Nursing Studies, 49 (8), 1017-1038.
- Lum, L., Kervin, J., Clark, K., Reid, F., Sirola, W., 1998. Explaining nursing turnover intent: job satisfaction, pay satisfaction, or organizational commitment? Journal of Organizational Behavior 19 (3), 305–320.
- Lutter, S.T., 2011. An Exploration of Registered Nurses' Intentions to Leave the Profession: A Qualitative Study. (Doctoral dissertation. The Graduate School. College of Behavioral Sciences and Education. The Pennsylvania State University, United States. Reviewed from https://etda.libraries.psu.edu/paper/11720/ Accessed 8/12/2013.
- Löyttyniemi, V., 2004. Auscultatio Medici: Kerrottu identiteetti, neuvoteltu sukupuoli. Acta Electronica Universitatis Tamperensis 347. Tampere, Tampereen yliopisto.
- MacKusick, C.I., Minick, P., 2012. Why Are Nurses Leaving? Findings From an Initial Qualitative Study on Nursing Attrition. MEDSURG Nursing 19 (6), 335-340.
- Malterud, K., 2001. Qualitative research: standards, challenges, and guidelines. Lancet 358 (9280), 483-488.
- Maslach, C., Schaufeli, W.B., Leiter, M.P., 2001. Job burnout. Annual Review of Psychology 52 (1), 397–422.
- May, V., 2008. On being a 'good' mother: the moral presentation of self in written life stories. *Sociology* 42 (3), 470–486.
- Matela, K., 2011. Viihtyvät ja vaihtuvat. Lastensuojelun sosiaalityöntekijöiden työssä pysymiseen ja työstä lähtemiseen vaikuttavat tekijät. Pohjois-Suomen sosiaalialan osaamiskeskus. Oulun kaupungin painatuskeskus, Oulu.
- McCarthy, G., Turrell, M., Cronin, C., 2002. National Study of Turnover in Nursing and Midwifery. Department of Nursing Studies, National University of Ireland Cork. Commissioned by the Department of Health and Children. http://www.doh.ie/pdfdocs/ tover.pdf Accessed 7/12/2013.
- McCarthy, G., Tyrrell, M.O., Lehane E., 2003. Turnover rate in nursing and midwifery: The Irish experience. Journal of Research in Nursing 8 (4), 249-263.
- McComb, E.D., 2008. Which psycho-demographic factors predict a doctor's intention to leave New Zealand general practice? Journal of the New Zealand Medical Association 121 (1273). Retrieved from: http://journal.nzma.org.nz/journal/121-1273/3034/ Accessed 22/3/2013.
- McDonald, A.W., Ward-Smith, P., 2012. A Review of Evidence-Based Strategies to Retain Graduate Nurses in the Profession. Journal for Nurses in Staff Development 28 (1), E16-E20.
- McHugh, M.D., Kutney-Lee, A., Cimiotti, J.P., Sloane, D.M., Aiken, L.H., 2011. Nurses' widespread job dissatisfaction, burnout, and frustration with health benefits signal problems for patient care. Health Affairs 30 (2), 202–210.
- Medical Dictionary., 2013. Intention. Retvieved from: http://www.thefreedictionary.com/intention Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Medical Research Act (Laki lääketieteellisestä tutkimuksesta 794/2010) Retrieved from: http://www. finlex.fi/fi/laki/alkup/2010/20100794 Accessed 8/12/2013.
- Meretoja, R. Aschan, H. Määttä M., Kvist T., 2008. Sairaalan vetovoimaa voidaan arvioida. Premissi 5, 22–24.
- Meretoja, R. & Koponen, L., 2008. Vetovoimainen sairaala. In: L. Koponen, H. Hopia. Vetovoimainen terveydenhuolto. Hoitotyön vuosikirja 2008. Suomen sairaanhoitajaliitto, p. 9-20.
- Meyrick, J., 2006. What is good qualitative research? A first step towards a comprehensive approach to judging rigour/quality. Journal of Health Psychology 11 (5), 799-808.
- Miller, B. K., Adams, D., Beck, L., 1993. A behavioural inventory for professionalism in nursing. Journal of Professional Nursing 9 (5), 290–295.
- Ministry of Education., 2006. Ammattikorkeakoulusta terveydenhuoltoon. Koulutuksesta valmistuvien ammatillinen osaaminen, keskeiset opinnot ja vähimmäisopintopisteet. Retvieved from: http://www.minedu.fi/export/sites/default/OPM/ Julkaisut/2006/liitteet/tr24.pdf?lang=fi Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Ministry of Education and Culture., 2011. Tasapainoiseen työllisyyskehitykseen 2025. Ehdotus koulutustarjonnan tavoitteiksi vuodelle 2016. Opetus- ja

kulttuuriministeriön työryhmämuistioita ja selvityksiä 2011:16. Retrieved from: http://www.minedu.fi/export/sites/default/OPM/Julkaisut/2006/ liitteet/tr24.pdf?lang=fi Accessed 27/11/2013.

- Ministry of of Employment and Economy., 2014. Työvoiman kysynnän ja tarjonnan kohtaantotilanne eri ammateissa, TE-toimistojen arvio helmikuussa 2014. Retrieved from: http://www.tem.fi/ files/38921/Ammattibarometri\_Helmikuu\_2014\_1. pdf Accessed 1/3/2013.
- Ministry of Employment and the Economy., 2013. HYVÄ-Ohjelma 2011-2015. Retvieved from: http:// www.tem.fi/files/37495/TEM\_HYVA\_toimintakertomus\_2013-9-16\_VEDOS-4.PDF Accessed 6/12/2013.
- Ministry of Social Affairs and Health., 2009. Increasing the Effectiveness and Attraction of Nursing Care by Means of Management. An Action Plan for the Years 2009–2011. Publications of Ministry of Social Affairs and Health in Finland, Helsinki.
- Ministry of Social Affairs and Health., 2012. The National Development Programme for Social Welfare and Health Care. The Kaste Programme 2012–2015. Publications of Ministry of Social Affairs and Health in Finland, Helsinki.
- Misra-Hebert, A.D., Kay, R., Stoller, J.K., 2004. A Review of Physician Turnover: Rates, Causes, and Consequences. American Journal of Medical Quality 19 (2), 56-66.
- Mobley, W.H., Homer, S.O., Hollingsworth, A.T., 1978. An evaluation of precursors of hospital employee turnover. Journal of Applied Psychology 63 (4), 408-414.
- Mobley, W.H., Griffith, H., Megline, B., 1979. Review and conceptual analysis of the employee turnover process. Psychological Bulletin 86 (3), 493-522.
- Mohamed N.A., Mohamed, S.S., 2013. Impact of Job Demand and Control on Nurses Intention To leave Obstetrics and Gynecology Department. Life Science Journal 10 (2), 223–229.
- Morrell, K., 2005. Towards a typology of nursing turnover: the role of shocks in nurses' decisions to leave. Journal of Advanced Nursing 49 (3), 315–322.
- Murrells, T., Robinson, S., Griffiths, P., 2008. Is satisfaction a direct predictor of nursing turnover? Modelling the relationship between satisfaction, expressed intention and behaviour in a longitudinal cohort study. Human Resources for Health 6, 22.
- Mrayyan, M.T., 2009. Differences of hospitals' organisational climates and nurses' intent to stay: Nurses' perspectives. Journal of Research in Nursing 14 (5), 465–477.
- MOT Englanti; englanti-suomi., 2013. Sähköinen sanakirja. Kielikone Oy & Gummerus Kustannus Oy.

- Mowday, R.T., Porter, L.W., Steers, R.M., 1982. Employee-organization linkages. Academic Press, New York.
- Myllyniemi, S., 2012. Monipolvinen hyvinvointi. Nuorisobarometri 2012. Nuorisotutkimusverkosto, Nuorisotutkimusseura, julkaisuja 127, verkkojulkaisuja 53. Retrieved from: http://www.minedu.fi/ export/sites/default/OPM/Nuoriso/nuorisoasiain\_ neuvottelukunta/julkaisut/barometrit/liitteet/Nuorisobarometri\_2012\_Verkkojulkaisu.pdf Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Määttä, M., Kvist, T., Kankkunen, P., Vehviläinen-Julkunen, K., Miettinen, M., 2009. Osastonhoitaja – matkalla vetovoimaisen sairaalan hoitotyön johtajaksi? Premissi 5, 34–35.
- Narinen, A., 2000. Terveydenhuollon osastonhoitajan työn sisältö tällä hetkellä ja tulevaisuudessa. Väitöskirja. Helsingin yliopisto. Yleislääketieteen ja perusterveydenhuollon osasto, Helsinki. Retrieved from: http://ethesis.helsinki.fi/julkaisut/laa/kliin/vk/ narinen/terveyde.pdf Accessed 22/2/2014
- National Supervisory Authority for Welfare and Health., 2013. Healthcare. Retrieved from: http:// www.valvira.fi/en/supervision\_guidance/healthcare Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Needleman, J., Buerhaus, P., Mattke, S., Stewart, M., Zelevinsky, K., 2002. Nurse-staffing levels and the quality of care in hospitals. New England Journal of Medicine 346 (22), 1715–1722.
- Needleman, J., Buerhaus, P., Pankratz, S., Leibson, C.L., Stevens, S.R., Harris, M., 2011. Nurse Staffing and Inpatient Hospital Mortality. New England Journal of Medicine 364, 1037–1045.
- Newton, J.M., McKenna, L., 2007. The transitional journey through the graduate year: a focus group study. International Journal of Nursing Studies 44 (7), 1231–1237.
- Nightingale, F., 1859/1992edn. Notes on Nursing. What it is and what it is not. (Commemorative edition). Lippincott Wilkins and Wilkins, Philadelphia.
- Niitsuma, M., Katsuki, T., Sakuma, Y., Sato, C., 2012. The relationship between social skills and early resignation in Japanese novice nurses. Journal of nursing management 20 (5), 659-667.
- Nogueras, D.J., 2006. Occupational Commitment, Education, and Experience as a Predictor of Intent to Leave the Nursing Profession. Nursing Economics 24 (2), 86-93.
- Nooney, J.G., Unruh, L., Yore, M.M., Should I stay or should I go?, 2010. Career change and labor force separation among registered nurses in the U.S. Social Science & Medicine 70 (12), 1874-1881.
- Noponen, K., 2013. Miten johtaa uutta sukupolvea? Premissi 3, 41.

- North, N., Leung, W., Lee, R., 2013a. New graduate separations from New Zealand's nursing workforce in the first 5 years after registration: a retrospective cohort analysis of a national administrative data set 2005–2010. Journal of Advanced Nursing, doi: 10.1111/jan.12339 [Epub ahead of print]
- North, N., Leung, W., Ashton, T., Rasmussen, E., Hughes, F., Finlayson, M., 2013b. Nurse turnover in New Zealand: costs and relationships with staffing practises and patient outcomes. Journal of Nursing Management 21 (3), 419–428.
- Nursing Council of New Zealand., 2013. The Future Nursing Workforce. Supply Projections 2010 – 2035. BERL, Wellington. Retrieved from: http:// nursingcouncil.org.nz/News/The-Future-Nursing-Workforce Accessed 3/10/2013.
- O'Brien-Pallas, L., Duffield, C., Tomblin., Murphy, G., Birch, S., Meyer, R., 2005. Nursing Workforce Planning: Mapping the Policy Trail. International Council of Nurses, Geneva, Switzerland.
- O'Brien-Pallas, L., Griffin, P., Shamian, J., Buchan, J., Duffield, C., Hughes, F., Spence, H.K., Laschinger, N.N., Stone, P.W., 2006. The impact of nurse turnover on patient, nurse and system outcomes: A pilot study and focus for a multicenter international study. Policy, Politics, & Nursing Practice 7 (3), 169-179.
- O'Brien-Pallas, L., Murphy, G.T., Shamian, J., Li, X., Hayes, L.J., 2010. Impact and determinants of nurse turnover: a pan-Canadian study. Journal of Nursing Management 18 (8), 1073–1086.
- OECD., 2010. Policy Brief: International Migration of Health Workers. Paris, France: OECD, 2010. Retrieved from: http://www.oecd.org/migration/ mig/44783473.pdf Accessed 7/12/2013.
- OECD., 2012. Health at a Glance 2012. OECD Indicators. Retrieved from: http://www.oecd.org/els/ health-systems/HealthAtAGlanceEurope2012.pdf Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Official Statistic of Finland, 2012. Työssäkäynti 2010. Ammatti ja sosioekonominen asema. Suomen virallinen tilasto. Retrieved from: http://tilastokeskus.fi/ til/tyokay/2010/04/tyokay\_2010\_04\_2012-11-23\_ fi.pdf Accessed 24/11/2013
- Oulton, J.A., 2006. The global nursing shortage: an overview of issues and actions. Policy, Politics, and Nursing Practice 7 (3 Suppl), 34S-39S.
- Oswald, R.J., Beverly, B.C., Harvey. B.M., Corwin, E.H.L., 1951. Recommendations for Action to Relieve the Nursing Shortage. Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine 27 (9), 577–580. Retrieved from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1930127/pdf/bullnyacadmed00450-0049.pdf Accessed 9/9/2013.
- Oxford Dictionary of English., 2010. Oxford University Press (3 ed.) Online Version 2010. eISBN:9780191727665.

- Oxford English Dictionary., 2012. Oxford University Press. Online Version 2010. eISBN:9780191727498.
- Parasuraman, S., 1989. Nursing turnover: An integrated model. Research in Nursing and Health 12 (84), 267-277.
- Partanen, P. 2002. Hoitotyön henkilöstön mitoittaminen erikoissairaanhoidossa. Väitöskirja. Kuopion yliopiston julkaisuja E. Yhteiskuntatieteet 99. Kuopion yliopiston painatuskeskus.
- Partanen, P., Pitkäaho, T., Kvist, T., Turunen, H., Miettinen, M. & Vehviläinen-Julkunen, K. 2008. Magneettisairaalamalli erinomaisen hoitotyön mahdollistajana. In: L. Koponen & H. Hopia. vetovoimainen terveydenhuolto. Hoitotyön vuosikirja 2008. Suomen sairaanhoitajaliitto, pp. 69-88.
- Parry, J., 2008. Intention to leave the profession: antecedents and role in nurse turnover. Journal of Advanced Nursing 64 (2), 157–167.
- Parry, E., Urwin, P., 2011. Generational Differences in Work Values: A Review of Theory and Evidence. International Journal of Management Reviews 13 (1), 79–96.
- Pellico, L.H., Brewer C.S., Kovner, C.T. 2009. What newly licensed registered nurses have to say about their first experiences. Nursing Outlook 57 (4), 194-203.
- Peterson, J., Hall, L.M.G., O'Brien-Pallas, L., Cockerill, L., 2011. Job satisfaction and intentions to leave of new nurses. Journal of Research in Nursing 16 (6), 536-548.
- Pitkäaho, T., Partanen, P., Miettinen, M., Vehviläinen-Julkunen, K., 2011. Hoitotyön johtaminen kompleksisessa toimintaympäristössä: kaaoksen ja tiukan suunnitelmallisuuden välissä on tila innovatiivisuudelle. Pro terveys 6, 4-6.
- Pitkänen, S., Luoma, L., Järvensivu, A., Arnkil R., 2009. Moni-ilmeiset rekrytointiongelmat. Rekrytointiongelmien syyt työnantajan, työnhakijan ja työvoimatoimiston näkökulmasta. Työ- ja elinkeinoministeriön julkaisuja. Työ ja yrittäjyys, 15/2009. Retrieved from: http://www.tem.fi/files/22247/ TEM15\_09.pdf Accessed 41/11/2013
- Poghosyan, L., Clarke, S.P., Finlayson, M., Aiken, L.H., 2010. Nurse burnout and quality of care: cross-national investigation in six countries. Research in Nursing & Health 33 (4), 288–298.
- Polit, D.F., 1996. Data Analysis and Statistics for Nursing Research. Humananalysis, Inc. Saratoga Springs, New York.
- Polit D.F., Beck C.T., 2004. Nursing Research. Principles and Methods. Seventh edition. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. Philadelphia, USA.
- Polkinghorne, D.E., 1995. Narrative configuration in qualitative analysis. Qualitative Studies in Education 8 (1), 5-23.

- Pomaki, G.A., Delongis, D., Frey, K., Short, T., Woehrle, T., 2010. When the going gets tough: Direct, buffering, and indirect effects of social support on turnover intention. Journal of Teaching and Teacher Education 26 (6), 1340-1346.
- Potempa, K. M., Redman, R. W., Landstrom, G., 2009. Human resources in nursing education: A worldwide crisis. Collegian 16 (1), 19–22.
- Powers, B.A., Knapp, T.R., 1995. A Dictionary of Nursing Theory and Research. Sage Publications. United States of America.
- Prestholdt, P.H., Lane, I.M., Mathews, R.C., 1987. Nurse Turnover as Reasoned Action: Development of a Process Model. Journal of Applied Psychology 7 (2), 251–221.
- Price, J.L., Mueller, C.W., 1981. A Causal Model of Turnover for Nurses. The Academy of Management Journal 24 (3), 543-565.
- Price, J.L., 2001. Reflections on the determinants of voluntary turnover. International Journal of Manpower 22 (7), 660-624.
- Price, J.L., 2004. Innovative Theory and Empirical Research on Employee Turnover. In: Innovative Theory and Empirical Research on Employee Turnover. R, Griffeth, P. Hom (eds.) Research in Human Resource Management. Greenwich, Conn: Information Age Publishing, pp. 3-34.
- Price S.L., McGillis Hall L., 2013a. The history of nurse imagery and the implications for recruitment: a discussion paper. Journal of Advanced Nursing. doi: 10.1111/jan.12289.
- Price, S.L., McGillis Hall, L., Angus, J.E., Peter, E., 2013. Choosing nursing as a career: a narrative analysis of millennial nurses' career choice of virtue. Nursing Inquiry 20 (4), 305–316.
- Prime Minister's Office., 2011. Programme of Prime Minister Jyrki Katainen's Government. Retrieved from: http://valtioneuvosto.fi/hallitus/hallitusohjelma/pdf/en334743.pdf Accessed 14/7/2013.
- Pubmed., 2012a. MeSH. Nurses. Retrieved from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/68009726 Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Pubmed., 2012b. MeSH. Intent. Retrieved from: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/?term=intent Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Pubmed., 2012b. MeSH. Personnel turnover. Retrieved from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/?term=personnel+turnover Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Rafferty, A.M., Clarke, S.P., Coles, J., Ball, J., James, P., McKee, M., 2007. Outcomes of variation in hospital nurse staffing in English hospitals: cross-sectional analysis of survey data and discharge records. International Journal of Nursing Studies 44 (2), 175–182.

- Rajapaksa, S., Rothstein, W., 2009. Factors that influence the decisions of men and women nurses to leave nursing. Nursing Forum 44 (3), 195–206.
- Rechel, B., Dubois, C.A. & McKee, M., 2006. Health Care Workforce in Europe: Learning from Experience. European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. Retrieved from: http://www.euro.who. int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0008/91475/E89156.pdf Accessed 27/11/2013.
- Reineholm, C., Gustavsson, M., Liljegren, M., Ekberg, K., 2012. The importance of work conditions and health for voluntary job mobility: a two-year follow-up. BMC Public Health 12:682.
- Rhodes, S.R., Doering, M., 1983. An Integrated Model of Career Change. The Academy of Management Review 8 (4), 631-639.
- Rhodes, S. R., Doering, M.M., 1993. Intention to change careers: Determinants and process. Career Development Quarterly 42, 76-92.
- Riessman, C. K., 2002. Narrative analysis. In: The qualitative researcher's companion. A. M. Huberman, B. M. Miles, Eds., Sage Publication, California, CA, USA, pp. 217–270.
- Riessman, C. K., 2008., Narrative Methods for the Human Sciences. Sage Publications, California, USA.
- Robinson S., Murrells T., Marsland L., 1997. Constructing career pathways in nursing: some issues for research and policy. Journal of Advanced Nursing 25 (3), 602–614.
- Roos, J.P., 1987. Suomalainen Elämä. Tutkimus tavallisten suomalaisten elämäkerroista. Suomalaisen Kirjallisuuden Seura, Helsinki. Retrieved from: https://helda.helsinki.fi/handle/10138/16232 Accessed 09/2/2014.
- Roos, M., Rantanen, A., Zydziunaite, V., Suominen, T., 2014. Hoitotyön johtajan johtamistyylit eettisten ongelmien ratkaisussa. Tutkiva Hoitotyö 12 (1), 31–39.
- Rothrauff, T.C., Abraham, A.J., Bride, B.E., Roman P.M., 2011. Occupational turnover intentions among substance abuse counselors. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment 40 (1), 67-76.
- Royal College of Nursing., 2012. 'This is nursing' Retrieved from: http://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=URIKV0ewrhM Accessed 11/2/2014 (permission to use the quote obtained from the RCN Publications 11.2.1014 by e-mail)
- Rudman, A., Omne-Ponten, M., Wallin, L., Gustavsson, P.J., 2010. Monitoring the newly qualified nurses in Sweden: the Longitudinal Analysis of Nursing Education (LANE) study. Human Resources for Health 8:10. Retrieved from: http://www.human-resources-health.com/content/8/1/10 Accessed 6/12/2013.
- Rudman, A., Gustavsson, J.P., 2011. Early-career burnout among new graduate nurses: a prospective ob-

servational study of intra-individual change trajectories. International Journal of Nursing Studies 48 (3), 292–306.

- Rudman, A., Gustavsson, J.P., 2012. Burnout during nursing education predicts lower occupational preparedness and future clinical performance: a longitudinal study. International Journal of Nursing Studies 49 (8), 988–1001.
- Rudman, A., Gustavsson, P., Hultell, D., 2013. A prospective study of nurses' intentions to leave the profession during their first five years of practice in Sweden. International Journal of Nursing Studies, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. ijnurstu.2013.09.012
- Ruoranen, R., 2007. Henkilöstön liikkuvuus ja urakehitys. Pirkanmaan sairaanhoitopiirin julkaisuja 5/2007. Tampereen Yliopistopaino Oy, Tampere. Retrieved from: http://www.pshp. fi/download.aspx?ID=965&GUID=%7B8D-037CAD-0C71-4169-BFD5-2F53EEBEFB74%7D Accessed 27/11/2013.
- Rush, K.L., Adamack, M., Gordon, J., Janke, R., Ghement I.R., 2013. Orientation and transition programme component predictors of new graduate workplace integration. Journal of Nursing Management. doi: 10.1111/jonm.12106
- Salin, S., Stenberg, P., Aalto P., 2010. Akuuttisairaalan hoitotyön henkilöstöhallinnassa käytetyt tunnusluvut – systemaattinen katsaus. Hoitotiede 23 (4), 258–272.
- Salminen, H., 2012. Turning the tide: Registered nurses' job withdrawal intentions in a Finnish university hospital. SA Journal of Human Resource Management 10 (2), 1-11.
- Salonen, A. H., Kaunonen, M., Meretoja, R., Tarkka, M.-T., 2007. Competence profiles of recently registered nurses working in intensive and emergency settings. Journal of Nursing Management 15(8), 792–800.
- Salmond, S, Begley, R, Brennan, J, Saimbert, M., 2009. A comprehensive systematic review of evidence on determining the impact of Magnet designation on nursing and patient outcomes: is the investment worth it? JBI Library of Systematic Reviews 7 (26), 1119-1178.
- Salt, J., Cummings, G.G., Profetto-McGrath, J., 2008. Increasing retention of new graduate nurses. A Systematic Review of Interventions by Healthcare Organizations. Journal of Nursing Administration 38 (6), 287–296.
- Santamäki, K.. 2004. Sairaanhoitajatyöttömyys ja ammattikunnan lohkoutuminen. In: Hyvinvointityön ammatit. L. Henriksson & S. Wrede eds. Yliopistopaino, Helsinki. pp. 144–167.
- Santamäki, K., Kankaanranta, T., Henriksson, L., Rissanen, P., 2009. Sairaanhoitaja 2005. Pe-

rusraportti. Tampereen yliopisto, Työelämän tutkimuskeskus. Työraportteja 83/2009. Retrieved from: http://tampub.uta.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/65551/978-951-44-7645-7.pdf?sequence=1 Accessed 15/12/2013.

- Scott, E.S., Engelke, M.K., Swanson, M., 2008. New graduate nurse transitioning: necessary or nice? Applied Nursing Research 21 (2), 75–83.
- Sermeus, W., Bruyneel, L., 2010. Investing in Europe's health workforce of Tomorrow: Scope for innovation and collaboration. Retrieved from: http://www. healthworkforce4europe.eu/downloads/Report\_ PD\_Leuven\_FINAL.pdf Accessed 18/3/2013.
- Sermeus, W., Aiken, L.H., Van den Heede, K., Rafferty, A.M., Griffiths, P., Moreno-Casbas, M.T., et al., 2011. Nurse forecasting in Europe (RN4CAST): rationale, design and methodology. BMC Nursing 10 (6), 9.
- Seston, E., Hassell K., Ferguson, J., Hann, M., 2009. Exploring the relationship between pharmacists' job satisfaction, intention to quit the profession, and actual quitting. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy 5 (2), 121–132
- Shamian J., Inhaber R., 1985. The concept and practice of preceptorship in contemporary nursing: a review of the pertinent literature. International Journal of Nursing Studies 22 (2), 79-88.
- Sharp, K., 1998. The case for case studies in nursing research: the problem of generalization. Journal of Advanced Nursing 27 (4), 785–789.
- Sheridan J.E., Abelson, M.A., 1983. Cusp Catastrophe Model of Employee Turnover. The Academy of Management Journal 26 (3), 418-436.
- Sheridan, J.E., 1985. A catastrophe model of employee withdrawal leading to low job performance, high absenteeism, and job turnover during the first year of employment. Academy of Management Journal 28 (1), 88-109.
- Sherman, R.O., Chiang-Hanisko, L., Koszalinski, R., 2013. The ageing nursing workforce: a global challenge. Journal of Nursing Management 21 (7), 899– 902.
- Shimizu, T., Eto, R., Horiguchi, I., Obata, Y., Feng, Q., Nagata S., 2005. Relationship between turnover and periodic health check-up data among Japanese hospital nurses: a three-year follow-up study. Journal of Occupational Health 47 (4), 327–333.
- Shindul-Rothschild, J., Berry D., Long-Middleton E., 1996. Where have all the nurses gone? Final results of AJN's patient care survey. American Journal of Nursing 96 (11), 25–39.
- Siivola, U., 1963. Sairaanhoitajapoistuman syistä ja palaamisesta ammattityöhön. Eripainos Sosiaalisesta Aikakausikirjasta 7-8, 3-16.

- Simoens, S., Villeneuve, M., Hurst, J. 2005. Tackling Nurse Shortages in OECD countries. Retrieved from: http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/11/10/34571365.pdf Accessed 27/11/2013.
- Simon, M., Mueller, B.H., Hasselhorn, H-M., 2010. Leaving the organization or the profession - a multilevel analysis of nurses' intentions. Journal of Advanced nursing 66 (3), 616-626.
- Sjögren, K., Fochsen, G., Josephson, M., Lagerstrom, M., 2005. Reasons for leaving nursing care and improvements needed for considering a return: A study among Swedish nursing personnel. International Journal of Nursing Studies 42 (7), 751–758.
- Smith, S.A., Crow, S.M., Hartman, S.J., 2007. Attrition in nursing among Black and White nurses. Journal of Nursing Management 15 (3), 357–366.
- Smola, K. W., Sutton, C. D., 2002. Generational differences: Revisiting generational work values for the new millennium. Journal of Organizational Behavior 23 (4), 363–382.
- Sochalski, J., Konetzka, R.T., Zhu, J., Volpp, K., 2008. Will Mandated Minimum Nurse Staffing Ratios Lead to Better Patient Outcomes? Medical Care 46 (6), 606–613.
- Socialstyrelsen., 2009. Årsrapport NPS 2009. En analys av barnmorskors, sjuksköterskors, läkares, tandhygienisters och tandläkares arbetsmarknad. Artikelnr 2009-126-28. Retrieved from: http://www. socialstyrelsen.se/Lists/Artikelkatalog/Attachme nts/8449/2009-126-28\_200912628.pdf Accessed 27/11/2013.
- Sousa-Poza, A.S., Henneberger, F., 2004. Analyzing job mobility with job turnover intention: an international comparative study. Journal of Economic Issues 38 (1), 130-137.
- Spratley, E., Johnson, A., Sochalski, J. Fritz, M., Spencer, W., 2000. The registered nurse population: Findings from the national survey of registered nurses. Washington, D.C. United States Department of Health & Human Services.
- SPSS Inc, 2005. SPSS 12.0 for Windows. SPSS Inc, Chicago.
- Stanley, D., 2010. Multigenerational workforce issues and their implications for leadership in nursing. Journal of Nursing Management 18 (7), 846–852.
- Stewart, N. J., D'Arcy, C., Kosteniuk, J., Andrews, M. E., Morgan, D., Forbes, D., MacLeod, M. L. P., Kulig, J. C., Pitblado, J. R., 2011. Moving On? Predictors of Intent to Leave Among Rural and Remote RNs in Canada. The Journal of Rural Health 27 (1), 103–113.
- Stone, P. W., Mooney-Kane, C., Larson, E. L., Pastor, D. K., Zwanziger, J., Dick, A. W. 2007. Nurse Working Conditions, Organizational Climate, and Intent to Leave in ICUs: An Instrumental Variable Ap-

proach. Health Services Research 42 (3p1), 1085–1104.

- Stordeur, S., D'hoore, W., Heijden, B., Dibisceglie, M., Laine, M., van der Schoot, E., 2003. Leadership, job satisfaction and nurses' commitment. In: Working Conditions and Intent to Leave the Profession among Nursing Staff in Europe, SALTSA Report 7:2003, eds. H–M. Hasselhorn, P. Tackenberg, B.H. Müller. Elanders Gotab, Stockholm, pp. 28–45.
- Sullivan, S.E., 1999. The Changing Nature of Careers: A Review and Research Agenda. Journal of Management 25 (3), 457–484.
- Sullivan, S.E., Arthur, M.B., 2006. The evolution of the boundaryless career concept: Examining physical and psychological mobility. Journal of Vocational Behavior 69 (1), 19–29.
- Suonsivu, K., 2003. Kun mikään ei riitä. Hoitotyöntekijöiden masennuksen kokemukset ja niiden yhteydet työyhteisötekijöihin. Acta Universitatis Tamperensis 926. Tampereen yliopisto, Tampere.
- Suresh, P., Matthews, A., Coyne, I., 2013. Stress and stressors in the clinical environment: a comparative study of fourth-year student nurses and newly qualified general nurses in Ireland. Journal of Clinical Nursing 22 (5-6), 770–779.
- Suzuki, E., Itomine, I., Kanoya, Y., Katsuki, T., Horii, S., Sato, C., 2006. Factors affecting rapid turnover of novice nurses in university hospitals. Journal of Occupational Health 48 (1), 49–61.
- Syrjälä L. Estola E. Uitto M. & Kaunisto S-L. 2006. In: Etiikkaa ihmistieteille. J. Hallamaa, V. Launis, S. Lötjönen, Sorvali, I. (eds.) Tietolipas 211. Helsinki: Suomalaisen Kirjallisuuden Seura, pp. 181–202.
- Tai, T.W., Bame, S.I., Robinson, C.D., 1998. Review of nursing turnover research, 1977–1996. Social Science & Medicine 47 (12), 1905–1924.
- Takase, M., Oba, K., Yamashita, N., 2009. Generational differences in factors influencing job turnover among Japanese nurses: an exploratory comparative design. International Journal of Nursing Studies 46 (7), 957–967.
- Takase, M., 2010. A concept analysis of turnover intention: Implications for nursing management. Collegian 17 (1), 3-12.
- Tehy., 2013. Tehy tilastoina. Retrieved from: http:// www.tehy.fi/@Bin/25201537/Tehy\_tilastoina\_2013.pdf Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Tei-Tominaga, M., Miki, A., 2010. A longitudinal study of factors associated with intentions to leave among newly graduated nurses in eight advanced treatment hospitals in Japan. Industrial Health 48 (3), 305–316.
- Teoh, Y.T., Pua, L.H., Chan, M.F., 2013. Lost in transition - A review of qualitative literature of newly

qualified Registered Nurses' experiences in their transition to practice journey. Nurse Education Today 33 (2), 143-147.

- Terranova, A.B., Henning, J.M., 2011. National collegiate athletic association division and primary job title of athletic trainers and their job satisfaction or intention to leave athletic training. Journal of Athletic Training 46(3), 312-318.
- Tervo-Heikkinen, T., Partanen, P., Aalto, P., Vehviläinen-Julkunen, K., 2008. Nurses work environment and nursing outcomes: a survey study among Finnish university hospital registered nurses. International Journal of Nursing Practice 14 (5), 357–65.
- Tervo-Heikkinen, T., Kiviniemi, V., Partanen, P., Vehviläinen-Julkunen, K., 2009 Nurse staffing levels and nursing outcomes: a Bayesian analysis of Finnish-registered nurse survey data. Journal of Nursing Management 17, 986-993.
- Teperi, J., Porter, M.E., Vuorenoksa, L., Baron J., 2009. The Finnish Health Care System: A Value-based Perspective. Sitra Reports, Helsinki.
- Tett, R.P., Meyer, J.P., 1993. Job satisfaction, organizational commitment, turnover intention, and turnover: path analyses based on meta-analytic findings. Personnel Psychology 46 (2), 259–293.
- Tham, P., 2006. Why Are They Leaving? Factors Affecting Intention to Leave among Social Workers in Child Welfare. The British Journal of Social Work 37 (7), 1225-1246.
- The Finnish Advisory Board on Research Integrity., 2012. Responsible conduct of research and procedures for handling allegations of misconduct in Finland. Retrieved from: http://www.tenk.fi/sites/ tenk.fi/files/HTK\_ohje\_verkkoversio180113.pdf Accessed 18/3/2013.
- Tjadens, F., Weilandt, C., Eckert, J., the MoHProf consortium., 2012. Mobility of Health Professionals. Health systems, work conditions, patterns of health workers' mobility and implications for policy maker's. Retrieved from: http://www.mohprof.eu/LIVE/ DATA/National\_reports/national\_report\_Summary. pdf Accessed 27/11/2013.
- Toh, S.G., Ang, E., Devi, M. K., 2012. Systematic review on the relationship between the nursing shortage and job satisfaction, stress and burnout levels among nurses in oncology/haematology settings. International Journal of Evidence-Based Healthcare 10 (2), 126–141.
- Tourangeau, A. E., Cummings, G., Cranley, L.A., Ferron, E.M., Harvey, S., 2010. Determinants of hospital nurse intention to remain employed: Broadening our understanding. Journal of Advanced Nursing 66 (1), 22–32.
- Tominaga, M.T., Miki, A., 2011. Factors associated with the intention to leave among newly graduated

nurses in advanced-treatment hospitals in Japan. Japan Journal of Nursing Science 8 (1), 33–46.

- Toren, O., Zelker, R., Lipschuetz M., Riba, S., Reicher, S., Nirel, N., 2012.Turnover of registered nurses in Israel: Characteristics and predictors. Health Policy 105 (2-3), 203–213.
- Tsai, Y., Wu S-W., 2010. The relationships between organisational citizenship behaviour, job satisfaction and turnover intention. Journal of Clinical Nursing 19 (23-24), 3564–3574.
- Tschannen, D., Kalisch, B.J., Lee K.H., 2010. Missed nursing care: the impact on intention to leave and turnover. Canadian Journal of Nursing Research 42 (4), 22–39.
- Tuomaala, M., 2010. Rekrytointiongelmat sekä työvoiman kysyntä ja tarjonta TE-toimistoissa. Tilanne tammikuussa 2010. Työ- ja elinkeinoministeriö. Retrieved from: http://www.tem.fi/files/26326/ Rekrytointiongelmat\_seka\_tyovoiman\_kysynta\_ja\_ tarjonta\_tyovoimatoimistoissa\_1-2010.pdf Accessed 24/11/2013.
- Twigg, T., McCullough, K., 2014. Nurse retention: A review of strategies to create and enhance positive practice environments in clinical settings. International Journal of Nursing Studies 51 (1), 85–92.
- Utriainen, K., Kyngäs, S.H., 2009. Hospital nurses' job satisfaction: a literature review. Journal of Nursing Management 17 (8), 1002–1010.
- Unruh, L.Y., Nooney, J., 2011. Newly licensed registered nurses' perceptions of job difficulties, demands and control: individual and organizational predictors. Journal of Nursing Management, 19 (5), 572–584.
- Unruh, L., Zhang, N.J., 2013. The role of work environment in keeping newly licensed RNs in nursing: A questionnaire survey. International Journal of Nursing Studies. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. ijnurstu.2013.04.002
- Vaahtio, E-L., 2003. Työmarkkinaikää ei lasketa kalenterista. Tutkimus rekrytoinnista, iästä ja ageismista. Työpoliittinen Aikakauskirja 2, 42–56. Retrieved from: http://www.mol.fi/mol/fi/99\_pdf/fi/06\_tyoministerio/06\_julkaisut/aikakausi/tak/TAK\_2003\_2\_5. pdf Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Van Bogaert, P., Clarke, S., Roelant, E., Meulemans, H., Van de Heyning, P., 2010. Impacts of unit-level nurse practice environment and burnout on nurse-reported outcomes: a multilevel modelling approach. Journal of Clinical Nursing 19 (11–12), 1664–1674.
- Van Bogaert, P., Kowalski, C., Mace Weeks, S., Van Heusden, D., Clarke, S.P., 2013. The relationship between nurse practice environment, nurse work characteristics, burnout and job outcome and quality of nursing care: a cross-sectional survey. International Journal of Nursing Studies 50 (12),1667-77.

- Van den Heede, K., Florquin, M., Bruyneel, L., Aiken, L., Diya, L., Lesaffre, E., Sermeus, W., 2011. Effective strategies for nurse retention in acute hospitals. International Journal of Nursing Studies, 50 (2), 185-94.
- Van den Heede, K., Aiken, L.H., 2013. Nursing workforce a global priority area for health policy and health services research. International Journal of Nursing Studies 50 (2), 141–142.
- Van den Heede, K., Florguin, M., Bruyneel, L., Aiken, L.H., Diva, L., Lesaffre, E., Sermeus, W. 2013. Effective strategies for nurse retention in acute hospitals: A mixed method study. International Journal of Nursing Studies 50 (2), 185-194.
- van der Heijden, B.I.J.M., Van Dam, K., Hasselhorn, H.M., 2009. Intention to leave nursing: the importance of interpersonal work context, work-home interference, and job satisfaction beyond the effect of occupational commitment. Career Development International 14 (7), 616–635.
- van der Heijden, B.I.J.M., Kümmerling, A., Van Dam, K., Van der Schoot, E., Estryn-Behar, M., Hasselhorn, H.M., 2010. The impact of social support upon intention to leave among female nurses in Europe: secondary analysis of data from the NEXT survey. International Journal of Nursing Studies 47 (4), 434–445.
- Vuorenkoski, L., Mladovsky, P., Mossialos, E., 2008. Finland: health system review. Health Systems in Transformation 10 (4), 1-168. Retrieved from: http://www.euro.who.int/observatory/CtryInfo/ CtryInfoRes?COUNTRY=FIN&CtryInputSubmit Accessed 26/11/2013
- Vuorensyrjä, M., 2008. Työn jättämisen vakava harkinta vanhusten ja vammaisten perushoitotyossä: komparatiivinen tutkimus Suomessa, Ruotsissa, Norjassa ja Tanskassa. Tyoelämän tutkimus – Arbetslivsforskning 6 (3), 263–279.
- Yeh, M., Yu, S., 2009. Job stress and intention to quit in newly-graduated nurses during the first three months of work in Taiwan. Journal of Clinical Nursing 18 (24), 3450-3460.
- Yilmaz, K., 2013. Comparison of Quantitative and Qualitative Research Traditions: epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. European Journal of Education 48 (2), 311–325.
- You, L.M., Aiken, L.H., Sloane, D.M., Liu, K., He, G-p., Hu, p., Jiang, X-l., Li, X-h., Xiao, M., Huaping, L., Shang S-m., Kutney-Lee, A., Sermeus, W., 2013. Hospital nursing, care quality, and patient satisfaction: Cross-sectional surveys of nurses and patients in hospitals in China and Europe. International Journal of Nursing Studies 50(2), 154-161.
- Youth Act (72/2006). Retrieved from: http://www.minedu.fi/export/sites/default/OPM/Nuoriso/nuorisopolitiikka/liitteet/HE\_nuorisolaki\_eng.pdf Accessed at 7/12/2013.

- Yun, H., Jie, S., Anli, J., 2010. Nursing shortage in China: state, causes, and strategy. Nursing Outlook 58 (3), 122–28.
- Wang, L., Tao, H., Ellenbecker, C.H., Liu, X.H., 2012a. Predictors of hospital nurses' intent to stay: a cross-sectional questionnaire survey in Shanghai, China. International Nursing Review 59 (4), 547– 554.
- Wang, L., Tao, H., Ellenbecker, C.H., Liu, X., 2012b. Job satisfaction, occupational commitment and intent to stay among Chinese nurses: a cross-sectional questionnaire survey. Journal of Advanced Nursing 68 (3), 539–549.
- Weathers, S.M., Raleigh, E.D., 2013. 1-Year Retention Rates and Performance Ratings: Comparing Associate Degree, Baccalaureate, and Accelerated Baccalaureate Degree Nurses. The Journal of Nursing Administration 43 (9), 468-474.
- West, E.A., Griffith, W.P., Iphofen R. 2007. A historical perspective on the nursing shortage. Medsurg Nursing 16 (2), 124–130.
- Wertz, F. J., Charmaz, K., McMullen, L., Josselson, R., Anderson, R., McSpadden E., 2011. Five Ways of Doing Qualitative Analysis: Phenomenological Psychology, Grounded Theory, Discourse Analysis, Narrative Research, and Intuitive Inquiry. Guilford, New York.
- Whitaker, T., Weismiller, T., Clark, E., 2006. Assuring the sufficiency of a frontline workforce: A national study of licensed social workers. Executive summary. Washington, DC: National Association of Social Workers. Retrieved from: http://workforce.socialworkers.org/studies/nasw\_06\_execsummary.pdf Accessed 27/11/2013.
- White, K., 2002. Nursing as Vocation. Nursing Ethics, 9 (3), 279–290.
- Whittemore, R., Chase, S.K., Mandle, C.L., 2011. Validity in Qualitative Research. Qualitative health research 11 (4), 522-537.
- Whittemore, R., Knafl, K., 2005. The integrative review: updated methodology. Journal of Advanced Nursing 52 (5), 546–553.
- Widerszal-Bazyl, M., Radkiewicz, P., Hasselhorn, H-M., Conway, P.M., van der Heijden, B., the NEXT Study Group., 2008. The Demand-Control-Support model and intent to leave across six European countries: The role of employment opportunities. Work & Stress 22 (2), 166–184.
- Wieck, K.L., Dols, J., Landrum, P., 2010. Retention priorities for the intergenerational nurse workforce. Nursing Forum 45 (1), 7–17.
- Wilson, B., Squires, M., Widger, K., Cranley, L., Tourangeau, A., 2008. Job satisfaction among a multigenerational nursing workforce. Journal of Nursing Management 16 (6), 716–723.

- Wismar, M., Maier, C.B., Glinos, I.A., Dussault, G., Figueras J., 2011. Health Professional Mobility and Health Systems: Evidence from 17 European Countries. World Health Organization, on behalf of the European Observatory on Health systems and Policies. Retrieved from: http://www.euro.who. int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0017/152324/e95812.pdf Accessed 7/12/2013.
- World Health Organisation., 2006. Working Together for Health. The World Health Report 2006. Geneva, World Health Organisation. Retrieved from: http:// whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2006/9241563176\_ eng.pdf Accessed 27/11/2013.
- WHO., 2009. Nurses and midwives: A force for health. Retrieved from: http://www.euro.who.int/\_data/ assets/pdf\_file/0019/114157/E93980.pdf Accessed 27/11/2013.
- WHO., 2010. Wanted: 2.4 million nurses, and that's just in India. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/bulletin/ volumes/88/5/10-020510/en/index.html Accessed 27/11/2013.
- WHO., 2011. Nursing and Midwifery Services Strategic Directions, 2011-2015. World Health Organization, Switzerland. Retrieved from: http://whqlibdoc. who.int/hq/2010/WHO\_HRH\_HPN\_10.1\_eng.pdf Accessed 27/11/2013.
- WHO., 2013. World Health Statistics 2013. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/gho/publications/world\_ health\_statistics/2013/en/ Accessed 7/12/2013.
- Wolf, G., Triolo, O., Ponte, P.R., 2008. Magnet recognition program. The next generation. Journal of Nursing Administration 38 (4), 200–204.
- World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki., 2013. : Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects. The Journal of American Medical Association. 7<sup>th</sup> Revision. Retrieved from: http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=1760318 Accessed 27/11/2013.
- Wray, J., 2013. The impact of the financial crisis on nurses and nursing. Journal of Advanced Nursing 69 (3), 497–499.
- Zangaro G.A., Soeken, K. L., 2007. A meta-analysis of studies of nurses' job satisfaction. Research in Nursing and Health 30 (4), 445–458.
- Zeytinoglu, I.U., Denton, M., Plenderleith, J.M., 2011. Flexible employment and nurses' intention to leave the profession: The role of support at work. Health Policy 99 (2), 149-157.
- Zinsmeister, L.B., Schafer, D., 2009. The exploration of the lived experience of the graduate nurse making the transition to registered nurse during the first year of practice. Journal for Nurses in Staff Development 25 (1), 28-34.

- Zhang, L-f., You, L-m., Liu, K., Zheng, J., Fang, J-b., Lu, M-m., Lv, A-l., Ma, W-g, Wang, J., Wang, S-h., Wu, X., Zhu, X-w. & Bu X-q., 2013. The Association of Chinese Hospital Work Environment with Nurse Burnout, Job Satisfaction, and Intention to Leave. Nursing Outlook. doi: 10.1016/j.outlook.2013.10.010.
- Zhu, X.-w., You, L.-m., Zheng, J., Liu, K., Fang, J.-b., Hou, S.-x., Lu, M.-m., Lv, A.-l., Ma, W.-g., Wang, H.-h., Wu, Z.-j. & Zhang, L.-f., 2012. Nurse Staffing Levels Make a Difference on Patient Outcomes: A Multisite Study in Chinese Hospitals. Journal of Nursing Scholarship 44 (3), 266–273.

## APPENDICES

**Appendix 1.** Empirical studies (n = 24) concerning RNs' professional turnover.

Author, date published	Design of study and country	Sample size/Response rate (RR)	Average years in nursing before leaving	Mean age/Gender	Main results/findings
MacKusick & Minick (2012), United States	Descriptive, semi-structured interviews	10 RNs with a minimum of 1 year of clinical practice and no clinical practice in the last 6 months.	1–18 years of clinical practice.	Nurses were mainly aged 40–49 (n=7, 70%); 8 female, 2 male.	<ul><li>Three main reasons for leaving clinical nursing were:</li><li>unfriendly workplace,</li><li>emotional distress related to patient care,</li><li>fatigue and exhaustion.</li></ul>
Gök & Kocaman (2011), Turkey	Descriptive, Questionnaire	134 nurses who had left the profession/RR not described.	The number of years worked as a nurse ranged from 1 to 14 years; mean working time 4.89 years.	Mean age 32 years, 100% female.	<ul><li>The main reasons reported for leaving nursing were:</li><li>unsatisfactory working conditions,</li><li>negative perception of nursing</li></ul>
Rajapaksa & Rothstein (2009)	Descriptive, Questionnaire (NSSRN)	1,589 RNs who were not employed as nurses and were employed in other occupations.	Average number of years worked as an RN 8.73 years ( $SD = 7.3$ years).	Mean age 48.49 years, 94% were female.	<ul> <li>Main reasons for leaving nursing were:</li> <li>better salaries in current type of position,</li> <li>hours more convenient in other position,</li> <li>current position more rewarding professionally.</li> </ul>
Black et al. (2008), United States	Descriptive, Questionnaire (NSSRN)	2,906,615 registered nurses who were licensed to practice in the United States in the year 2004.	The largest group working outside nursing had more than 25 years of work experience.	Not described, 92.5% female (of those who were outside nursing).	Main reasons for working outside nursing were: career change, burnout/ stressful work environment, scheduling challenges or working too many hours, better pay in non-nursing employment, inadequate staffing and the physical demands of nursing.
Smith et al. (2007), United States		1,438 nurses.	Not described.	Mean age 50,8 years, 96% were female.	Main reasons for leaving to job not related to nursing included: pay and/or promotional opportunities, working conditions, job location and because of a change in career or professional interests.
Hasselhorn et al. (2005), 11 European countries	Longitudinal, descriptive, Questionnaire	1,924 nurses, RR 34%.	Not described.	Mean age 37 years, not described.	<ul><li>The main reasons reported for leaving nursing were:</li><li>too low demands,</li><li>working conditions,</li><li>financial and personal reasons.</li></ul>
Sjögren et al. (2005), Sweden	Descriptive, Questionnaire	288 former nursing personnel, RR 73%.	17 years.	Average age 45.7 years, 88% female.	<ul> <li>The main reasons reported for leaving nursing were:</li> <li>workload,</li> <li>working schedule,</li> <li>management and social climate,</li> <li>status of profession.</li> </ul>
Morrel (2005), United Kingdom	Descriptive, Questionnaire	336 nurses who had left trust voluntarily/ RR 31%.	Not described.	Not described.	In many cases of nurse turnover, a single, jarring event, or shock, initiated thoughts of leaving.
Barron & West (2005), United Kingdom	Descriptive, Questionnaire	British Household Panel Survey Data 1999 and 2001/RR not described.	Not described.	Not described.	<ul> <li>Variables associated with shorter tenure in nursing:</li> <li>being male,</li> <li>being younger,</li> <li>having a degree,</li> <li>having been born in the UK.</li> </ul>
Duffield et al. (2004a, 2004b), Australia	Descriptive, Questionnaire	150 nurses no longer employed within the profession/RR not described.	11 years.	Mean age 43.6 years, 92% female.	Former nurses had moved to management positions outside the health industry. Most agreed that their nursing skills and experiences had assisted them in attaining these positions. The reasons why nurses had left their profession were varied and complex. Entering nursing as a 'stepping stone' was negatively associated with tenure.

Appendix 1. Empirical studies (n = 24) concerning RNs' professional turnover.

Author, date published	Design of study and country	Sample size/Response rate (RR)	Average years in nursing before leaving	Mean age/Gender	Main results/findings
Cheung (2004), Australia	Descriptive, semi-structured interviews.	29 former nurses/ RR not described.	1–20 years of experience.	Aged between mid- 20s and late 40s, 93% female.	Leaving nursing was not an easy process for many of the former nurses. Stress and burnout relating to inadequate staffing and lack of support were significant variables in nurses' decisions to leave.
Andrews (2003), United Kingdom	Descriptive, questionnaire. Semi-structured interviews	74 former nurses working as therapists.	Not described.	Mean age 46 years, 87% female.	Nurses were motivated to leave nursing by disillusionment with the health service and particular aspects of their former job.
Duffield & Franks (2002), Australia	Descriptive, semi- structured interviews	17 former nurses/ RR not described.	Mean number of years 10.97.	Not described, 88% female.	<ul><li>The main reasons reported for leaving nursing were:</li><li>reaching a ceiling in nursing,</li><li>wishing to develop themselves in another direction.</li></ul>
Durand & Randhawa (2002), United Kingdom	Semi-structured Interviews	24 nurses returned to profession and 28 on 'career break'/ RR not described.	Not described.	Average age was 39 years, not described.	<ul> <li>The main reasons given for having a career break were:</li> <li>pregnancy,</li> <li>meeting the needs of small children,</li> <li>dissatisfaction with the nursing role or nursing conditions,</li> <li>the relocation of a spouse for work purposes.</li> </ul>
Cartledge (2001), United Kingdom	Interviews using open questions	11 former intensive care nurses/ RR not described.	Not described.	Not described.	Most dominant factors influencing decision to leave were: stresses related to the work, inadequate opportunity for development, recognition and respect of others and implications of shift work.
Andrews et al. (2000), United Kingdom	Descriptive, semi- structured interviews and questionnaires	105 nurse owning residential homes/ RR not described.	Not described.	Not described.	Former nurses had more responsibility and authority and greater control over their career when running their own business.
Spratley et al. (2000), United States	Descriptive, Questionnaire	135,696 RNs employed in non-nursing occupation/ RR 72%.	Not described.	Not described, 95% female.	Predominant reasons for working in non-nursing position were: the other positions' scheduled hours were more convenient, better salaries, greater safety than in health-care environments, more professionally rewarding and taking care of home and family.
McLees (1998), Canada	Descriptive, Questionnaire	202 graduate nurses/RR 55%.	Early career years.	Not described.	Reasons for leaving nursing were dissatisfaction with nursing as a career because of stress and frustration with working conditions, family commitments, or health problems.
Fottler & Widra (1995), United States	Descriptive, Questionnaire	1,004 inactive registered nurses/RR 64%	Mean 13.2 years.	Not described.	RNs initially become inactive for both personal and professional reasons. Primary reason for leaving was pregnancy/child rearing.
Pierce et al. (1991), United States	Descriptive, Questionnaire	627 nurses/RR 52%	Mean 8 years.	Mean age 37.3 years, not described.	Nurses who had left nursing were clearly more dissatisfied than other groups. Salary, salary increases, and advancement opportunities were sources for dissatisfaction for nurses who had left nursing.
Bentham & Haynes (1990), United Kingdom	Descriptive, Questionnaire	642 inactive nurses/RR 82%	Not described.	Age range from 25 to 44 years, 95% female.	Reasons given for leaving the last nursing job were: pregnancy, moving away, dissatisfaction with nursing and dissatisfaction with pay.
Moores et al. (1982 & 1983), United Kingdom	Descriptive, Questionnaire	634 inactive and 172 nurses in other occupation/RR 48%	Not described.	Not described.	Family reasons were the most important reason for nurses' inactivity. Nurses stated that they believe a mother should be at home while her children are young and that they cannot make suitable arrangements for the care of their children.
Artman & Penttilä (1972), Finland	Descriptive, Questionnaire	716 registered nurses not employed in nursing/ RR 64%	Not described.	Under 60 years, 100% female.	Most often mentioned reason not working in nursing was: caring for children, marriage, joint taxes, troubles because of night shifts and irregular working hours.
Siivola (1963), Finland	Descriptive, Questionnaire	2,059 nurses not employed in nursing.	Not described/RR 80–85%.	Under 60 years, 100% female.	Home and family issues, dissatisfaction with salary and irregular working hours were the three most often mentioned reasons for why nurses do not work in nursing.

Aim of the study

122

Author(s), Year, Country,

Appendix 2 Empirical studies (n = 44) concerning nurses' intention to leave the profession (updating Paper I)

Sample, setting

Author(s), Year, Country, Design	Aim of the study	Sample, setting	The main results
Gurková et al. (2013), Czech and Slovak Republics, cross-sectional questionnaire survey	To investigate the relationship between professional turnover intentions and job satisfaction among RNs.	1,055 RNs working in hospitals and in different kinds of wards (e.g. emergency and intensive care units, operating rooms and geriatrics wards).	Job dissatisfaction, dissatisfaction with control/responsibility and dissatisfaction with scheduling were the main predictors of RNs' intentions to leave the profession.
Heinen et al. (2013), 10 European Countries, cross-sectional questionnaire survey	To study factors associated with nurses' intention to leave the profession due to job dissatisfaction.	23,159 nurses working in 385 medical and surgical hospital wards (with bachelors or diploma level education).	Burnout was the factor that was associated with intention to leave the profession within and among European countries. Six other factors were also associated with intention to leave the profession in ten countries: (1) the nurse–physician relationship, (2) leadership, (3) participation in hospital affairs, (4) older age, (5) female gender, (6) working fulltime.
Lee et al. (2013), China, cross- sectional questionnaire survey	To investigate the relationships between quality of work life and nurses' intention to leave their unit, organization and profession.	1,283 nurses working in acute- care hospitals.	The significant predictors of intent to leave the profession were: (1) supportive milieu with job security and professional recognition, (2) work arrangement and workload, (3) work–home life balance (4) nursing staffing and patient care.
Mohamed & Mohamed (2013), Egypt, cross-sectional questionnaire survey	To investigate the impact of job demands and control on nurses' intention for turnover.	83 nurses working in obstetrics and gynecology departments.	Nurses' age and nursing experience was positively correlated with the intention to stay in the profession. Greater feeling of control of work was associated with lower intention to leave the profession.
Rudman & Gustavsson (2013), Sweden, prospective longitudinal survey study	To study new graduate nurses intentions to leave the profession during their first five years of practice.	1,417 new graduates. Mean age in the first year of nursing education was 28.4 years.	Burnout during nursing education was associated with levels of intention to leave profession during the first year of employment. Disengaged and exhausted nurses had higher concurrent levels of intention to leave.
Unruh & Zhang (2013), United States, Correlational survey design	To investigate the influence of hospital work environments on newly licensed RN's commitment and intent to leave nursing.	414 RNs working in hospitals.	Variables associated with lower intent to leave nursing: being white, better health, good orientation, working day shifts, working more hours, perceiving fewer job difficulties and demands and more job control.
Clendon & Walker (2012), New Zealand, cross-sectional questionnaire survey and focus group interviews	To investigate experiences of young nurses using a mixed- method design.	647 nurses (aged under 30 years) replied to the questionnaire. Also, two focus-group interviews with a total of 7 and 8 nurses.	<ul><li>In the quantitative survey, the emotional challenge of nursing being greater than the young nurses anticipated was one of the main reasons for intention to leave the profession.</li><li>Five main themes were found based on the qualitative data: (1) challenges of nursing, (2) rewards of nursing, (3) being young, (4) coping (5) addressing generational differences.</li></ul>
Cortese et al. (2012), Italy, cross- sectional questionnaire survey	To identify factors influencing nurses' intention to leave the ward, hospital and profession.	512 nurses in working in intensive and critical care units in two different hospitals.	Factors associated with intention to leave the profession were: (1) low job satisfaction for professional status, (2) dissatisfaction with pay, (3) dissatisfaction for organizational policies, (4) aged under 40 years, (5) part-time schedule.
Derycke et al. (2012), Belgium, longitudinal cross-national exploratory survey (NEXT)	To investigate the relationship between work ability and turnover intention (ward, organization and profession)	1531 health-care workers.	A substantial change in work ability was associated with higher intention to leave the profession.
Hinno et al. (2012), Finland, cross-sectional questionnaire survey	To investigate hospital RNs' assessments of the organizational characteristics and RNs' career plans.	334 RNs working in academic and district hospitals.	Positive ratings by RNs concerning following work environment characteristics were associated with nurses' decreased intention to leave the profession: (1) support for professional development, (2) adequate staffing, (3) assuring nursing competence, (4) supportive management.
Laschinger (2012), Canada, a descriptive correlational design, questionnaire survey	To describe new graduate nurses work life experiences. Moreover, to investigate predictors of job and career satisfaction and turnover intentions in the first two years of practice.	342 new graduate nurses working in hospitals. Average age was 28 years.	Burnout (emotional exhaustion and cynicism) and work engagement were related to career satisfaction and career turnover intention.

The main results

Appendices

123

Appendices

Appendix 2 Empirical studies (n = 44) concerning nurses' intention to leave the profession (updating Paper I)

Author(s), Year, Country, Design	Aim of the study	Sample, setting	The main results
Mariani (2012), United States, cross-sectional questionnaire survey	To investigate: (1) the effects of mentoring on career satisfaction and intent to stay in nursing, (2) the relationship between career satisfaction and intent to stay in the profession.	173 RNs working in clinical practice, education, administration, and research.	There was a weak correlation between career satisfaction and intent to stay in nursing. Mentoring was not associated with intent to stay in nursing.
Salminen (2012), Finland, cross- sectional questionnaire survey	To study RNs intentions to leave the nursing profession and intentions to retire early.	747 RNs working in public university hospitals.	Main factors that increased the likelihood of intentions for occupational turnover were: (1) young age, (2) low job satisfaction, (3) low organizational commitment, (4) low work ability and (5) skills in balance with or above present work demands.
Rudman & Gustavsson (2012), Sweden, prospective longitudinal survey study (LANE)	To prospectively monitor study burnout development as well as student and occupational outcomes across all years in higher education and after graduation.	1,702 nursing students/graduates (follow-up after graduation).	Increased disengagement was associated with intention to leave the profession. Earlier development of study burnout was related to higher occupational turnover intentions.
Wang et al. (2012b), China, descriptive correlation design, questionnaire survey	To investigate job satisfaction, occupational commitment and intent to stay among RNs in mainland China.	560 RNs working in four large hospital facilities.	Younger RNs and RNs in a lower position had less intention to stay in nursing. Occupational commitment and job satisfaction were associated with intention to stay in the profession.
Lavoie-Tremblay et al. (2011), Canada, cross-sectional questionnaire survey	To study which domains of the nursing practice work environment influence the intent to leave a job among Generation Y nurses.	145 nurses (90 had attended a college-level nursing program, 50 were attending or had graduated from a university program, and one had a master's degree).	No difference was found between new nurses from Generations Y and X in terms of intentions to leave the nursing profession. Nurses' intention to leave the profession was associated with: (1) nurse participation in hospital affairs, (2) nursing foundations for quality care, (3) nurse manager ability, (4) leadership and support of nurses and (5) collegial nurse–physician relations.
Li et al. (2011), seven European countries, longitudinal cross- national exploratory survey (NEXT)	To investigate whether reward frustration at work predicted intention to leave the nursing profession.	6,469 RNs working in hospitals.	Reward frustration at work was associated with intention to leave nursing profession.
De Milt et al. (2011), United States, cross-sectional questionnaire survey	To investigate differences in nurse practitioners job satisfaction based on their intent to leave current positions and the nursing profession.	254 Nurse practitioners (NP).	Only a small number of NPs were considering leaving the profession ( $n = 14$ ), therefore no further analyses were undertaken.
Zeytinoglu et al. (2011), Canada, cross-sectional questionnaire survey	To investigate the association between flexible employment and intention to leave the profession.	1,396 nurses employed in teaching hospitals.	Perceived job insecurity and low support at work were associated with intention to leave the profession.
Rudman & Gustafsson (2011), Sweden, prospective longitudinal survey study (LANE)	To investigate early-career burnout among newly graduate nurses (NGNs).	1,155 NGNs belonging to the national sample.	Changes in nurses' burnout levels were accompanied by concurrent changes in depressive symptoms, which was associated with the intention to leave the profession.
DiMattio et al. (2010), United States, cross-sectional, comparative descriptive pilot study	To investigate how long baccalaureate nurses stay in hospital nursing and why these nurses might leave hospital nursing.		(1) A desire for a career change, (2) feelings of under appreciation, (3) lack of respect with too many responsibilities and (4) a fear of liability were all reasons that graduate nurses reported for being interested in a non-nursing graduate degree.
Derycke et al. (2010), Belgia, a prospective questionnaire-based design (NEXT)	To analyse the impact of the effort- reward imbalance model on intent to leave an organization and intent to leave the nursing profession.	specialized RNs, nursing aides)	Effort-reward imbalance was associated with intent to leave the profession among nurses.

Appendices

Appendix 2 Empirical studies (n = 44) concerning nurses' intention to leave the profession (updating Paper I)

Author(s), Year, Country, Design	Aim of the study	Sample, setting	The main results
Eley et al. (2010), Australia, a quantitative cross-sectional cohort study	To investigate RNs' and enrolled nurses' reasons for departure from a job and the profession.	259 RNs and enrolled nurses employed in the public health services and 272 students enrolled in a Bachelor of Nursing degree program.	<ul><li>For RNs, the following reasons were mentioned considering leaving nursing:</li><li>disillusionment with nursing,</li><li>retirement.</li></ul>
Estryn-Behar et al. (2010), ten European countries, longitudinal cross-national exploratory survey (NEXT)	To compare nurses who were prematurely leaving health-care employment and those who stayed in health-care employment at a European level.	23,517 nurses who stayed in their health-care organization and 1,526 nurses who left their health-care organization.	Almost all of the nurses left the profession on a voluntary basis. Intention to leave the profession was associated with actual occupational turnover.
Fitzpatrick et al. (2010), United States, cross-sectional questionnaire survey	To investigate the relationship between American Association of Critical-Care Nurses' (AACN) certification, empowerment, and intent to leave the profession.	6,589 AACN members working in critical care units.	Nurses who had no intention to leave the profession had higher empowerment scores.
HRSA (2010), United States, cross-sectional questionnaire survey	To investigate and describe the current situation of the United States' RN workforce.	33,549 RNs.	The youngest and the oldest age groups of RNs had the highest intention to leave the profession.
Jourdain & Chenevert (2010), Canada, cross-sectional questionnaire survey	To investigate the relationship between RNs' burnout and intention to leave the nursing profession.	2,175 unionized RNs working in the Canadian public health-care sector.	Emotional exhaustion and depersonalization were linked to psychosomatic complaints and professional commitment, which are in turn associated with an intention to leave the profession.
Kuokkanen et al. (2010), Finland, cross-sectional questionnaire survey	To examine the ethical problems experienced by RNs and the factors associated with these problems.	551 RNs in hospitals and out- patient care institutions.	Experiencing ethical problems was associated with a higher intention to leave the profession.
Li et al. (2010), China, longitudinal exploratory survey (Chinese NEXT study)	To investigate RNs' psychosocial work characteristics and intent to leave the profession.	3,088 RNs participated in base- line measures, 1,521 RNs were included in the prospective follow-up analysis.	High emotional demands, low meaning of work, low predictability, low commitment to the workplace, low job satisfaction and low possibilities for development were the strongest psychosocial work characteristics related to the intention to leave nursing.
Rudman et al. (2010), Sweden, observational longitudinal design, questionnaire survey, (LANE)		4,306 graduate nurses completed the baseline questionnaire. A total of 24.5% of the 2006 cohort were under 29 years old.	Younger nurses more often considered leaving the profession; 3% of graduates had actively applied for positions outside the profession among the 2006 cohort.
Simon et al. (2010), Germany, longitudinal cross-national exploratory survey (NEXT)	To investigate variables associated with: (1) the intention to leave the profession, and (2) the intention to leave the organization, and how these related variables differed between intentions.		Professional commitment, job satisfaction, burnout and age were all variables associated with intention to leave the profession. Different variables (with dissimilar strengths) were associated with intent to leave the profession and intent to leave the organization.
Van Bogaert, et al. (2010), Belgium, cross-sectional questionnaire survey	To study impacts of practice environment factors and burnout on job outcomes. To investigate nurse assessed quality of care in acute hospital nurses.	546 staff nurses working in 17 medical, 17 surgical and eight intensive care units.	Nurses' emotional exhaustion and personal accomplishment were predictors of nurses' turnover intentions.
Van der Heijden et al. (2010), eight European countries, longitudinal cross-national exploratory survey (NEXT)	To investigate the impact of social support from direct supervisor and close colleagues on RNs' intention to leave the profession.	17,524 RNs working in hospitals.	Job satisfaction and social support from the direct superior as well as close colleagues appeared to contribute negatively to the intention to leave the profession.

Appendices

Appendix 2 Empirical studies (n = 44) concerning nurses' intention to leave the profession (updating Paper I)

Author(s), Year, Country, Design	Aim of the study	Sample, setting	The main results
El-Jardali et al. (2009), Lebanon, cross-sectional questionnaire survey	To investigate the impact of job satisfaction on RNs' intention to leave a hospital, profession and the country.	1,793 RNs working in hospitals.	Younger nurses were more willing to leave the hospital and the country. Low job satisfaction was associated with nurses' intent to leave the hospital and the country.
Laine et al. (2009), 10 European countries, cross-national exploratory survey (NEXT)	To investigate job insecurity in relation to RNs' intention to leave the profession.	32,037 RNs working in hospitals, nursing homes, home care, and outpatient care institutions.	Nurses' concerns about being unable to work and the concern about the qualitative aspects of job correlated positively with intent to leave the profession in most of the 10 countries.
Van den Hejden et al. (2009), The Netherlands, longitudinal exploratory survey (NEXT)	To examine potential predictors of RNs' and nurses' intention to leave the profession.	753 RNs working in nine different hospitals, 183 nurses working nursing homes, and 251 nurses working in home care institutions.	Occupational commitment and job satisfaction were positively associated with nurses' intention to leave the profession. Work-to-home interference was negatively associated with nurses' intention to leave the profession.
Estryn-Behar et al. (2008), ten European countries, longitudinal cross-national exploratory survey (NEXT)	To compare the nurses' responses regarding violence, its predictors and its outcomes.	13,537 nurses working in hospitals, nursing homes, home care, and outpatient care institutions.	<ul><li>Factors associated with intention to leave the profession were:</li><li>violence,</li><li>being a specialist nurse, male or younger.</li></ul>
Scott et al. (2008), United States, cross-sectional survey study	To investigate the influence of personal factors, orientation, continuing education, and staffing shortage on satisfaction and intent to leave the profession.		The only factor associated with intention to leave the profession was career dissatisfaction.
Hasselhorn et al. (2008), eight European countries, longitudinal cross-national exploratory survey (NEXT)	To investigate the impact of job strain on RNs' intention to leave their profession.	11,606 RNs working in hospitals, nursing homes, home care, and outpatient care institutions.	Prospective association was found between job strain and RNs' consideration of leaving the profession.
Kankaanranta & Rissanen (2008), Finland, cross-sectional survey study	To study how different factors (e.g. demographic, wage and workplace) were associated with RNs' intentions to switch from health care to non-health care roles.		Monotonous work, excessive duties, dissatisfaction with wages and dissatisfaction with the share of income from shift work were associated with RNs' intentions to leave the health-care sector. Possibility for specialization and a good community decreased the intention to change work sector.
Widerszal-Bazyl et al. (2008), six European countries, cross- national exploratory survey (NEXT)	To test the explanatory power of the Demand-Control-Support model in relation to intent to leave nursing, with employment opportunities taken into consideration.	16,052 female nurses working in hospitals with different educational backgrounds and positions.	Younger nurses, nurses with fewer children, those with a temporary employment contract, or those with higher education had a higher intention to leave nursing. Control and social support were more strongly related to intent to leave nursing: (1) in countries with low unemployment rate and (2) among individuals with high perceived employment opportunities.
Lavoie-Tremblay et al. (2008), Canada, cross-sectional survey study	To compare young RNs' perceptions of the psychosocial work environment with two groups of RNs (intending to quit/ having quit the profession).	309 RNs. Mean age 22.6 years.	<ul> <li>Main factors associated with intention to leave the profession included:</li> <li>significant effort/reward imbalance,</li> <li>high psychological demands,</li> <li>elevated job strain.</li> </ul>
Chang et al. (2007), Taiwan, cross-sectional survey study	To investigate the reciprocal relationship between organizational and occupational turnover intention among nurses.	177 nurses working in hospitals; approximately 80% of nurses were 20–30 years old (mean age 29.88).	Affective occupational commitment was the strongest predictor to occupational turnover intention. Normative organizational commitment was indirectly reducing employee occupational turnover intention.
Enberg et al. (2007), Sweden, cross-sectional survey study	To study perceptions of new graduates towards health-care work and preferences for future careers.	840 graduate nurses (80%), occupational therapists (11%) and physiotherapists (9%); mean age 32 years (range 23–55 years).	The majority of graduate nurses (79%) who were negative or uncertain about their career choice had also considered leaving their profession.

Appendix 3 Measures concerning intention to leave the profession (updating Paper I)

Authors, Year	Questionnaire/Instrument(s)/Scales used	Measures concerning intention to leave the profession
Gurková et al. (2013)	McCloskey/Mueller Satisfaction Scale (MMSS).	Nurses were asked to rate how often they considered leaving their actual workplace, the nursing profession and working abroad. Scales ranging from 0 ('never') to 4 ('very often').
Heinen et al. (2013)	Nursing Work Index Revised (PES-NWI), Maslach Burnout Inventory (Emotional Exhaustion Scale), Perception of Quality of Care (1 item), Perception of Patient Safety (1 item).	Nurses were asked if they intended to leave their job in the next year due to job satisfaction. If response was affirmative, nurses were asked to differentiate between leaving the hospital and leaving the profession.
Lee et al. (2013)	The Chinese version of the Quality of Nursing Work Life scale (C-QNWL), a three intent to leave item scale questionnaire, and a demographic questionnaire for individual- and work-related variables.	Intent to leave profession was measured by one item: 'giving up nursing completely'. $(1 = never, 2 = yearly, 3 = monthly, 4 = weekly and 5 = every day).$
Mohamed & Mohamed (2013)	Intention to leave scale, Karasek job content scale.	Propensity to leave the profession.
Rudman & Gustavsson (2013)	Oldenburg Burnout Inventory (OLBI). Items concerning sex, age, burnout during nursing, education, occupational preparedness during nursing education and burnout during employment.	"1. I think a lot about leaving the profession, 2. I am actively looking for another job outside the nursin profession, and 3. I will leave the nursing profession as soon as possible." (1 = Strongly disagree, 5 = Strongly agree).
Unruh & Zhang (2013)	Survey questionnaire developed for the study.	Are thinking about leaving the nursing profession, intend to look for a new profession, intend to stay in nursing for a long time, plan to have a job that requires an RN license next year.
Clendon & Walker (2012)	Survey questionnaire was not described.	Consideration of leaving the nursing profession.
Derycke et al. (2012)	Questionnaires developed by the NEXT (Nurses Early Exit) -Study team.	Three items concerning intent to leave the current ward for another in the same organization, intent to leave the current organization and intent to leave the nursing profession to start a different kind of job.
Cortese et al. (2012)	44 items of Work Satisfaction Index, intent to leave measured with three different questions.	"Do you intent to give up nursing profession?"
Laschinger (2012)	Areas of Worklife Scale (AWS), Conditions for Work Effectiveness Questionnaire (CWEQ-II), Authentic Leadership Questionnaire (ALQ), Core Self-Evaluation (CSE).	4 items measuring career turnover intent.
Salminen (2012)	Organisational commitment scale, Work Ability Index, Development opportunities scale, The job control scale, job satisfaction question.	"How often have you thought about giving up nursing completely? (never, sometimes a year, sometime a month, sometimes a week, every day)."
Hinno et al. (2012)	Nursing Work Index-Revised.	How often nurses have considered leaving their unit, organization or profession during the last 12 months (never considered at all, or considered monthly, weekly, daily or more often).
Rudman & Gustavsson (2012)	Oldenburg Burnout Inventory, Major Depression Inventory, Satisfaction with Life Scale, Questionnaire for Psychological and Social factors at work.	Occupational turnover intention scale ( $1 = $ fully agree to $5 = $ fully disagree').
Wang et al. (2012b)	Chinese Nurses Job Satisfaction Scale developed for this study (subscales: satisfaction with extrinsic rewards, scheduling, family/work balance, co-workers, interaction, praise/recognition and control/responsibility), Chinese version of the Occupational Commitment Scale, adapted Intent to Quit and Job Search Scales.	"I will consider leaving nursing profession in the future."
Milt et al. (2011)	The Misener NP Job Satisfaction Scale (MNPJSS), The Anticipated Turnover Scale (ATS).	Intent to leave nursing profession: in the next 1–11 months, in the next year, after 1 year but within 2 years, in 3–5 years.
Lavoie-Tremblay et al. (2011)	31-item practice environment scale of the nursing work index (PES-NWI).	Individual's intention to leave his or her employment or profession. Dichotomous items (yes/no).
Li et al. (2011)	Questionnaires developed by the NEXT (Nurses Early Exit) Study team. The effort-reward imbalance (ERI) questionnaire.	"How often during the course of the past year have you thought about leaving nursing?": (never, some times a year, some times a month, some times a week, every day).
Rudman & Gustafsson (2011)	Burnout inventory, questions concerning demographics and individual factors, lifestyle, health and stress, educational outcome.	Intention to quit: "I often think about leaving the profession or health care" (yes vs. no).
Zeytinoglu et al. (2011)	Items measuring support at work, subjective flexible employment, work and individual characteristics.	"I am seriously considering leaving the nursing profession in the near future."

## Appendix 3 Measures concerning intention to leave the profession (updating Paper I)

Authors, Year	Questionnaire/Instrument(s)/Scales used	Measures concerning intention to leave the profession
Derycke et al. (2010)	Effort-reward imbalance (ERI) measured by a 23-item questionnaire.	ITL profession was measured by three items: 'How often do you think about': (1) further qualification outside nursing; (2) giving up nursing; (3) giving up nursing and starting a different kind of job.
Estryn-Behar et al. (2010)	Questionnaires developed by the NEXT (Nurses Early Exit) Study team.	"How often during the course of the past year have you thought about leaving nursing?" (never, some times a year, some times a month, some times a week, every day).
DiMattio et al. (2010)	A survey of demographics and practice patterns was designed for this study. Practice Environment Scale of the Nursing Work Index (PES-NWI).	Nurses were asked if they intended to leave the hospital within the next 3–5 years, and reasons for their intentions to leave. Nurses were also asked their reasons for pursuing graduate education in either nursing or another discipline.
Jourdain & Chenevert (2010)	Survey questionnaire developed for this study. Examples of scales: quantitative overload scale, work interference with family scale and hostility from physicians and patients scale.	Three items concerning intention to leave the profession developed by Meyer et al. (1993) and adapted for an agreement–disagreement scale.
HRSA (2010)	National Sample Survey of Registered Nurses (NSSRN), 72 items concerning demographics, education, employment and intentions regarding nursing work.	"Do you plan to leave or have you left the principal nursing position you held on March 10, 2008?" If 'yes': Do you plan to work in nursing after you leave that position?
Li et al. (2010)	The Copenhagen Psychosocial Questionnaire (COPSOQ), a psychosocial work environment measure.	"How often during the course of the past year have you thought about leaving nursing?" (Never, some times/year, some times/month, some times/week, every day).
Eley et al. (2010)	Survey questionnaire developed for this study. Items including; age, sex, nurse designation, main job, length of time as a nurse and anticipated time in nursing.	Nurses were asked to identify up to three of nine offered factors that would influence them to leave nursing.
Fitzpatrick et al. (2010)	The Conditions of Work Effectiveness Questionnaire revised.	Two questions concerning intent to leave their current position and intent to leave the nursing profession. If nurses answered yes to either of the intent-to-leave questions, they were asked to indicate the time frame for their intent to leave.
Kuokkanen et al. (2010)	Questionnaire developed for this study: demographics and items concerning ethical problems in nursing work.	Willingness to remain in the nursing profession (yes/no).
Li et al. (2010)	Short version of the Copenhagen Psychosocial Questionnaire (COPSOQ). A psychosocial work environment index developed for this study.	"How often during the course of the past year have you thought about leaving nursing?" (Never, some times/year, some times/month, some times/week, every day).
Rudman & Gustavsson (2010)	Major Depression Inventory, Oldenburg Burnout Inventory, Life Satisfaction scale, Nordic Questionnaire of Psychosocial factors at work, items of the National Survey of Student Engagement.	Reasons (and/or intentions) for leaving a position or the profession.
Simon et al. (2010)	Questionnaires developed by the NEXT (Nurses Early Exit) Study team.	"How often during the course of the past year have you thought about giving up nursing completely?" (Never, some times/year, some times/month, some times/week, every day).
Van Bogaert al. (2010)	The Revised Nursing Work Index, Maslach Burnout Inventory.	Intention to stay in nursing.
van der Heijden et al. (2010)	Questionnaire developed by the NEXT (Nurses Early Exit) Study team.	"How often are you thinking of leaving the nursing profession?" (Never, some times/year, some times/ month, some times/week, every day).
Laine et al. (2009)	Questionnaires developed by the NEXT (Nurses Early Exit) Study team.	"How often during the course of the past year have you thought about giving up nursing completely?" (Never, some times/year, some times/month, some times/week, every day).
El-Jardali et al. (2009)	McCloskey Mueller Satisfaction Scale, items concerning demographic characteristics and intent to leave.	Plans to leave the job within the next 1 to 3 years and potential plans after leaving.
van der Heijden et al. (2019)	Questionnaires developed by the NEXT (Nurses Early Exit) Study team.	"How often during the course of the past year have you thought about giving up nursing completely?" (Never, some times/year, some times/month, some times/week, every day).
Estryn-Behar et al. (2008)	Questionnaires developed by the NEXT (Nurses Early Exit) Study team.	"How often do you think of leaving the nursing profession?" (Never, some times/ year, some times/month, some times/week and every day).
Lavoie-Tremblay et al. (2008)	The Job Content scale, the Job Strain scale, the decision latitude scale, the psychological demands scale, social support from superiors scale.	Intent to quit the nursing profession/No intent to quit the nursing profession.
Hasselhorn et al. (2008)	Questionnaires developed by the NEXT (Nurses Early Exit) Study team.	"How often during the course of the past year have you thought about leaving nursing?" (Never, some times/year, some times/month, some times/week, every day).

## Appendix 3 Measures concerning intention to leave the profession (updating Paper I)

Authors, Year	Questionnaire/Instrument(s)/Scales used	Measures concerning intention to leave the profession
Kankaanranta & Rissanen 2008	Questionnaire developed for the study; items measuring sociodemographic variables and variables in relation to, work, satisfaction, dissatisfaction and intent to leave.	Nurse's likely working organization in the year 2010. Response categories: $0 =$ in the health-care sector, $1 =$ outside the health-care sector.
Scott et al. (2008)	Survey instrument developed for this study; items concerning job satisfaction, career satisfaction and intent to leave current position/profession.	Intent to leave nursing ( $\geq$ 3 or < 3 years).
Widerszal-Bazyl et al. (2008)	Questionnaires developed by the NEXT (Nurses Early Exit) Study team.	"How often during the course of the past year have you thought about?" (1) "a further qualification outside nursing?" (2) "giving up nursing?" (3) "giving up nursing and starting a different kind of job?"
Chang et al. (2007)	Organizational commitment scale, Occupational commitment scale (both Meyer's), items concerning organizational and occupational turnover intention.	"I frequently thought about getting out of nursing" ( $1 = $ strongly disagree to $7 = $ strongly agree).
Enberg et al. (2007)	Questionnaire developed for this study (measuring working conditions, satisfaction and career preferences).	Nurses were asked about their preferred working area in 5 years' time.